Decision 15-01-051 January 29, 2015

#### BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Application of San Diego Gas & Electric	
Company (U902E) for Authority to	
Implement Optional Pilot Program to	A
Increase Customer Access to Solar	(F
Generated Electricity.	
·	

Application 12-01-008 (Filed January 17, 2012)

And Related Matters.

Application 12-04-020 Application 14-01-007

(See Attachment D for Service List)

DECISION APPROVING GREEN TARIFF SHARED RENEWABLES
PROGRAM FOR SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY, PACIFIC GAS
AND ELECTRIC COMPANY, AND SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON
COMPANY PURSUANT TO SENATE BILL 43

146250314 - 1 -

#### **Table of Contents**

Titl	е		Page
DE	FOR SAN ELECTRIC	PROVING GREEN TARIFF SHARED RENEWABLES PROC DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY, PACIFIC GAS ANI C COMPANY, AND SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON	)
C		IY PURSUANT TO SENATE BILL 43	
1.		re Bill 43 and Green Tariff Shared Renewables Program	
		ce Letters to Implement GTSR Program	
		sing Proceeding	
2.		il Background	
۷.		eeding History	
		SDG&E (Application (A.) 12-01-008)	
		PG&E (A.12-04-020)	
		Consolidated Proceeding (A.12-01-008 and A.12-04-020)	
		SB 43; SCE (A.14-01-007)	
		Phase I: SDG&E and PG&E Green Tariffs	
	2.1.6.	Phase II: SCE (A.14-01-007)	15
		Phase III: ECR	
	2.1.8.	D.14-11-042	17
	2.2. IOU I	Proposals	18
3.	Issues Bef	ore the Commission	19
4.		ent of Renewable Resources	
		view	
		of Commission-Approved Tools and Mechanisms to Procure	
		wables for the Program	
	4.2.1.	Procurement Through RAM	
	4.2.2.	O	
		Other Procurement Tools and Mechanisms	
	4.2.4.		
		oing Procurement Targets and Milestones	
		Utility Proposals	
	4.3.2.	$\mathcal{S}$	
	4.3.3.		
		ty Eligibility Requirements	34 34
	44		

#### **Table of Contents (cont.)**

Tit	le	Page
	4.4.2. Size	36
	4.4.3. Price	37
	4.4.4. Viability; Type of Renewable Generation	38
	4.5. Interim GTSR Resource Pool	
	4.6. GTSR Excess Procurement: RPS Backstop	43
	4.7. REC Retirement	
	4.8. Voluntary Renewable Electricity Holding Account	51
	4.9. Environmental Justice (EJ) Reservation	
	4.9.1. Screening Methodology	52
	4.9.2. Allocation of 100 MW EJ Reservation Among Utilities	54
	4.9.3. Size of EJ Projects	
	4.9.4. Procurement of EJ Resources	55
	4.10. Procurement of ECR Capacity	56
	4.10.1. ECR Overview	
	4.10.2. Basic ECR Transaction Structure	61
	4.10.2.1. Power Purchase Agreement	61
	4.10.2.2. Customer Developer Agreement (CDA)	
	4.10.2.3. ECR Tariff	65
	4.10.2.4. Qualifications for ECR	
	4.10.2.5. ECR Program Design	
	4.10.2.6. Securities Opinion	
	4.10.3. Other ECR Transaction Structures	
	4.10.4. ECR Implementation Advice Letters	
	4.11. City of Davis Reservation	
5.	Program Design	
	5.1. Program Size	
	5.2. Program Duration	
	5.3. Community Advisors	
	5.4. Green-e Energy Certification	
	5.5. Customer Participation Limits and Consumption Levels	
	5.6. Customer Subscription Terms	
	5.7. Affordability of Participation	
6.	Rate Design; Cost Recovery	
	6.1. Overview	95

#### Table of Contents (cont.)

Titl	9		Page
	6.2.	Charges	96
		6.2.1. Renewable Power Rate (RPR)	97
		6.2.1.1. Green Tariff RPR	98
		6.2.1.2. ECR RPR	100
		6.2.2. GTSR Indifference Amount	100
		6.2.3. Grid Charges; Western Renewable Energy Generation	
		Information System (WREGIS)	104
		6.2.4. Resource Adequacy (RA) Charge	105
		6.2.5. Program Administrative and Marketing Charges	108
		6.2.6. Renewables Integration Cost (RIC) Charge; Other Charges	115
	6.3.	Credits	
		6.3.1. Generation Credit	
		6.3.2. Solar Value Adjustment (SVA)	121
		6.3.3. Additional Credits	
	6.4.	IREC Rate Design Proposals	127
		Cost Recovery	
		California Alternate Rates for Energy (CARE)	
7.		keting	
		Marketing Requirement	
		Marketing Proposals	
		ECR Marketing	
8.		orting and Information Sharing	
		Annual Renewable Procurement Standard Procurement Plan	
		Program Forum	143
9.		npetitive Neutrality and Consistency with Legal Protections for	
		npetitive Market	
		Policy to Ensure Fair Competition in Retail Energy Markets	
		Direct Access	
		Affiliate Transaction Rules	
	9.4.	Adherence to the Provisions of the CCA of Code of Conduct	
		9.4.1. Concerns About Marketing in CCA Territories	
		9.4.2. Concerns About Use of Existing Utility Resources	
10.		ty Considerations	
11.	Cate	egorization and Need for Hearing	157

#### **Table of Contents (cont.)**

Title	Page
12. Comments on Proposed Decision	157
13. Assignment of Proceeding	160
Findings of Fact	160
Conclusions of Law	173
ORDER	179
Attachment A – Text of Senate Bill 43 as chaptered	
Attachment B - Advice Letter Summary	
Attachment C – Acronym List	
Attachment D - Service List	

# DECISION APPROVING GREEN TARIFF SHARED RENEWABLES PROGRAM FOR SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY, PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY, AND SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY PURSUANT TO SENATE BILL 43

#### **Summary**

This decision begins the implementation of Senate Bill (SB) 43 (Stats. 2013, ch. 413 (Wolk)). SB 43 set a formal requirement for the three large electrical utilities to implement the Green Tariff Shared Renewables (GTSR) Program. As envisioned by statute, the GTSR Program can include both a Green Tariff Option (Green Tariff) component and an enhanced community renewables (ECR) component.

This decision finds that: (1) indifference between participating and non-participating ratepayers can be achieved through careful rate design and procurement processes; (2) the proposed GTSR Program, as modified by this decision, satisfy the requirements of SB 43, comply with Commission decisions and other laws, and are not anticompetitive; (3) the existing procurement mechanisms for the Renewable Portfolio Standard should be used for GTSR Program procurement; and (4) in order to ensure additional renewable facilities are built, it is necessary to set minimum advance procurement goals for 2015.

This proceeding was divided into three phases: This decision addresses all three phases, and establishes a new Phase IV. This decision sets forth the steps for Pacific Gas and Electric Company, Southern California Edison Company, and San Diego Gas and Electric Company to implement the Green Tariff and ECR components, including procuring resources that qualify for the reservations set forth in Section 2833(d). Phase IV will examine if additional actions are necessary to optimize participation in the GTSR Program. This may include:

(a) consideration of sub-500 kilowatt projects, (b) additional support for ECR

projects, (c) offering a locked-in renewable procurement rate for customers with long-term contracts, (d) additional support for GTSR facilities located in areas identified by the California Environmental Protection Agency (CalEPA) as the most impacted and disadvantaged pursuant to Section 2833(d)(1), (e) procurement of renewable resources other than solar and (f) increased participation by low-income and minority customers and communities.

#### 1. Decision Overview

## 1.1. Senate Bill 43 and Green Tariff Shared Renewables Program

Senate Bill (SB) 43 enacted the Green Tariff Shared Renewables (GTSR) Program.<sup>1</sup> The GTSR Program is intended to (1) expand access "to all eligible renewable energy resources to all ratepayers who are currently unable to access the benefits of onsite generation,"<sup>2</sup> and (2) "create a mechanism whereby institutional customers...commercial customers and groups of individuals . . . can meet their needs with electrical generation from eligible renewable energy resources."<sup>3</sup>

The statute further provides that the GTSR Program should "provide support for enhanced community renewables programs to facilitate development of eligible renewable resource projects located close to the source of demand."<sup>4</sup>

This decision finds that, based on these provisions, the GTSR Program consist of a green tariff option (Green Tariff) (allowing customers to purchase

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The text of SB 43, as chaptered, is included in this decision as Attachment A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> California Public Utilities Code Section 2831(b). (All further references to "Code Section" or

<sup>&</sup>quot;Code §" are to the California Public Utilities Code unless otherwise specified.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Code Section 2831(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Code Section 2833(o).

energy with a greater share of renewables) and an enhanced community renewables option (ECR) (allowing customers to purchase renewable energy from community-based projects). Both GTSR Program components are to be "administered" by the utility.<sup>5</sup>

The statute requires the utilities to permit customers to subscribe to the GTSR Program until there is state-wide 600 megawatts (MW) of customer participation. Customer participation is "measured by nameplate rated generating capacity." In accordance with statute, in this decision "customer participation" is measured in nameplate capacity of facilities either used to supply, or built to supply, GTSR customers.

Each utility shall be responsible for its proportionate share "calculated based on the ratio of each participating utility's retail sales to total retail sales of electricity by all participating utilities." The statute does not set any requirements or restrictions on how customer participation is to be divided between Green Tariff and ECR components.

The statute does make some specific reservations for locations and customers groups, but again, it does not place any requirements or restrictions on whether the reserved amounts are procured for the Green Tariff or the ECR component of GTSR.

The specific reservations in the statute are:

• 100 MW is set aside for facilities of no larger than 1 MW located in areas previously identified by the California Environmental

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Code Section 2833(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Code Section 2833(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id*.

Protection Agency (CalEPA) as the most impacted and disadvantaged communities (Environmental Justice or EJ Reservation).<sup>8</sup>

- 100 MW is reserved for participation by residential customers.9
- 20 MW is reserved for City of Davis.<sup>10</sup> SB 43 does not specify whether the reserved capacity should be measured by the location of the facilities or the location of customer participants (City of Davis Reservation).

Although the statute does not expressly require residential and EJ project allocations to be apportioned between the Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E), Southern California Edison Company (SCE), and San Diego Gas and Electric Company (SDG&E) (the three investor-owned utilities or IOUs), we find that the fair, just and most efficient approach is to allocate the required amounts of residential participation and EJ facilities using the same retail sales proportion. As of the date of this decision, the figures for the EJ Reservation are 45 MW for PG&E, 45 MW for SCE, and 10 MW for SDG&E. The statute's requirement for a minimum percentage of residential customers can be met by any of the categories (EJ Reservation, City of Davis Reservation, ECR or Green Tariff).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Code Section 2833(d)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Code Section 2833(d)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Code Section 2833(d)(3).

Table:	Allocation	of Capaci	ity, in MW
--------	------------	-----------	------------

	Percentage of Total IOU Bundled Sales	TOTAL (MW)	EJ (MW)	Davis (MW)	Unreserved (MW)
PG&E	45.25%	272	45	20	207
SD&E	9.87%	59	10	N/A	49
SCE	44.88%	269	45	N/A	224
TOTAL	100.%	600	100	20	480

Enrollment and associated procurement can begin once the Commission approves this decision and the utilities' corresponding Advice Letters.

#### 1.2. Advice Letters to Implement GTSR Program

Within 100 days of the issuance of this decision, each utility shall file the following Tier 3 Advice Letters:<sup>11</sup>

- (1) Joint Procurement Implementation Advice Letter (JPIAL) setting forth the details of the IOU's plan to procure GTSR projects to meet the advance procurement requirement.
- (2) Customer Side Implementation Advice Letter (CSIAL) addressing the details of its GTSR Program, including both Green Tariff and ECR components. This advice letter will include the pool of Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) generation that will be used to supply initial subscribers. Prior to submission, each IOU should consult with its advisory group or advising network of community groups and stakeholders.
- (3) Marketing Implementation Advice Letter (MIAL) addressing the details of the marketing plan that the IOU intends to use to market Green Tariff and ECR products. The marketing plan should include estimated budget, interim plan for outreach to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In order to maximize efficiency and prevent a discrete issue from delaying approval of all aspects of implementation, the IOUs are specifically directed to file these as separate ALs. Each Advice Letter is described here in brief and in more detail in Attachment B. The Advice Letters should be filed concurrently to allow coordinated, but separate approval.

low-income communities,<sup>12</sup> and compliance with the Community Choice Aggregation (CCA) Code of Conduct.<sup>13</sup>

The IOUs must also file Tier 1 Advice Letters within 21 days of this decision to begin advanced procurement under the Renewable Auction Mechanism (RAM) 6 and the feed-in-tariff Renewable Market Adjusting Tariff (ReMAT).

In addition, IOUs have the option of filing a Tier 2 Advice Letter addressing any changes to the RAM 6 offering necessary to reflect GTSR.

#### 1.3. Ongoing Proceeding

This proceeding remains open both to consider issues in Phase IV and to ensure that resolution of the implementation advice letters is not unnecessarily delayed.

This decision orders a Phase IV to examine specific issues, primarily around ECR and EJ procurement. A prehearing conference to further define the scope of Phase IV is set for February 23, 2015 at 1 pm at the Commission's offices in San Francisco, California. Parties may submit Phase IV prehearing conference statements addressing proposed scope and schedule, including recommended workshop schedule, no later than February 16, 2015.

The IOUs are directed to consult with advisory group (PG&E) or advisory networks (SDG&E, SCE) and other stakeholders to obtain input on the implementation of advice letters. In comments on the proposed decision, many

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The Marketing Implementation Advice Letter will include an interim plan for low-income and minority community outreach. A more detailed low-income and minority community outreach program will be developed in Phase IV of this proceeding.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Decision (D.) 12-12-036.

parties expressed concern that obtaining this input in such a short time-frame would be difficult, resulting either in delays in submission of the advice letters, or in insufficient input from stakeholders. To remedy this problem, we direct the IOUs and stakeholders to work together and with Energy Division staff, to put together a series of workshops and/or program forums (via WebEx) to provide an informal, but organized platform for input and discussion. The IOUs are directed to ensure that brief post-workshop summaries are available and to discuss their response to stakeholder input in the applicable advice letter.

Intervenor participation in these advice letter workshops is eligible for intervenor compensation provided it complies with statutory requirements. To be awarded compensation, the intervenor must demonstrate compliance with Code Sections 1801-1812. The claim must also comply with the applicable Rules of Practice and Procedure and Commission decisions implementing the intervenor compensation program.

Parties are invited to serve and file comments setting forth what topics should be covered to ensure that the IOUs receive adequate input on their implementation of advice letters, and what the schedule and format (in-person workshop or WebEx, Energy Division-moderated, or IOU-moderated) should be. These comments are due no later than February 16, 2014.

#### 2. Procedural Background

This consolidated proceeding consists of separate applications for the GTSR Program from SDG&E, PG&E and SCE. SDG&E and PG&E filed their applications in 2012. In September 2013, SB 43 was signed into law and required SCE to file its own shared renewables application. SB 43 set a deadline of July 1, 2014 for consideration of the utilities' proposed GTSR Program. This decision has been delayed for several reasons. Most importantly, in keeping with the

intent of SB 43, the additional months spent to complete this decision allowed the Commission to issue a fully-formed program that can be implemented quickly. As originally proposed, the GTSR Program were difficult to evaluate because the IOUs' applications and related testimony failed to address many important details of the proposed programs. At the same time, the GTSR procurement process is highly dependent on changes expected in Rulemaking (R.) 11-05-005 (Rulemaking to Continue Implementation and Administration of California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program). By mailing this decision after issuance of D.14-11-042 the Commission resolves much of the uncertainty around what procurement mechanisms would be available for the GTSR Program.

In order to expedite the consolidated proceeding to meet the deadline, the procedural calendar was revised to address three separate phases: (1) Phase I (consisting of Green Tariff options for SDG&E and PG&E); (2) Phase II (consisting of Green Tariff option for SCE); and (3) Phase III (consisting of ECR proposals of all three utilities). Although each of these phases had a different evidentiary hearing and briefing schedule, this decision addresses all three phases. For ease of review, the procedural background section largely follows the three separate phases.

#### 2.1. Proceeding History

#### 2.1.1. SDG&E (Application (A.) 12-01-008)

On January 17, 2012, SDG&E filed A.12-01-008, its *Application to Implement an Optional Pilot Program to Increase Customer Access to Solar Generated Electricity*. On February 1, 2012, Resolution ALJ-176-3288 preliminarily determined that the proceeding is a ratesetting matter and that hearings are necessary.

In February 2012, protests were filed by The Utility Reform Network (TURN), Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA), the Alliance for Retail Energy

Markets (AReM), and a joint protest was filed by the Interstate Renewable Energy Council (IREC), the Vote Solar,<sup>14</sup> and the Solar Energy Industries Association (SEIA).

On October 15, 2012, a prehearing conference (PHC) was held to establish the service list, discuss the scope, and develop a procedural timetable for the proceeding. On November 1, 2012, the assigned Commissioner and Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) issued a joint scoping memorandum (First Scoping Memo) which identified the issues in the application and established a schedule for the proceeding, including five days of workshops in January and February of 2013. On March 8, 2013, SDG&E filed a joint workshop report as required by the First Scoping Memo.

Parties filed opening and reply briefs on SDG&E's original application in April 2013. On May 10, 2013, SDG&E served updated testimony reflecting the facts relied upon in its April 2013 opening and reply briefings. On June 13, 2013, the ALJ extended the time for intervenors and ORA to file responsive testimony in order to accommodate settlement discussions.

On May 9, 2013, Marin Clean Energy (MCE)<sup>15</sup> filed a Motion to Consolidate A.12-01-008 and A.12-04-020. ORA, SDG&E and Shell Energy North America (US), L.P. (Shell) filed Responses to the Motion to consolidate on June 5, 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> As of January 1, 2015, The Vote Solar Initiative changed its name and is now operating as "Vote Solar," a California non-profit, public benefit corporation with Internal Revenue Code section 501(c)(3) status. (January 20, 2015 Comments of Vote Solar, CalSEIA, SEIA, and IREC.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Formerly Marin Energy Authority.

During summer 2013, the legislature was considering SB 43, and consequently, on June 20, 2013, the ALJ issued a ruling holding further testimony in A.12-01-008.

#### 2.1.2. PG&E (A.12-04-020)

On April 24, 2012, PG&E filed A.12-04-020, its *Application to Establish a Green Option Tariff*. On May 10, 2012, Resolution ALJ 176-3293 preliminarily determined that this proceeding is a ratesetting matter and that hearings are needed.

In May 2012, protests were filed by TURN, AREM, the Coalition of California Utility Employees (CCUE), a joint protest was filed by the California Clean Energy Committee (CCEC) and the Sierra Club California (Sierra Club), and a joint protest was filed by the Black Economic Council, National Asian American Coalition, and Latino Business Chamber of Greater Los Angeles (the Joint Parties). SEIA filed a Motion for Party Status. Responses were filed by the City and County of San Francisco (CCSF), and the MCE.

On June 4, 2012, PG&E filed a Reply to the protests and responses.

On June 27, 2012, a PHC took place in San Francisco to establish the service list, discuss the scope, and develop a procedural timetable for the proceeding. SEIA's Motion for Party Status was granted. A workshop was held on August 2, 2012 to clarify the application, understand the issues, and begin the process of developing a common outline of the issues.

On September 26, 2012, the assigned Commissioner issued a Scoping Memorandum affirming the preliminary categorization of the matter as ratesetting and adopting a schedule that provided dates for evidentiary hearings, if needed.

On January 10, 2013, the assigned ALJ issued a Ruling Granting Request for Extension of Time to Pursue Settlement Negotiations, and on January 22, 2013, issued a Ruling Granting Further Extension of Time to Pursue Settlement Negotiations.

On April 11, 2013, a proposed settlement (PG&E Partial Settlement) was filed by PG&E, TURN, CCUE, and the Joint Parties (collectively, Settling Parties). On April 17, 2013, a Joint Motion for Approval of Stipulation was filed by four parties: AReM, Direct Access Customer Coalition, 3 Phases Renewables and Shell.

The PG&E Partial Settlement provided that: (1) PG&E would offer a bundled, incremental renewable product to customers who voluntarily choose to procure additional renewable energy as part of their bundled electricity service; (2) participating customers would receive rate credits for avoided generation costs and pay charges to fully cover the cost of procuring green option resources to serve their needs; (3) PG&E would rely on existing or new renewable procurement tools and mechanisms approved by the Commission; (4) PG&E would establish an advisory group; (5) PG&E would actively market the program to low-income and minority communities and customers; (6) PG&E would track revenues and costs under balancing account ratemaking standards; (7) PG&E could incorporate energy supplies from projects located within a reasonable proximity to customer enrollees; and (8) if over procurement occurred, the additional resources may be applied to RPS obligations or banked for future use. The parties to the PG&E Partial Settlement agreed that the GTSR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> PG&E Settlement Agreement at 6-16.

Program, as described in the settlement, would ensure ratepayer indifference for non-participating customers, and avoids double-counting for purposes of RPS or Assembly Bill (AB) 32 compliance.

In May 2013 opening and reply comments were filed on the motion to adopt the PG&E Partial Settlement. For purposes of this decision, we are treating the PG&E Partial Settlement as the proposed PG&E GTSR Program for evaluation. We are not treating it as a settlement subject to the standard Commission settlement approval requirements.

## 2.1.3. Consolidated Proceeding (A.12-01-008 and A.12-04-020)

On May 9, 2013, MCE filed a Motion to Consolidate A.12-01-008 and A.12-04-020. In A.12-01-008, ORA, SDG&E and Shell filed Responses to the Motion to consolidate. In A.12-04-020, Shell, CCSF, ORA, PG&E, TURN, CCUE, the Joint Parties, CCEC, and Sierra Club filed responses to the motion to consolidate.

On July 31, 2013, the Motion to Consolidate A.12-01-008 and A.12-04-020 was granted based upon a determination that both matters involve related questions of policy, law and facts. All parties in A.12-01-008 and A.12-04-020 were made parties in the consolidated proceeding. Michael R. Peevey was designated as the assigned Commissioner and Richard W. Clark was designated as the assigned ALJ and Presiding Officer for the consolidated proceeding.

#### 2.1.4. SB 43; SCE (A.14-01-007)

During summer 2013, around the same time that the SDG&E and PG&E applications were consolidated, SB 43 was pending in the California legislature. On September 16, 2013, SB 43 was passed by the legislature.

On September 23 and 24, 2013, a Joint Case Management Statement and an Amended Joint Case Management Statement were filed by SDG&E and PG&E.

On September 25, 2013, a PHC was held to discuss the scope and develop a procedural timetable for this consolidated proceeding. During the PHC, SCE was made an active party in the consolidated proceeding.

On September 28, 2013, SB 43 was signed by the Governor.

On October 25, 2013, a Scoping Memo (Second Scoping Memo) was issued revising the scope of the proceeding to ensure that proposals conformed to the provisions of SB 43 and adopting a slightly modified version of the approach and schedule delineated by the Presiding Officer at the September 25, 2013 PHC.

The applications of SDG&E and PG&E continued on one track, with the same schedule for testimony, evidentiary hearing, and briefing. In the meantime, SCE was directed to file its own application in accordance with SB 43.

SB 43 set a deadline of July 1, 2014 for the Commission to issue a decision on the IOUs' applications.

#### 2.1.5. Phase I: SDG&E and PG&E Green Tariffs

On November 15, 2013, SDG&E and PG&E filed opening comments detailing similarities and differences between the Green Tariff proposals of SDG&E and PG&E and how each of their respective GTSR Program proposals comply with the provisions of SB 43.

On December 6, 2013, SDG&E and PG&E served Revised Testimony that reflected modifications necessary to update and conform their testimony to the provisions of SB 43.

On December 20, 2013, Reply Comments on SDG&E's and PG&E's Revised Testimony were filed by 14 parties: CCUE, Clean Coalition, California Farm Bureau (Farm Bureau), California Environmental Justice Alliance (CEJA), Vote

Solar, SEIA, IREC, ORA, Joint Parties, TURN, CCSF, The Sustainable Economies Law Center (SELC), Shell, and MCE.

On January 3, 2014, SDG&E filed Second Reply Comments in response to the December 20, 2013 Comments of these 14 parties.

Intervenor Testimony and Rebuttal Testimony on PG&E and SDG&E applications were filed in January 2014. Evidentiary hearings on PG&E and SDG&E proposals took place at the end of January and beginning of February 2014. During hearings, it was noted that PG&E's application did not specifically address ECR.<sup>17</sup>

On May 2, 2014, SDG&E, IREC, CCUE, TURN, Vote Solar, SEIA and Recurrent Energy filed a Motion to Lodge Late-Filed Exhibit. The proposed exhibit consisted of joint recommendations for SDG&E's Green Tariff (SunRate) and ECR (Share the Sun) components supported by all or a majority of the movants. On May 8, 2014, the then-assigned ALJ denied the motion. No party had the opportunity to comment on the proposed exhibit or to cross-examine the sponsors.

#### 2.1.6. Phase II: SCE (A.14-01-007)

On January 10, 2014, SCE filed A.14-01-007, its *Application for Approval of Optional Green Rate*. The application focused on the Green Tariff component of GTSR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>On January 29, 2014 the ALJ noted at the evidentiary hearing, that PG&E had failed to submit a proposal for complying with Section 2833(o) of SB 43 regarding an ECR component of their GTSR Program, and ordered PG&E to develop an ECR proposal and file and serve it upon the Commission and the parties by February 21, 2014. Briefing and evidentiary hearings on PG&E's ECR were separated from the main proceeding.

In January 2014, several parties filed separate motions to consolidate A.14-01-007 with the SDG&E and PG&E proceedings.

On February 5, 2014, Resolution ALJ 176-3330 preliminarily determined that SCE's application is a ratesetting matter and that hearings are needed. Protests were filed in February individually by IREC, Shell, and ORA, and jointly by CCUE and TURN, and by Sierra Club and CCEC. SCE filed a reply on March 3, 2014 and a PHC was held on March 10, 2014.

On April 2, 2014, the assigned Commissioner and the assigned ALJ issued a Scoping Memorandum for Phase II (Third Scoping Memo) consolidating the three applications and establishing the SCE application as the subject of Phase II of the consolidated proceeding.

On April 11, 2014, SCE served revised testimony on its Green Tariff and ECR proposals.

Review of the SCE application was expedited. Testimony was served in March and April 2014. By ruling on April 2, 2014, A.14-01-007 was consolidated with the PG&E and SDG&E proceedings. Evidentiary hearings were held on April 22-24, 2014 addressing SCE's Green Tariff and ECR proposals. Opening briefs on SCE's Green Tariff and ECR proposals were filed May 2 and reply briefs were filed May 9, 2014.

#### 2.1.7. Phase III: ECR

During Phase I hearings in January and February 2014, it was noted that PG&E's application did not specifically address ECR. As noted above, ALJ Clark directed PG&E to file a proposal for ECR support. Because PG&E's ECR proposal was filed after the Phase I hearings, a separate briefing and hearing track was scheduled.

PG&E served its ECR proposal on February 21, 2014. On March 7, 2014 parties filed comments and Sierra Club and CCEC filed a motion for evidentiary hearings. Reply comments were filed on March 10, 2014.

Evidentiary hearings were held on April 22 and 29, 2014. To facilitate evidentiary hearings, PG&E's ECR proposal and the comments by parties were treated as testimony and parties were permitted to designate witnesses to sponsor this testimony.

Opening briefs were filed on May 5 and reply briefs on May 9, 2014. On May 16, 2014, City of Davis and PG&E filed reply briefs on the limited issue of the City of Davis Reservation.

In May, by Assigned Commissioner's Ruling, Phase III was established to address all three ECR proposals.

#### 2.1.8. D.14-11-042

The Commission has had a series of proceedings to implement California's legislatively-mandated RPS. The RPS program was established by SB 1078, effective January 1, 2003.<sup>18</sup> Legislation for the RPS program set goals for procurement of renewable energy resources, including that 33% of electricity sold to retail customers would come from renewable energy resources by 2020.<sup>19</sup> Most recently, the Commission has implemented the RPS program through R.11-05-005 (*Order Instituting Rulemaking to Continue Implementation and Administration of California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program*). The IOUs and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Sher, Stats. 2002 ch. 516.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> SB 107 (Simitian. Stats. 2006, ch. 464.)

other electric service providers are required to file an annual RPS Procurement Plan, the most recent of which was reviewed in R.11-05-005.<sup>20</sup>

On November 24, 2014, the Commission issued D.14-11-042 (*Decision Conditionally Accepting 2014 Renewables Portfolio Standard Procurement Plans and an Off-Year Supplement to 2013 Integrated Resource Plan*) in R.11-05-005. D.14-11-042 adopted reforms to reflect the Commission's efforts to streamline the RPS contract review process and increase transparency. These reforms could require changes to the structure of the GTSR proposals currently under consideration in this proceeding. In particular, D.14-11-042 (a) directs the IOUs to hold one additional RAM auction, RAM 6, to be concluded no later than June 30, 2015; (b) sets parameters for a transitional RAM program to reflect the renewable procurement market in 2015 and beyond; and (c) sets an interim value for a Renewable Integration Cost adder for use in procuring new renewable resources.

On December 1, 2014, the assigned ALJ reopened the record to consider the impact of D.14-11-042. On December 12, 2014, a status conference was held to discuss this limited issue. Opening briefs were filed on December 18, 2014, and reply briefs were filed on December 23, 2014. Phases 1, 2, and 3 of this proceeding were submitted as of December 23, 2014.

#### 2.2. IOU Proposals

Because of the long and complex procedural history of this consolidated proceeding, it is necessary to clearly articulate the source and elements of the IOU proposals being evaluated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> By statute, the RPS Procurement Plan includes (1) assessment of RPS portfolio supply and demand, (2) potential compliance delays, (3) project status update; (4) risk assessment, (5) quantitative information, (6) bid solicitation protocol, and (7) cost quantification. Section 399.13(a)(5)(A)-(F).

- (1) PG&E Green Tariff: December 6, 2013 Testimony (Exhibit PG&E-01), consisting of PG&E Partial Settlement (May 2013) and changes made to address SB43.
- (2) PG&E ECR: Filed in February 2014.
- (3) SDG&E Green Tariff and ECR: Original proposal from 2012 application as described in December 6, 2013 testimony (Exhibits SDG&E-01 through 08).
- (4) SCE Green Tariff and ECR: Amended Prepared Testimony dated April 11, 2014 (Exhibit SCE-04 and 05).

#### 3. Issues Before the Commission

SB 43 (codified at Sections 2831, et seq.) directed the Commission to issue a decision on or before July 1, 2014 approving or disapproving, with or without modifications,<sup>21</sup> applications from the IOUs for GTSR Program. As envisioned by SB 43, the GTSR Program will build on the success of the California Solar Initiative by expanding access to eligible renewable energy resources to all ratepayers, including those who are unable to access the benefits of onsite generation.<sup>22</sup>

The central question before this Commission is whether to approve, modify, or reject the applications of SDG&E, PG&E and SCE to offer their proposed GTSR Program. Each GTSR Program consists of both a Green Tariff and an ECR component.

To answer this question, the Third Scoping Memo set forth five issues:

1. Are the GTSR programs proposed by SDG&E, PG&E and SCE compliant with the provisions of SB 43?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Pub. Util. Code § 2832(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Id. at § 2831(b).

- 2. Are the GTSR programs proposed by SDG&E, PG&E and SCE compliant with the Legislative Findings and Statements of Intent contained in SB 43?
- 3. Are the GSTR Programs proposed by SDG&E, PG&E and SCE compliant with the Commission's reasonableness standards?
- 4. Do the GSTR Programs proposed by SDG&E, PG&E and SCE amount to Direct Access in violation of Public Utilities Code Sections 365.1(a) and (b)?
- 5. Are the GTSR programs proposed by SDG&E, PG&E and SCE compliant with our affiliate transaction rules?

In Sections 4, 5, and 6, we consider procurement, program design, and rate design and evaluate whether the proposals are compliant with the provisions of SB 43 and whether they meet the Commission's reasonableness standards.

Sections 7 and 8 examine marketing and reporting requirements for the GTSR Program as approved.

In Section 9 we consider whether the proposed GTSR Program are compliant with Direct Access under Sections 365.1(a) and (b), the Affiliate Rules, and the rules on Community Choice Aggregation (CCA).

#### 4. Procurement of Renewable Resources

#### 4.1. Overview

The GTSR procurement model is built on four general principles. First, GTSR requires "additionality," meaning that GTSR subscriber demand should result in commensurate incremental renewable energy facilities being developed beyond what would have been built in the absence of the GTSR Program.<sup>23</sup> Second, proximity of generators to customers should be maximized to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Code Section 2833(c); *see* also Section 2831(a) stating that one purpose of the program is to provide workforce benefits for the State of California.

approximate the benefits of onsite generation.<sup>24</sup> Third, procurement must result in ratepayer indifference to ensure that no costs are shifted from participating ratepayers to non-participating ratepayers.<sup>25</sup> Fourth, the GTSR Program should maximize use of existing renewable procurement mechanisms, such as the RAM and feed-in-tariff ReMAT. The GTSR Program should avoid creating entirely new processes for evaluating and selecting distributed renewable generation projects.<sup>26</sup>

Although SB 43 is focused on the procurement of additional resources for GTSR customers, there are two additional procurement phases that must also be considered: (1) identifying renewable resources for start-up (initial procurement), and (2) addressing overprocurement of renewable resources for GTSR either during,<sup>27</sup> or at the end, of the program (overprocurement).

Although this decision provides sufficient authorization for the IOUs to promptly move forward with GTSR procurement, it is necessary to set a Phase IV to optimize procurement under the program.

## 4.2. Use of Commission-Approved Tools and Mechanisms to Procure Renewables for the Program

Code Section 2833(c) requires that "A participating utility shall use Commission-approved tools and mechanisms to procure additional eligible renewable energy resources for the green tariff shared renewables program from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Code Sections 2831(b), (e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Code Section 2831(h).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Code Section 2833(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Overprocurement during the GTSR Program could result from either from customer attrition or from the inherently "lumpy" quality of procurement.

electrical facilities that are *in addition* to those required by the California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program." Essentially, the statutory language offers two procurement mandates: (1) that the IOU use Commission-approved tools and mechanisms, like RAM and ReMAT, for procurement, and (2) that a facility from which energy is procured is not a facility used toward RPS compliance.<sup>28</sup>

GTSR requires the IOUs to ensure sufficient eligible capacity is available to meet GTSR customer demand up to the 600 MW statutory cap. Individually, the GTSR Program size is 269 MW for SCE, 272 MW for PG&E, and 59 MW for SDG&E. To ensure such capacity, IOUs may procure energy through Commission-approved tools and mechanisms, although projects may not be greater than 20 MW in size. Most parties agree that RAM and ReMAT are the two existing procurement methods that should be used.<sup>29</sup> PG&E proposed to use mechanisms "similar" to RAM and ReMAT. Other suggested mechanisms are described in Section 4.2.3 below.

SCE proposes to rely on generation procured for RPS compliance to the extent that there is surplus available. However, as discussed below, in accordance with SB 43, all three IOUs are directed to rely on new generation procured specifically for the GTSR Program.

#### 4.2.1. Procurement Through RAM

RAM is a simplified market-based procurement mechanism for use by the IOUs to promote the procurement of distributed generation projects eligible for California's RPS program. D.10-12-048 officially adopted RAM and included the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Code §2833.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See, e.g., SDG&E Reply Brief at 3; MCE Opening Brief at 21; ORA Post-Hearing Brief at 43.

two key components of RAM: (1) the requirement that utilities procure small (3 MW to 20 MW) renewable distributed generation and (2) that PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E each hold four auctions over two years to accomplish this procurement. In Resolution E-4582 (May 9, 2013), the Commission authorized PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E to each hold a fifth RAM auction.

D.14-11-042 established one additional auction, RAM 6, to be completed by June 30, 2015.<sup>30</sup> D.14-11-042 also began the process of developing a new RAM structure so that the IOUs can continue to use RAM to procure RPS resources. The new structure eliminates the minimum and maximum size,<sup>31</sup> and leaves many parameters of future solicitations to the discretion of the utilities.<sup>32</sup>

D.14-11-042 specifically identifies RAM as a possible procurement method for the GTSR Program and directs the IOUs to include relevant details in their annual RPS Procurement Plans.<sup>33</sup>

#### 4.2.2. Procurement Through ReMAT

Public Utilities Code Section 399.20 declares the Legislature's intent and the policy of the state to encourage electrical generation from small distributed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> D.14-11-042 at 90.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> D.14-11-042 at 94 and 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> D.14-11-042 at 133, Ordering Paragraph (OP) 30 ("The parameters of the newly adopted RAM procurement tool include: (1) a standard contract; (2) product categories; (3) expanded service territory; (4) align RAM valuation methodology with RPS Program; (5) require a Phase II Interconnection Study; (6) a commercial online date of on or before 36 month with a 6 month extension for regulatory delays requirement for new projects; and (7) a flexible approval process.")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> D.14-11-042 at 102 ("We expect the IOUs to elaborate, in their procurement plan, how the proposed RAM procurement could satisfy a Commission authorized need, for example a system Resource Adequacy needs, local Resource Adequacy needs, RPS need, GTSR need, any need arising from Commission or legislative mandates, or a reliability need").

generation that qualifies as an "eligible renewable energy resource" under the RPS program with an effective capacity of 3 MW or less. To fulfill this requirement, the Commission instituted a feed-in tariff with a market-based pricing mechanism (ReMAT) that uses a standard offer contract and automatically adjusts the offered payment rate. The ReMAT pricing mechanism operates independently to determine the market price for each of three product categories: non-peaking as available, peaking as available, and baseload. The ReMAT mechanism sets the market price separately for each utility, for each of these three product types, every two months, based on market demand at the previously offered rate. Solar projects fall under the "peaking as available" product category.

In keeping with the goal of additionality, GTSR Program projects procured through ReMAT will not count towards other statutory or Commission feed-in tariff targets for renewables. IOUs may use the current peaking bucket price as a starting price to procure capacity for the GTSR Program.

#### 4.2.3. Other Procurement Tools and Mechanisms

Other procurement tools and mechanisms were proposed by parties: bilateral contracts, such as the power displacement agreement structure cited by Shell, SCE's Solar Photovoltaic Program, and the regular RPS solicitation. Beginning with the filing of 2015 RPS Procurement Plans, IOUs can include plans to solicit through GTSR projects through other RPS solicitations based on the RAM model. Other mechanisms can be considered by application and in Phase IV of this proceeding.

#### 4.2.4. Initial Advanced Procurement

PG&E proposes to procure up to 50 MW in advance of customer enrollment, with the amount and timing at their discretion.<sup>34</sup> By the end of 2015, PG&E expects to have 6,000 customers enrolled with a projected capacity need of 50 MW. The PG&E Partial Settlement gives PG&E the discretion to procure up to 50 MW in advance of enrollment based on forecasted demand. PG&E asserts that it will employ this authority sparingly to take advantage of project pricing and resource characteristics that would be beneficial for GTSR Program participants.<sup>35</sup>

SDG&E requests an order to procure up to 10 MW for the Green Tariff component and 10 MW for the ECR component of the GTSR Program<sup>36</sup> in advance of customer enrollment.<sup>37</sup> TURN asserts that it would be a mistake for SDG&E to limit initial procurement to 10 MW given the potentially superior pricing for projects up to 20 MW in size.<sup>38</sup>

In contrast, ORA advocates a cap on procurement tied to forecasts of future enrollment.<sup>39</sup>

SCE proposes to draw on its existing resources in the RPS portfolio to supply the GTSR Program, and therefore does not request approval of any advance procurement. However, by relying on existing RPS resources, SCE's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> PG&E Opening Brief at 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> *Id*. at 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> In addition to the 10 MW for Green Tariff Option (GTO), SDG&E requests to procure 10 MW for enhanced community renewables option (ECRO).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 22.

proposal fails to meet the additionality requirement of SB 43. Therefore, we direct SCE to restructure its GTSR Program to promote additional resources, and in this decision we have included specific targets for SCE.<sup>40</sup>

Procurement of new capacity is a multi-year process, and given the time it takes to procure and build new generation, prudent advanced procurement can ensure that sufficient capacity is procured to meet GTSR demand in a timely fashion. Additionality is a key aspect of SB 43, and unless the IOUs are directed to begin procurement for GTSR customers immediately, there is a risk that no additional renewable resources will be procured in time to matter for the GTSR Program.

There are several arguments in favor of advanced procurement. There is a high likelihood for some incremental capacity need. Advanced procurement increases the additionality attributes of the GTSR Program. Advanced procurement reduces risk of supply perpetually lagging behind demand. Capacity brought online by the end of 2016 can take advantage of the federal Investment Tax Credit (ITC) which is currently scheduled to expire at the end of 2016.<sup>41</sup> The ITC allows commercial, industrial, and utility owners of solar facilities to take a one-time tax credit equal to 30% of qualified installation costs.

The major risk is overprocurement with the potential to impact non-participating ratepayers. As discussed below, if an IOU procures resources for the GTSR Program, but the generation is not needed to meet GTSR customer needs, the excess generation would need to be sold or rolled into generation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> SCE did set forth a gradual phase in of available MW for interested subscribers. (Ex. SCE-4 at 9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> 26 U.S.C. § 48.

procured for other customers. The consequences of overprocurement for GTSR are minimal given that the total allowed amount of 600 MW would represent only a small fraction of the RPS program.<sup>42</sup>

Given the strong arguments in favor of advanced procurement, we set the following minimum goals for 2015: PG&E 50 MW, SDG&E 10.5 MW, SCE 50 MW. Contracts for such procurement should be complete within one year following the adoption of this proposed decision and should be matched to the extent possible by enrolled subscribers. Procured projects should be online within the deadlines set forth in the applicable procurement process (RAM or ReMAT). In meeting this goal, IOUs should endeavor to procure a mix of EJ, residential, City of Davis, and other projects.

In order to timely begin the procurement for the GTSR Program, procurement should begin with the existing RAM and ReMAT process. In order to take advantage of RAM 6 and the ITC, this procurement will necessarily start before customers are enrolled in the GTSR Program. This approach was supported by TURN and CCUE in the December 2014 briefs.<sup>43</sup>

The IOUs are directed to file a Tier 1 Advice Letter within 21 days of the effective date of this decision confirming the amount of MW they intend to procure for the GTSR Program in RAM 6 and ReMAT. The solicitation for GTSR projects can begin with the next scheduled ReMAT solicitation following the Tier 1 Procurement Advice Letter. Solicitation via RAM 6 is encouraged but not required. IOUs are permitted to submit a letter to the Commission's Executive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Currently, 600 MW is equal to approximately 2.9% of RPS capacity under contract.

 $<sup>^{43}</sup>$  TURN December 18, 2014 Opening Brief at 3; CCUE December 27, 2014 Reply Brief at 1.

Director seeking an extension of the RAM 6 June 30, 2015 deadline if more time is needed to procure GTSR projects through RAM 6. If changes to RAM 6 standard contract and request for offer (RFO) instructions are necessary to accommodate GTSR procurement in RAM 6, the IOU should include these changes with any other RAM changes being requested through the existing Tier 2 Advice Letter process applicable to implementing Commission directives in advance of an auction.<sup>44</sup>

#### 4.3. Ongoing Procurement Targets and Milestones

#### 4.3.1. Utility Proposals

SDG&E proposes to use the RAM solicitation process to select the least expensive bids that meet its existing RAM procurement requirements, and then to select the next least expensive bid that meets SDG&E's expected GTSR Program capacity needs. Following the first GTSR Program year, the rate of procurement would be determined annually by evaluating customer interest.<sup>45</sup>

PG&E proposes conducting incremental procurement to meet customer demand when customer demand reaches an increment of 30 MW or at the end of each calendar year based on actual customer demand. FG&E proposes to procure new GTSR supplies specifically only to meet reasonably forecasted customer demand. If, in any given calendar year, the amount of new load enrolled under the GTSR Program does not reach 30 MW, PG&E would instead procure new supplies to meet the actual incremental enrollment (e.g., 5 MW,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> The RPS proceeding (R.11-05-005) sets forth the process for the IOUs to submit changes following Commission directive via a Tier 2 Advice Letter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> PG&E Opening Brief at 3.

10 MW, or 20 MW).<sup>47</sup> Before making any decisions regarding the products, targets or strategies for incorporating small-scale, local generation into the GTSR portfolio, PG&E and the Settling Parties propose that they consult with each other, or the advisory group.<sup>48</sup>

Because SCE proposed to draw on its existing RPS portfolio to supply the GTSR Program, SCE's proposal does not include specific advance or ongoing procurement targets.<sup>49</sup>

### **4.3.2.** Party Comments on Procurement Targets and Milestones

ORA and Farm Bureau urge a conservative approach. ORA supports SDG&E's proposed pace of procurement, but asserts that PG&E's advance procurement plan is too aggressive. ORA urges us to reduce non-participating ratepayer risk by imposing conservative conditions including allowing limited initial advance procurement and thereafter allowing the IOUs to forecast subscriptions and procure only incremental resources necessary to serve that load, plus no more than 5-10%. ORA notes that both PG&E and SDG&E are currently overprocured in meeting their RPS compliance requirements for the next several years, 52 so more RPS eligible generation is not necessary in the short

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Transcript (Hoyt) at 675-677.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Exhibit PG&E-01 at 1A-9 – 1A-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 12-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 27-28; <a href="http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/64D1619C-1CA5-4DD9-9D90-5FD76A03E2B8/0/2014Q2RPSReportFINAL.pdf">http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/64D1619C-1CA5-4DD9-9D90-5FD76A03E2B8/0/2014Q2RPSReportFINAL.pdf</a> (On April 1, 2014, the PG&E reported serving 20.6% of its CP 1 retail sales with RPS-eligible renewable energy, and SDG&E

and medium term. According to ORA, SDG&E's 2013 RPS Compliance Plan states that it expects to meet compliance requirements for Compliance Periods (CP) 1, 2 and possibly CP 3, while PG&E's 2013 RPS Compliance Plan states, "PG&E currently forecasts an incremental need for long-term energy deliveries from RPS-eligible resources beginning in 2020 (prior to applying any excess procurement from earlier compliance periods) to better ensure ongoing compliance with the 33% RPS requirements beginning in 2021 and beyond." 53

Farm Bureau is also concerned about PG&E's plan. Farm Bureau expresses concern about overprocurement resulting in non-participating customers seeing increased rates and violating the principle of ratepayer indifference. Farm Bureau supports ORA's proposal to limit the IOUs' procurement of resources to 5-10% above what is necessary to serve actual GTSR customer subscriptions. Farm Bureau believes such a requirement will greatly reduce non-participating ratepayer risk arising from the GTSR Program.<sup>54</sup>

TURN does not agree with SDG&E's proposal to limit overall subscriptions to the initial 10 MW Green Tariff procurement.<sup>55</sup>

SCE rejects discrete advanced procurement for the GTSR Program.

Instead, SCE proposes to source its GTSR energy from existing, but currently unneeded, contracted capacity that was originally intended to meet its RPS

with 21.6%, both beyond the average 20% renewable energy during CP 1, required under SB 2 (1X)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> ORA-01 (Kao) at 3-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Farm Bureau Reply Brief at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 4.

goals.<sup>56</sup> TURN criticizes SCE's approach as contrary to SB 43 and recommends that PG&E's initial procurement target of 50 MW be applied to SCE.<sup>57</sup>

TURN urges that the IOUs act quickly to execute new procurement contracts because the current 30% federal ITC for solar projects is only available to projects achieving initial commercial operations by December 31, 2016.<sup>58</sup>
TURN supports advance procurement because it could result in lower prices by including projects eligible for the ITC and because it avoids perpetual reliance on existing RPS resources. TURN asserts that "current market trends, combined with the continued availability of the 30% ITC, make advance procurement a 'no regrets' strategy even in the event that some portion of the output from new GTSR facilities ends up being allocated to non-participants."<sup>59</sup>

Vote Solar and SEIA assert that the Commission should authorize the full 600 MW at the start of the GTSR Program.<sup>60</sup> Similarly, CCUE asserts that the Commission should authorize SDG&E to procure all 59 MW of its statewide allocation without further Commission review, rather than authorizing a pilot program approach.<sup>61</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Exhibit SCE-4 at 33-41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> TURN May 2, 2014 Opening Brief at 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 19-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 18-22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> VSI/SEIA Opening Brief at 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> CCUE Opening Brief at 5.

## 4.3.3. Required Procurement Targets and Milestones

In determining the appropriate procurement targets, we balance the need for additionality and the limited remaining window to take advantage of the 30% ITC, on the one hand, and the risk of overprocurement, on the other hand. Based on the proposals and comments of parties, we find that the following procurement targets should apply for GTSR.

The initial participation goals, based on the considerations above, are displayed in the chart below. We set a minimum advance procurement target of 18% for all three utilities. We also set a maximum authorized procurement for the first year of 33% for SCE and PG&E, and 42% for SDG&E. SDG&E's maximum is higher so that SDG&E has the flexibility to consider projects as large as 20 MW in addition to EJ or ECR projects which would be 3 MW or under.

**Advance Procurement Requirements and Authorization** 

			-			
	Minimum	Authorized	EJ Target	EJ Maximum	Davis	TOTAL
	Advanced	Maximum	Authorized	Authorized	Authorized	(MW)
	(MW)	(MW)	(MW)	(MW)	(MW)	
PG&E	50	68	8.3	11.3	20	272
SD&E	10.5	25	1.75	4.2	n/a	59
SCE	50	67	8.3	11.3	n/a	269
TOTAL	110.5	160	18.35	26.8	20	600

Going forward, each IOU shall include details on its progress toward its share of the 600 MW total goal in its annual RPS Procurement Plan filing. This approach allows the Commission to approve RPS solicitations for GTSR and to direct the IOUs to rely on the latest Commission-approved procurement mechanisms. Through the annual RPS Procurement Plan process, the IOUs,

interested parties, and the Commission can evaluate the next procurement steps in the context of the changing renewables market.

Because of the time lag to bring new resources online and the impending 2019 GTSR Program sunset, IOUs are directed to act promptly in procuring advance and ongoing GTSR energy. For the same reason, IOUs are directed not to start new solicitations after January 31, 2018, unless the IOU's GTSR Program has been re-authorized or extended.

The IOUs are directed to file a JPIAL within 100 days of the effective date of this decision for ongoing procurement. The IOUs should make minimal changes to the current RAM and ReMAT programs and standard contracts to procure capacity for the GTSR program. The JPIAL should include details or changes to the ReMAT program and standard contract necessary to procure GTSR Program projects. In the JPIAL, IOUs must detail a standardized methodology to determine additionality of GTSR procurement in relation to other Commission programs, a uniform mechanism for tracking and reporting Renewable Energy Credits (RECs) (*See* Section 4.7), and any other changes to the RPS programs arising from Commission directives. The JPIAL should also include a standardized methodology for tracking and maintaining separation between temporary RPS resources used towards initial procurement of first enrollees, (*See* Section 4.5) including impact on RPS residual net short and impact on RECs.

Unless specifically included in the scope of Phase IV, the JPIAL should also include proposals for prioritizing ECR projects and projects qualifying for the EJ Reservation. For example, the IOUs may propose a separate bucket for the EJ Reservation within the ReMAT solicitation.

## 4.4. Facility Eligibility Requirements

### 4.4.1. Location

Code section 2833(e) requires that "to the extent possible" the utility "shall seek" to procure eligible renewable energy resources "located in reasonable proximity to enrolled participants." <sup>62</sup>

SDG&E proposes that GTSR projects be built in SDG&E's service territory or in Imperial Valley.<sup>63</sup> PG&E and SCE propose that GTSR projects be located within their respective territories.<sup>64</sup>

For the GTSR Program, the IOUs have proposed different mechanisms for prioritizing projects located close to enrolled customers.

PG&E proposes to track customer enrollments in the various communities it serves according to percentages of customers and usage.<sup>65</sup> PG&E will communicate in advance to the communities that are furthest along and will preferentially procure power from "appropriately priced, viable projects" that are located in or adjacent to these communities.

SDG&E proposes to use proximity to enrolled participants as a tie-breaker for similarly priced projects.<sup>66</sup> SCE proposes simply to choose projects in SCE's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> In addition, the EJ Reservation must locate capacity in areas identified as the most impacted and disadvantaged communities in California. The EJ Reservation location requirements are discussed in Section 4.9 below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 17.

 $<sup>^{64}</sup>$  Exhibit PG&E-01 at 1A-9 (Settlement Agreement); SCE-4 at 35-36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Exhibit PGE-03 at 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Exhibit SDG&E-04 at 3 (Hebert).

service territory, but does not suggest a methodology for prioritizing by proximity to interested customers.<sup>67</sup>

We generally agree with the IOUs' proposed approach as a starting point for, but we believe that SB 43 ultimately requires a more directed approach to locating projects. We adopt PG&E's proposal for tracking communities with enrollees as a means to more precisely identify locations close to enrolled participants, and we direct all three IOUs to use this approach. We encourage the IOUs to develop innovative mechanisms, such as making information readily available online, to further community involvement.

At a minimum, GTSR projects must be located within the service territory of the procuring IOU, with the exception that, to the extent already permitted by the RAM program, SDG&E is permitted to procure RAM projects located in the Imperial Valley that are dynamically scheduled by the California Independent System Operator (CAISO). Once the IOU's Procurement Advice Letter is effective, the IOU can begin procurement without waiting for Phase IV refinements to location and other matters.

The RAM and ReMAT programs do not have specific location criteria of the type contemplated in SB 43. Further exploration of locational requirements and valuation is necessary to fully achieve the goals of SB 43. The advance procurement required by this decision, and the IOUs' development of more sophisticated tracking tools to locate potential GTSR customers, will help the IOUs and parties develop specific recommendations for determining how to procure eligible renewable energy resources "located in reasonable proximity to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Exhibit SCE-05 at 1.

enrolled participants." Therefore we defer further locational specifications to Phase IV.

### 4.4.2. Size

SB 43 set a maximum size of 20 MW (measured by nameplate rating).<sup>68</sup> EJ projects may not be greater than 1 MW (measured by nameplate rating).<sup>69</sup> The RPS program has a minimum size of 500 kilowatt (kW).<sup>70</sup> Although several parties<sup>71</sup> argued that there should not be a minimum size for GTSR, and SDG&E did not indicate a minimum size in its proposal, the current RPS procurement structure requires us to set the minimum at 500 kW pending further record development.

There are significant practical reasons for including the 500 kW minimum. First, CAISO sets a minimum of 500 kW for a facility to have its own generator resource identification. This means that it is difficult to schedule output from a sub-500 kW facility without taking additional steps, which could impact ratepayer indifference. Second, all renewable projects under the GTSR Program require administrative time and resources and the amount of time and resources is not likely to be smaller for small facilities. Therefore, it is likely that allowing projects of less than 500 kW to be part of GTSR will increase the amount of time and resources necessary to operate the program, which in turn will raise the cost

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Exhibit PG&E-01 at 1A-9 (Settlement Agreement). The Settlement Agreement provides that, upon consultation with the Advisory Group, PG&E could consider projects sized larger than 20 MW. Because SB 43 sets a size limit of 20 MW (as does the RAM procurement program), this decision sets the maximum size at 20 MW regardless of input from the Advisory Group.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Procurement of EJ Projects is discussed in detail in Section 4.9 below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> D.14-11-042 at 126-27 OP 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Sierra Club Opening Brief at 19; SELC Opening Brief at 15.

of the GTSR Program for subscribers. Phase IV of this proceeding will provide an opportunity to evaluate whether and how sub-500 kW facilities can be included in the GTSR Program.

For Green Tariff projects, all three IOUs propose to accept projects of any size that qualifies for RAM. D.14-11-042 eliminated the 20 MW maximum size and any minimum size. For ECR projects, the IOUs propose size limits tied to ReMAT.<sup>72</sup>

To ensure maximum flexibility for the GTSR Program, we do not set limits on size beyond those already set in statute and the 500 kW minimum. We direct the utilities to accept Green Tariff projects ranging from 500 kW to 20 MW, and ECR projects ranging from 500 kW to 3 MW.

### 4.4.3. Price

This decision authorizes procurement of GTSR resources through RAM and ReMAT, but it does not set additional standards for prioritizing GTSR over other projects. Thus, initial GTSR procurement will be subject to the same price-setting mechanisms as other RAM and ReMAT projects.

Going forward, as a general matter, prices for GTSR projects should be consistent with similar RPS projects. As a guideline to approximate the price of similar RPS projects, we direct the utilities to compare the proposed price with the weighted-average price for RPS-eligible solar projects (ReMAT or RAM, as applicable) over the last three years.

SDG&E proposes that the bid be selected only if the price does not exceed a price that is \$4 higher per Megawatt-hours (MWh) than the weighted average

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> SCE Reply Brief at 34; Exhibit SDG&E-04 at 13 (Hebert).

price for shortlisted solar RAM bids.<sup>73</sup> SDG&E argues this cap ensures prices within the market range.<sup>74</sup>

CCUE asserts that the Commission should deny SDG&E's proposal.

CCUE argues that not removing the "artificial" \$4 per MWh price cap may "inadvertently force SDG&E to forgo a cost effective bid." TURN states that SDG&E's price cap proposal is not reasonable and should be adjusted to account for a number of real-world scenarios that could make such a limit arbitrary and counterproductive. TURN recommends allowing SDG&E to determine bid price based on reasonableness, but not use an arbitrary amount.

We agree with TURN's recommendation to allow IOUs to use "reasonableness" as the standard to determine the cost-effectiveness of the bid, as this gives IOUs flexibility to adjust for various situations, yet holds them accountable to select reasonable bids.

For advance procurement in 2015, the IOUs will rely on prices resulting from the existing RAM and ReMAT processes. Phase IV will examine proposals to prioritize GTSR procurement through RAM and ReMAT, which could include accepting higher priced bids for GTSR-qualified projects.

# 4.4.4. Viability; Type of Renewable Generation

Projects must meet the same minimum viability requirements established for ReMAT and RAM, depending on which mechanism was used to procure the capacity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup>SDG&E Reply Brief at ix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> CCUE Opening Brief at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 22.

Although SB 43 contemplates including all types of renewables in the GTSR Program, at this time the record only addresses solar. Both SDG&E and PG&E propose to procure only solar resources for the GTSR Program. SDG&E's program is even named "Connected . . . to the Sun."<sup>77</sup> SCE's application contemplates using renewables that are procured to comply with RPS, including renewables other than solar. However, because this decision finds that SCE must develop an incremental program, like that proposed by SDG&E and PG&E, and because the record does not address how other renewable generation types would be procured and valued for the program, this decision only approves procurement of solar resources. Additional types of renewable generation can be considered in Phase IV.

### 4.5. Interim GTSR Resource Pool

When the GTSR Program first launches, IOUs will be expected to supply GTSR customers even as the IOUs are just beginning the GTSR procurement process. During the transition, to meet immediate customer demand, IOUs may draw on existing RPS resources that are eligible for GTSR (Interim GTSR Pool). The Interim GTSR Pool is a short-term approach.<sup>78</sup> Simultaneously, IOUs are expected to engage in advance procurement of a specified amount to start the long process of putting additional facilities online.

Both SDG&E and PG&E propose an Interim GTSR Pool of GTSR-eligible solar projects that came online in 2013-2014, or are expected to come online by

 $<sup>^{77}\,\</sup>mathrm{SDG\&E's}$  Green Tariff component is called "Sun Rate" and the ECR component is called "Share the Sun."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> SCE's proposal is essentially to use this method of procurement throughout the entire lifetime of the GTSR program. SCE's proposal, as noted above, is rejected.

the end of 2014.<sup>79</sup> Each IOU would use a "cost-sharing" mechanism to allocate the costs from that IOU's Interim GTSR Pool to GTSR customers. In essence, a "slice" of the Interim GTSR Pool would be allocated to enrolled GTSR customers. This slice would be removed from RPS. The RECs from the slice would only count once (either toward RPS compliance or toward GTSR subscriptions, as applicable). To give a sense of the size of the Interim GTSR Pool, at the time of evidentiary hearings, PG&E's identified 87 contracts, totaling 260 MW.<sup>80</sup>

SCE proposes to rely on an RPS-eligible portfolio for the entire GTSR Program. SCE modified its proposed pool of resources in response to comments from other parties.<sup>81</sup> For customers participating prior to commercial operation of new, GTSR-specific projects, SCE is directed to use an Interim GTSR Pool on the same terms as SDG&E and PG&E.

To track and ensure ratepayer indifference, IOUs must include in the CSIAL a list of the existing, qualifying RPS projects to be used by each IOU to comprise the Interim GTSR Pool. The projects should be limited to eligible RPS solar projects between 500 kW and 20 MW coming online during or after 2013, located in the IOU's service territory (or in Imperial Valley for SDG&E).

All three IOUs should include back up information with their proposed Interim GTSR Pool that will allow Energy Division to evaluate whether the selected projects have prices that are representative of the IOUs eligible projects.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> PG&E Reply Brief at 8-9; SDG&E Opening Brief at 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Transcript (Rubin) at 77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> For example, in Exhibit SCE-06, SCE proposed to limit the portfolio to contracts signed after January 1, 2013.

Energy Division will specifically evaluate whether the IOU has "cherry-picked" high or low priced projects to be part of the GTSR Interim Pool.

In addition, SDG&E may submit an alternative pool that includes resources outside of their service territory and Imperial Valley. SDG&E should include a comparison of pricing between the two pools and other data to assist Energy Division in its evaluation.

The IOUs must also include the cost-sharing information in their annual RPS Procurement Plans. The IOUs must include all information related to the transfer of megawatts from the existing RPS program to GTSR. This information includes the impact on residual net short and the need to bridge for any shortfall, accounting of RECs, list of contracts with price, and other relevant details. Each IOU is responsible for ensuring that use of RPS resources for GTSR does not cause the IOU to fail to meet its RPS compliance requirements.

Once the projects procured specifically for the GTSR Program come online, the participating customers will be served exclusively from those resources and any subsequent incremental GTSR procurement.<sup>82</sup>

Some parties expressed concern that using existing RPS resources to supply GTSR customers will violate the principal of ratepayer indifference. MCE asserts that the Commission should prohibit PG&E, SCE and SDG&E from using existing RPS resources to supply the GTSR Program, require the IOUs to forecast participation rates via a reasonable method vetted by the Commission, and procure new resources and contracts in advance of the launch of the GTSR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Transcript (Charles) at 315.

Program.<sup>83</sup> MCE argues that: (1) the IOUs have not established an enrollment figure or other trigger for discontinuing the use of RPS resources (other than vague assertions of reaching a critical mass of subscribers); (2) the IOUs' proposals leave them free to allocate as much power from their RPS portfolio to the Green Tariff as they wish; and (3) in the absence of limits on the use of RPS resources for the GTSR Program, PG&E and SDG&E are free to allocate costly RPS portfolio resources to bundled customers and less expensive resources to the Green Tariff, or vice versa, in order to subjectively favor the costs to either participating or non-participating ratepayers.<sup>84</sup> MCE further asserts that the use of RPS resources for the GTSR Program raises a host of cost allocation problems that will adversely affect non-participating ratepayers.<sup>85</sup>

TURN opposes MCE's proposal to prohibit the IOUs' use of existing RPS resources to serve the GTSR Program start-up and suggests that the solution to addressing MCE's concern about pricing inequities is for the Commission to direct the IOUs to submit Advice Letters clarifying which existing resources will be allocated to the GTSR Program.<sup>86</sup>

We agree with TURN regarding the use of existing resources and its impact on ratepayer indifference. Because of the lag between the launch of the GTSR Program and the time to bring new resources online, it is reasonable and efficient to use existing RPS resources to supply the customers who sign up for the GTSR Program before new resources are procured.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> MCE Opening Brief at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> MCE Opening Brief at 6-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> MCE Reply Brief at 3-4 and 9; Shell Opening Brief at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 13.

By requiring advance procurement to begin immediately, we eliminate MCE's concern that there is not a set trigger point for the IOUs to stop relying on excess RPS resources to supply GTSR.

Use of existing RPS resources for GTSR customers is a temporary measure applicable only until newly dedicated GTSR resources are brought on line.

Because use of the Interim GTSR Pool is temporary, energy procured for GTSR customers from the Interim GTSR Pool does not count towards the SB 43 600 MW cap.

## 4.6. GTSR Excess Procurement: RPS Backstop

SB 43 provides that any excess generation procured for the GTSR Program either be (a) applied to RPS procurement requirements, or (b) banked for future use to benefit all customers in accordance with RPS banking rules.<sup>87</sup> Excess generation refers to generation procured in anticipation of or on behalf of customers no longer enrolled in the program, partial capacity from projects under contract to supply GTSR customers, and generation that is in excess at the end of the GTSR Program. Both SDG&E and PG&E propose that any excess procurement be treated in accordance with SB 43.<sup>88</sup> PG&E states it will consider any resources designated under the backstop in making future RPS procurement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Section 2833(s) states: "A participating utility shall, in the event of participant customer attrition or other causes that reduce customer participation or electrical demand below generation levels, apply the excess generation from the eligible renewable energy resources procured through the utility's green tariff shared renewables Program to the utility's renewable portfolio standard procurement obligations or bank the excess generation for future use to benefit all customers in accordance with the renewables portfolio standard banking and procurement rules approved by the commission."

<sup>88</sup> Exhibit SDG&E-04 (Charles/Hebert) at 18, 19.

obligation decisions.<sup>89</sup> SDG&E proposes that GTSR Program procurement that is unsubscribed be directed towards compliance with its RPS goals.<sup>90</sup> As previously noted, SCE proposed to rely on RPS procurement to supply the GTSR Program so SCE's proposal could not result in overprocurement of renewables outside of RPS.

Any GTSR generation used for RPS must meet RPS program requirements. Because GTSR resources are selected through RAM and ReMAT, we know that this requirement will be met. In addition, the transfer of generation must maintain ratepayer indifference.

Using non-participating customers as a backstop through the RPS program while maintaining ratepayer indifference, is complicated, and engendered considerable concern from parties such as ORA, CCSF, and Shell. ORA asserts that the transfer of excess GTSR procurement to the IOUs' RPS portfolios, and recovery of the cost of that GTSR overprocurement from ratepayers, is the greatest risk to non-participating ratepayer indifference presented by each of the IOU proposals.<sup>91</sup>

ORA argues that even the timing of procurement could result in higher prices for non-participating customers. If generation is procured for GTSR at a time of high prices and then applied to RPS at a time when lower prices are available, the non-participating customer will face increased rates. ORA cites recent reports that show solar photovoltaic prices trending consistently downward for the last several years. ORA argues that this declining price curve

<sup>89</sup> Exhibit PG&E-01 at 1A-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> SDG&E Reply Brief at 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 23.

makes it more likely that non-participating ratepayers will pay more if GTSR overprocurement is transferred to RPS.<sup>92</sup> In addition, ORA is concerned that transfer of GTSR overprocurment to RPS could result in ratepayers bearing the cost of more renewable resources than necessary for RPS compliance. ORA proposes that, as an alternative, the utilities should sell the excess at market prices.

ORA argues that nothing in SB 43 prohibits an IOU which transfers or banks resources in the RPS program from selling those resources if doing so represents the best value for ratepayers.<sup>93</sup>

ORA also requests an order from the Commission that "all cost containment rules in the RPS statute, as interpreted by the Commission, including but not limited to Code Sections 399.15(c)-(g), should apply to any Green Tariff resources transferred to the RPS program."<sup>94</sup> ORA asserts that these provisions of the RPS statute require that any amount spent to procure RPS resources above the 33% statutory mandate must have only a *de minimis* impact on rates.<sup>95</sup>

Code Section 399.15(c) and (g) allow the Commission to develop a standard for suspending RPS procurement (procurement expenditure limitation). The Commission is currently considering proposals in the RPS proceeding (R.11-05-005) to set procurement expenditure limitations and define *de minimis* in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 27 citing Exhibit ORA-01 (Kao) at 3-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Exhibit ORA-01 (Kao) at 3-4 thru 3-5.

that context. It does not make sense to apply it to the GTSR Program before the Commission has set forth a way of determining *de minimis* in the context of RPS.

ORA suggests that annual true-ups would be another way to ensure that any resources transferred from GTSR to RPS do not increase the cost for non-participating ratepayers. Under this proposal, the IOUs would compare the average cost of excess GTSR generation transferred to RPS and the average cost of generation in the RPS portfolio. The difference could then be debited or credited to GTSR subscribers. 97

Shell argues that although Code Section 2133(s) provides that excess renewable generation may be applied to an IOU's RPS procurement obligation, or may be "banked" for future use, the statute does not provide that the costs of the excess generation will be assigned to non-participating customers. Shell goes on to state that the accounting for the utilities' incremental renewable supplies must be completely separate from procurement of and accounting for the supplies in the utilities' bundled sales portfolios in order to achieve "ratepayer indifference."

Like ORA, CCSF argues that, in order to avoid cost shifting, the Commission must require PG&E to adopt a rate component that ensures that non-participants in the GTSR Program do not pay more than the prevailing market price for generation that might be transferred to RPS.<sup>99</sup> CCSF requests that the Commission require PG&E to include a backstop rate component (either

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 33-34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> Shell Opening Brief at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> *Id.* at 20.

a charge or a credit) that accounts for the difference in price between any excess GTSR renewable energy transferred to non-participants and the prevailing market price of comparable renewable energy that would otherwise be purchased for its RPS compliance.<sup>100</sup>

CCSF also asserts that Code Section 2833(s) does not allow PG&E to transfer excess Green Tariff generation to the general RPS obligations of non-participating ratepayers when PG&E overprocures GTSR resources unless the overprocurement is the result of customer attrition or reductions in demand levels.

In contrast to ORA, CCSF, and Shell, TURN argues that the RPS backstop is required by statute. In addition, TURN argues that it would be extremely difficult to establish "any reliable methodology for calculating net impacts on non-participants" and that the Commission should not attempt to develop a true-up or other rate mechanism to address parties' concerns. Instead, TURN argues that the rate components already proposed by PG&E and SDG&E are sufficient to ensure ratepayer indifference.

TURN points out that overprocurement of GTSR Program resources could reduce the cost for non-participating ratepayers if "short-term GTSR unsubscribed energy defers RPS procurement" and "results in lower-cost long-term contracts being executed." TURN states "[e]ven if it were possible to accurately quantify all these economic benefits to non-participants, it would not be reasonable to pass this value to GTSR subscribers in the form of a bill credit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Exhibit CCSF-01 at 20-22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 18.

Any such benefits should be considered appropriate compensation to non-participating customers in exchange for the availability of the GTSR procurement backstop."<sup>102</sup>

CCUE, another of the PG&E Settling Parties, agrees that the proposed RPS backstop is in full compliance with SB 43. CCUE asserts that SB 43 requires the IOUs to transfer excess GTSR energy supplies to RPS and that SB 43 prohibits the selling of excess GTSR energy. CCUE also states that the proposals put forth by ORA, CCSF and MCE for calculating the net ratepayer impacts of such transferred resources are not workable.<sup>103</sup>

SDG&E proposes that GTSR Program procurement that is unsubscribed be treated as part of its Voluntary Margin of Overprocurement (VMOP) for purposes of ensuring SDG&E's compliance with its RPS goals.<sup>104</sup> VMOP is SDG&E's RPS procurement management tool. SDG&E emphasizes that the VMOP procurement strategy that it set forth in its 2013 RPS Procurement Plan includes a limited volume of procurement associated with new programs, such as the GTSR Program, that reflect the changing needs of its customers.<sup>105</sup>

ORA asserts that VMOP is not a sufficient mitigation if GTSR provides SDG&E with undue discretion for using its VMOP to procure excess RPS resources. ORA observes that, in general, the IOUs have some degree of flexibility to specify the methodology for determining their own VMOPs, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> CCUE Reply Comments at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> SDG&E Reply Brief at 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Exhibit SDG&E-04 (Charles/Hebert) at 20.

therefore the VMOP does not appear to be a meaningful tool for addressing the risk of overprocurement to non-participating ratepayers.<sup>106</sup>

SCE proposes to rely on excess RPS generation for its GTSR Program. By doing so, SCE would minimize the risk of overprocurement of GTSR-specific resources. However, as discussed above, SCE's proposal is not compliant with SB 43 and this decision directs SCE to focus on procuring new renewable generation for GTSR Program. As directed by SB 43, SCE should apply any GTSR overprocurement to the RPS program in accordance with this decision.

The IOUs should use the RPS backstop method as required by statute. The clear language of the statute requires that the RPS backstop be used for overprocurement, regardless of whether the overprocurement is the result of customer attrition or "other causes." This approach is reasonable and efficient. The GTSR Program is small compared to the overall RPS program. Currently, 600 MW would represent less than 6% of current RPS capacity online. Because the GTSR Program is very small in comparison to RPS, transferring overprocurement to RPS would not result in unjust or unreasonable rates for ratepayers. Because it is difficult to calculate all of the net impacts on non-participants, direct comparison of average prices, as suggested by ORA, is not the right tool. No party has identified a reasonable, practicable, definitive method for determining a price difference.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Exhibit ORA-01 (Kao) at 3-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Code Section 2833(s).

This figure only includes projects approved by the Commission after 2002. The exact figure from the 2014 Quarterly RPS Report to the Legislature is 10,196 MWs. The 2014 Quarterly RPS Report to the Legislature can be found at <a href="https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/64D1619C-1CA5-4DD9-9D90-5FD76A03E2B8/0/2014Q2RPSReportFINAL.pdf">www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/64D1619C-1CA5-4DD9-9D90-5FD76A03E2B8/0/2014Q2RPSReportFINAL.pdf</a>.

Careful tracking and reporting of GTSR generation applied to RPS or banked will ensure that the GTSR Program is not negatively impacting the cost of the RPS program to ratepayers as a whole. As part of the JPIAL, the IOUs should develop an annual report that tracks the amount of generation transferred between the two programs (both RPS to GTSR at start-up and GTSR to RPS in the event of overprocurement) with the prices of the contracts. Such a report will provide transparency and auditability to ensure that transfer of resources between portfolios does not result in unreasonable costs to non-participating ratepayers.<sup>109</sup>

Therefore, we find that the RPS backstop, as required by statute, and described by the PG&E Partial Settlement and the SDG&E testimony, is reasonable and compliant with law.

## 4.7. REC Retirement

In accordance with the requirements of SB 43, all three IOUs propose to retire all of the RECs associated with the energy procured for the GTSR Program on behalf of all GTSR participating customers. These RECs will not be counted towards the IOU's RPS compliance requirements. RECs attributable to GTSR Program customers' energy purchases will initially be sourced from the Interim GTSR Pool, but ultimately will be sourced from newly procured GTSR resources. Each IOU will set up a Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System (WREGIS) sub-account to retire RECs for the GTSR Program

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> See, Section 8 of this decision for a complete description of GTSR Program reporting requirements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Exhibit PG&E-01 at 1A-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> *Id*.

on an annual basis. REC retirements associated with Interim GTSR Pool do not count toward compliance with the SB 43 cap of 600 MW of new GTSR capacity. Therefore, for the purpose of tracking and reporting SB 43 compliance, the IOUs should establish separate WREGIS sub-accounts for RECs associated with Interim GTSR Pool projects and RECs associated with SB 43 compliant new procurement.

Sierra Club argues that RECs should remain with the project owner to provide an additional revenue source. We disagree with Sierra Club and agree with the IOUs and other parties that compliance with SB 43 requires that the IOUs take ownership of the RECs and retire them through the process described above. In addition, it is necessary for the REC to transfer to the IOU with the energy to ensure that the energy is eligible for RPS compliance.

## 4.8. Voluntary Renewable Electricity Holding Account

In addition to retiring RECs, SB 43 requires the IOUs to retire any California-eligible greenhouse gas (GHG) allowances associated with procurement for GTSR. The allowances must be retired on behalf of participating customers as part of California Air Resources Board's (CARB) Voluntary Renewable Electricity Program. No party objected to this requirement and we confirm that the IOUs must comply with it as part of the GTSR Program.

# 4.9. Environmental Justice (EJ) Reservation

SB 43 requires that 100 MW of the GTSR Program be reserved for facilities that are no larger than 1 MW and are located in "the most impacted and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Code Section 2833(u).

disadvantaged communities" as identified by CalEPA.<sup>113</sup> In this decision, we refer to this mandate as the EJ Reservation, and to the facilities as the EJ Projects. EJ Projects must be located in the 20% most impacted communities based on the results from the best available cumulative impact screening methodology designed to identify each of the following: "(i) Areas disproportionately affected environmental pollution and other hazards that can lead to negative public health effects, exposure or environmental degradation. (ii) Areas with socioeconomic vulnerability."<sup>114</sup>

## 4.9.1. Screening Methodology

In August 2014 the Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, on behalf of the CalEPA, issued the California Communities Environmental Health Screening Tool: CalEnviroScreen Version 2.0 (CalEnviroScreen 2.0).

CalEnviroScreen is intended to be used to identify California communities that are disproportionately burdened by multiple sources of pollution. SB 535<sup>115</sup> directed CalEPA to create the CalEnviroScreen to use in the Cap-and-Trade funding program (the Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund) implemented by CARB. At the time of evidentiary hearings and briefings for this proceeding, SELC argued that the available version of CalEnviroScreen<sup>116</sup> was inadequate because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Code Section 2833(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Code Section 2833(1).

 $<sup>^{115}</sup>$  SB 535 (De Léon, Chapter 830, Statutes of 2012) "California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> CalEnviroScreen 1.1 was released in September 2013.

it is broken out by zip code instead of census tract.<sup>117</sup> CalEnviroScreen 2.0 resolves this concern by using census tracts.

SELC also argued that the Environmental Justice Screening Methodology (EJSM) is superior because it includes race and ethnicity.<sup>118</sup> EJSM was developed by CARB to identify areas with significant air pollution. Although EJSM is only available for some portions of the state, SELC argues that it is a superior screen that should be used in place of CalEnviroScreen when possible.

SDG&E argues that rather than using either EJSM or CalEnviroScreen, it should be permitted to develop its own simplified method for identifying the most impacted areas. However, as SELC points out, although SB 43 does not expressly mention CalEnviroScreen, the statute clearly calls for an existing methodology developed by CalEPA to be used.<sup>119</sup>

Other parties, such as CEJA, argue in favor of CalEnviroScreen.<sup>120</sup> Like SELC, CEJA argues that it is important to include race in the analysis of socioeconomic factors.<sup>121</sup>

While we agree that EJSM may be a valid methodology for identifying most impacted areas, the evidence and party positions weigh in favor of using CalEnviroScreen. First, as required by SB 43, CalEnviroScreen was developed by CalEPA. Second, although CalEnviroScreen was originally implemented for allocation of greenhouse gas (GHG) funds, SB 535 and SB 43 cite almost identical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> SELC Opening Brief at 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> SELC Opening Brief at 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> SELC Opening Brief at 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> CEJA Opening Brief at 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> CEJA Opening Brief at 16.

factors to be used in identifying target locations.<sup>122</sup> Third, CalEnviroScreen is committed to continuing to update and refine its methodology. Fourth, CalEnviroScreen will provide a consistent state-wide screening methodology.

Importantly, when CalEnviroScreen is updated the most current version should be used for identifying new projects.

CalEnviroScreen 2.0 identifies the most impacted 25%. While 25% meets the requirements of SB 535, SB 43 mandates a 20% threshold. Therefore, the IOUs are directed to work with the current CalEnviroScreen data to identify the most impacted 20% of communities. Each IOU should include the applicable list of census tracts in its Tier 1 Advice Letter.

Because the first version of CalEnviroScreen included race and ethnicity as factors, CEJA urges that the IOUs be required to coordinate with CalEPA to include that information when identifying SB 43 EJ Project locations. This is a novel idea, and was not addressed by any of the other parties. Because there is no record to support whether this is possible as a practical matter or whether inclusion of race and ethnicity is necessary for the screen, we defer this issue to Phase IV.

# 4.9.2. Allocation of 100 MW EJ Reservation Among Utilities

CEJA argues that rather than allocating the EJ Reservation among utilities proportional to retail sales, it should be allocated proportional to EJ Project areas

SB 43 targets areas "disproportionately affected environmental pollution and other hazards that can lead to negative public health effects, exposure or environmental degradation" and "with socioeconomic vulnerability." SB 535 targets areas "disproportionately affected by environmental pollution and other hazards that can lead to negative public health effects, exposure, or environmental degradation" and areas "with concentrations of people that are of

low income, high unemployment, low levels of homeownership, high rent burden, sensitive populations, or low levels of educational attainment." (Health and Safety Code Section 39711.)

within an IOU's territory.<sup>123</sup> Section 2833(d), of which the EJ Reservation is a subsection, requires that the IOUs' proportionate shares be based on ratio of individual IOU's retail sales to total retail sales for all three IOUs. We therefore decline to adopt CEJA's alternative allocation for the EJ Reservation and confirm that the allocation should be proportional to retail sales. However, for consistency, the EJ Reservation eligible census tracts should also be determined on a service territory basis rather than a state-wide basis.

## 4.9.3. Size of EJ Projects

Several parties such as CEJA and Clean Coalition argue that there should not be a minimum size for EJ Projects, or that the minimum should be set below the 500 kW minimum in place for the RPS solicitation.<sup>124</sup> We agree that smaller facilities, such as those under 500 kW, may be the most suitable for the EJ Reservation. However, based on the record at this time, we find that all GTSR projects must be a minimum of 500 kW. Changes to this minimum will be considered in Phase IV.

### 4.9.4. Procurement of EJ Resources

At the time of evidentiary hearings and briefings in this proceeding, RAM was limited to projects between 3 and 20 MW. D.14-11-042 reduced the minimum size of RAM projects to 500 kW starting after RAM 6. Thus, EJ procurement can occur through either RAM or ReMAT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> CEJA Opening Brief at 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> CEJA Opening Brief at 12; SELC at 17 (asserting that densely populated community in urban towns and cities have limited open space); Clean Coalition March 7, 2014 Comments, Appendix (stating that the best multifamily rooftops and parking lots in the Bayview-Hunters Point area of San Francisco are under 350 kW).

Numerous parties point out that to make the EJ Reservation meaningful, it may be necessary to take additional, proactive steps to ensure that EJ Projects are more than just a reservation of capacity.<sup>125</sup> Specific suggestions include:

- Allowing projects sized under 500 kW;
- Preferential treatment for EJ Projects in RAM and ReMAT solicitations;
- Developing alternative pricing for EJ Projects; 126
- Collaboration with community based organizations in identified EJ areas; and
- Refinement of methodology for identifying EJ Reservation locations.

There are several venues for these additional strategies to be considered. First, we direct the IOUs to be prepared to propose plans for prioritizing EJ Projects as part of Phase IV. Second, the IOUs are required to have annual forum at which developers and community members can raise concerns about obstacles to the program.

Most importantly, Phase IV of this proceeding is scheduled to start in February 2015 and will examine strategies to optimize EJ Projects.<sup>127</sup>

# 4.10. Procurement of ECR Capacity

### 4.10.1. ECR Overview

The ECR component has the potential to be the most interesting and creative aspect of the GTSR Program. It is in keeping with the spirit of the state's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> CCSF Opening Brief at 6-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> See, discussion of the program forum in Section 8.2 of this decision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup>For example, the Commission recently voted out a decision in R.11-05-005 which approved an alternative pricing mechanism for bioenergy projects.

ongoing shift toward competitive generation markets, and the governor's 12,000 MW goal for distributed generation. It is also the aspect of SB 43 that is the least defined.

That "[a] participating utility shall provide support for enhanced community renewables [ECR] programs to facilitate development of eligible renewable energy resource projects located close to the source of demand" is the only direction given by the bill. SB 43 does not include a specific capacity goal for ECR or what form the "support" might take or what form a "community" would take.

The findings and declaration set forth in Code Section 2831 provide some hints about what the legislature envisioned for ECR. It finds that "there is widespread interest from many large institutional customers, including schools, colleges, universities, local governments, businesses, and the military, for the development of generation facilities that are eligible renewable energy resources." The legislature further declared that these public institutions would benefit from being able to participate in offsite shared renewable generation facilities. <sup>130</sup>

Generally, community renewable projects are designed to allow customers to contract directly with a third-party participating renewable developer<sup>131</sup> to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> Code Section 2833(o).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Code Section 2831(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Code Section 2831(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Throughout this decision we use the term "developer" to refer to the entity that would provide the renewable power to the GTSR Program. This term is meant to encompass the developer, promoter, or other entity that will contract with the IOU.

subscribe to a specific local renewable facility.<sup>132</sup> SELC envisions that the majority of the project would be owned or controlled by individual residents of the community and the majority of the project's economic benefits would be distributed locally.<sup>133</sup>

During the first day of evidentiary hearings, PG&E's witness described an oft-cited GTSR example of a kids' school. Groups "can work with a developer [to] identify a site for a particular project." Although PG&E's witness testified that agreements between the community and developer were possible, 135 PG&E's ECR proposal, does not contemplate agreements between the developer and community, or linking a customer's rate to a specific project.

The proposals of SDG&E and SCE specifically contemplate arrangements between the developer and customer. SDG&E supports the flexibility of these arrangements, but also would require significant steps be taken to protect customers and the IOU from developer failure to complete projects, either due to developer errors or developer fraud. Other parties, such as IREC and SEIA/Vote

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> See, SELC Opening Brief at 9 quoting testimony of Aaron Franz defining a community solar type program as "a program that would create or establish a relationship between customers and new local development where they would be able to work directly with those entities." (Transcript at 818) and TURN's witness as describing ECR components appeal deriving from "often includes the notion that customers could provide some form of direct investment in those projects." (Transcript at 1026.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> SELC Opening Brief at 5. SELC also advocates for a maximum 1 MW size for community-based renewable energy projects.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> Tr at 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> "Again the parents of the kids that go to the school where the project's being developed could agree with the developer to provide the additional amount to have the developer bid into the program in a way that would more likely than not have it be a successful bidder, right." (Transcript at 143.)

Solar agree that protections are necessary, although they differ somewhat on the specifics.<sup>136</sup>

Additional market dysfunction could occur if developers that would have contracted under regular ReMAT instead contract under an ECR Program, thus potentially receiving payments from both the IOU and subscribers, as well as selection priority in the ReMAT process. Dysfunction could also occur if the IOU affiliates dominate the ECR project selection process.

The rewards of ECR are community involvement, increased renewables, locational benefits, and certainty of renewable power cost. The risks are customer manipulation by third party developers, and developers gaming the ECR selection process with sham community interest.

To be successful, the program needs to give communities the flexibility to structure their projects in innovative ways that incentivize community participation and developer interest in new projects. The Commission should not dictate the structure of these arrangements, but provide support that allows developers to access the best financing arrangements. The ECR component must encourage, rather than discourage, efforts of municipalities to develop shared community renewables.<sup>137</sup> The program must also encourage community participation and protect customers from unscrupulous developers.

SDG&E proposed a detailed program for its ECR component, Share the Sun, and we find that as a whole many elements of SDG&E's proposal are compliant with SB 43 and will further the goals of SB 43.

<sup>136</sup> SEIA/VSI March 21, 2014 Opening Brief at 16-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> Sierra Club/California Clean Energy Committee (May 5, 2014 Opening Brief at 27.), City of Davis, and CCSF all highlighted this aspect of ECR in their testimony and briefs.

PG&E's ECR proposal misses key elements necessary to be truly community-based and to promote development of the ECR market.<sup>138</sup> First, PG&E's proposal does not provide for a direct project-customer link. Instead, it would use a pool of locally based projects. Second, it does not contemplate allowing developers and customers to work together and create innovative structures for ECR projects. Third, it does not have a mechanism for prioritizing projects where customers have worked with a developer to bring a proposal to the utility.

Given that the ECR component's essential elements include encouraging local support for specific ECR projects, PG&E's proposal does not "provide an adequate role for local communities." <sup>139</sup>

Several parties, including CCSF, TURN, SELC and CEJA argue that PG&E should submit a more defined proposal before the Commission approves its plan for ECR. <sup>140</sup> We agree with these parties that more specifics are necessary, but the framework herein provides sufficient basis for the IOUs to move forward with ECR using the advice letter process. This decision directs the IOUs, including PG&E, to submit include details of their proposed ECR component that complies with this decision above in the JPIAL and CSIAL. PG&E is required to consult with its advisory group as part of preparation of the advice letter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> See, e.g., Shell arguments that PG&E proposal would not facilitate or enhance local renewable project development because the proposal fails to clearly commit to allowing customers to subscribe to specific local projects. Shell May 5, 2014 Opening Brief at 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> CCSF May 5, 2014 Opening Brief at 1, 4; TURN May 5, 2014 Opening Brief at 1, arguing that "more time is needed to develop a workable ECR component" and that PG&E should be directed to consult with the settling parties before proposing a more comprehensive ECR component.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> CCSF May 5, 2014 Opening Brief at 4.

In light of these considerations, this decision paints the ECR component in broad strokes. We direct the IOUs to begin considering ECR projects, but leave many details to the imagination of developers, customers, and IOUs. At the same time, we set a framework for basic protections for customers and for preventing developers from gaming the program.

While we believe that we provide sufficient basis for the IOUs to procure ECR resources, Phase IV of this proceeding will allow parties to further develop and optimize the programs.

To ensure that the program is on track, we require the IOUs to include ECR in their annual GTSR program forum.

### 4.10.2. Basic ECR Transaction Structure

For the most part, the ECR component follows the same rules and structure as the Green Tariff. This section sets forth the areas where the ECR component differs from the Green Tariff. The ECR component described here is based on SDG&E's Share the Sun proposal.

All three IOUs proposed to limit procurement to ReMAT and we have adopted ReMAT as the procurement mechanism for ECR. Phase IV will consider whether RAM should also be used to procure ECR projects. This would allow for projects sized larger than 3 MW.

The transaction is structured between the three parties (IOU, developer, and customer) under three separate agreements.

## 4.10.2.1. Power Purchase Agreement

The IOU and the developer sign a Power Purchase Agreement (PPA). As recommended by many parties, the PPA is a form agreement based on the ReMAT form contract. In the JPIAL, the IOUs shall include a proposed ECR Rider for the ReMAT contract containing the additional terms that the developer

must comply with to be part of the ECR component. A standard rider for all three utilities is necessary for ReMAT because it is evaluated on a statewide basis.

The rider should include terms regarding customer protection and developer behavior. Suggested consumer protection provisions include: Program Intent Provision, Buyer Beware Provision, Customer Complaint Provision, and Notification of Status Provision. IOUs are directed to include the proposed contract language in the JPIAL. The developer must provide updated representations, warranties, and securities opinion prior to commercial operation.

ECR PPAs will use the ReMAT or RAM price, but must include provisions to prevent an ECR project from losing its subscribed community base over time. The goal of the GTSR Program is to have fully subscribed ECR projects. Therefore, a mechanism is necessary to ensure that developers are incentivized to maintain the full community subscription. This protection is essential to the ECR component and SDG&E suggests the Default Load Aggregation Point (DLAP) price available from the CAISO provides a reasonable proxy for the market value of energy. We find that setting the price for unsubscribed energy at the DLAP price will incentivize developers to keep projects fully subscribed. However, as discussed below, the DLAP price paid to the developer should be adjusted under certain circumstances. Therefore, we use the term "Unsubscribed ECR Price," In comments on the proposed decision the IOUs urged that the Unsubscribed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> Exhibit SDG&E-02 at 27-30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> SDG&E Reply Brief at 20.

Energy Price apply earlier in a project's operations and at a higher threshold than 75%. To address both these concerns we adopt the following table for applying the Unsubscribed Energy Price:

Years of Operation	Required Subscription		
	Minimum		
First Year	50%		
Second Year	75%		
Third Year	95%		

The required minimum threshold should be assessed at the end of each billing cycle. If the project is below the required threshold, a five percent margin is reasonable to account for subscription changes in the normal course of business.

In accordance with SB 43, unsubscribed energy purchased by the IOU will be applied to RPS procurement requirements or banked for future use to benefit all customers in accordance with RPS banking rules.

In comments to the proposed decision, PG&E pointed out that it is possible that the DLAP could increase above the PPA contract price. If the DLAP price does increase above the contract price, it will create an incentive for developers to reduce subscription rates. Therefore, we set the Unsubscribed Energy Price at the lesser of the DLAP price or the PPA contract price. The Unsubscribed Energy Price only applies to unsubscribed capacity and only during billing periods in which the project does not meet the required subscription minimum.

Because SB 43 requires that energy procured through the GTSR Program be eligible for the RPS program, it is necessary for all RECs to be transferred to the IOU with the energy. In their Joint Opening Comments, Vote Solar, IREC,

SEIA and CalSEIA (Joint Solar Parties) rightly point out that the DLAP price does not include the value of the REC. Therefore, for unsubscribed ECR energy transferred at the Unsubscribed Energy Price, the IOU should pay both the Unsubscribed Energy Price and the market value for the transferred REC except that in no event shall this amount exceed the PPA price

Because determining the market value of a REC for this purpose has not been addressed by parties in this proceeding yet, the question of how to determine the market value will be included in Phase IV.

## 4.10.2.2. Customer Developer Agreement (CDA)

Because the purpose of ECR is to involve communities in the development of renewable projects, community involvement is an important element of the program. Thus it is essential that developers be able to work directly with communities. Similar to purchasing or leasing solar for a home, the customer and developer are likely to have an agreement separate from the utility in which both the customer and developer take on obligations to each other.

Developer and customer are free to design their own transaction structure to maximize the goals of customers and developers, and to ensure that projects are financeable. However, the developer must take affirmative steps to protect customers, and is required to provide representations, warranties, and indemnifications sufficient to protect the IOU and its shareholder in the event of a dispute between the developer and the customer. Through this arrangement the developer could, for example, sell the customer the right to a portion of the facility's capacity, or set a price per kWH of energy assigned to the customer. The developer will also assign its right to payment under the PPA to the customer. Direct sale of energy by the developer to the customer is not permitted.

## 4.10.2.3. ECR Tariff

The customer will sign up for the ECR Tariff with the IOU, and the IOU will receive instructions from the developer allowing the IOU to determine the appropriate price and credit to apply to the customer's bill. The charge and credit for energy from the facility will be derived from the amount of energy actually generated, and the portion of that generation in the customer's subscription. The ECR rate is structured the same as the Green Tariff rate, except that the rate is facility specific. The ECR rate does not include payments from the customer to the developer. Because the developer has assigned its right to payment to the customer, the customer will receive a credit from the IOU for the class average generation rated on a volumetric basis equal to the customer's assigned share of facility output.

The customer will be billed for actual usage on a volumetric basis at the facility price. However, because the developer has assigned its right to payment to the customer, the customer will receive a credit from the IOU.

In addition, like Green Tariff customers, the ECR customer will receive a credit for the avoided cost of generation based on the applicable class average generation rate.

In comments, TURN asserted that having a charge equal to the cost of energy under the PPA price AND an offsetting credit representing the assigned PPA payment is confusing.<sup>143</sup> We agree that it is complex. The record supporting the basic transaction structure approved in this decision requires this charge and credit approach. In comments, TURN provided an illustrative

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> TURN Opening Comments at 1-4.

example of the charges and credits that would comprise a customer bill. TURN's illustrative example is useful in understanding the charges and credits applicable to the customer under the ECR basic transaction structure approved in this decision, and we include it for reference. The table shows that for ECR customers the RAM/ReMAT price appears first as a credit and then again as a charge.

Illustrative Bill Credits/Charges (cents/kWh)		
	ECR	GTSR
Generation Rate Credit	(9.0)	(9.0)
RAM/ReMAT ECR credit <sup>144</sup>	(8.5)	n/a
Resource Adequacy Charge	0.7	0.7
Program Administration	0.6	0.6
Renewable Integration Charge	0.0	0.0
Indifference Amount/PCIA	1.0	1.0
Solar Value Adjustment	(1.3)	(1.3)
RAM ReMAT ECR charge	8.5	n/a
Net Bill Credit <sup>145</sup>	(8.0)	(8.0)

We agree with TURN that bill presentment should not be confusing. We direct the IOUs to include bill presentment for ECR customers in their CSIALs. We expect that the IOUs will be able to develop a bill format that makes it clear

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> TURN states that this is an illustrative value to reflect a hypothetical weighted average price from the most recent RAM solicitation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> TURN notes that this "net bill credit" does not account for the cost of GTSR resources (Renewable Power Rate) or any separate payment that an ECR customer makes to the ECR project."

to the subscriber how participation in the ECR component has resulted in changes to their bill.

## 4.10.2.4. Qualifications for ECR

In order to comply with statute, the developer, IOU and community must demonstrate that their project meets the goals of the ECR component. First, there must be sufficient demonstration of community interest. A wide variety of proposals were made by parties. Phase IV may consider changes to the criteria for demonstrating community interest. At this time, based on the limited and inconsistent record before us, we have set criteria that is intended to be moderate enough for developers to demonstrate community interest prior to execution of a PPA, and conservative enough to reflect that the project has community support. For purposes of this evaluation, we adopt PG&E's suggested definition of "community" as customers within the same municipality or county, or within ten miles of the customer's address.

PG&E's suggested definition is approved, but, as many parties pointed out in their comments, other definitions of community may be appropriate or necessary in order to fulfill the intent of SB 43. For example, community for purposes of the EJ Reservation a party could propose the definition of community be expanded to include shared interest communities located anywhere in the service territory. These additional definitions of community for purposes of siting ECR projects will be examined in Phase IV.

We direct the IOUs to base their assessment of community interest on the following criteria: (a) documentation that community members have committed to enroll in 30% of the project's capacity or documentation that community

members have provided expressions of interest in the project sufficient to reach 51% subscription rate;<sup>146</sup> and (b) a minimum of three separate subscribers to reflect the "shared" aspect of the program.<sup>147</sup> We agree with CCSF that allowing third-party institutional customers to guarantee subscription levels for new projects may be sufficient to establish community interest.<sup>148</sup> In particular, if the guarantee is from a municipality working to develop ECR projects in its community, then this guarantee is a sufficient demonstration of community interest.

PG&E argues that in addition each project must meet a 50% residential enrollment threshold. We agree with PG&E that it is important to ensure that residential customers have the opportunity to participate in ECR projects. We do not agree that the residential requirement is necessary or conducive to developing a successful ECR component of the GTSR Program. Therefore, we require that the IOUs ensure that at least at least one ECR project have a residential subscription of at least 50%.

Even if a project qualifies, the IOU must consider the overall portfolio of GTSR projects. For the program to meet SB 43's goal of developing a market, it is necessary to have a diverse group of ECR projects. The projects selected will need to balance the SB 43 requirement for 16.67% of GTSR capacity to be subscribed by residential customers. As set forth in the Reporting and

 $<sup>^{146}</sup>$  Further locational specificity can be developed in Phase IV, along with adders or credits for avoiding increased distribution costs.

 $<sup>^{147}</sup>$  See, e.g., Exhibit IREC-01 at 51 discussing need to ensure the "shared" aspect of shared renewables is met.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> CCSF Opening Brief May 5, 2014 at 3 citing PG&E Reply ECR Comments at 5.

Information Sharing section below, the IOUs must include this information in their annual RPS Procurement Plan, including progress toward the 16.67% residential reservation, the EJ Reservation.

### 4.10.2.5. ECR Program Design

Several practical details suggested by parties are compelling enough to require for the ECR Program. First, although the ECR goal is to develop local projects, once a project is developed subscribers can come from anywhere within the IOU's territory. Subscriptions are therefore portable within the IOU's territory.

Second, customers are not permitted to subscribe to more than 100% of their energy demand. SDG&E proposed, and IREC and other parties supported, using 120% of forecast annual load as the metric for determining the maximum amount a customer can subscribe to.<sup>149</sup> We agree with the parties that 120% of annual load is a reasonable approximation for measuring 100% of the customer's demand in this context.

Third customer subscriptions with the developer may extend for any length of time. In addition, the customer's ECR participation should terminate automatically when the PPA between the developer and IOU terminates.

Fourth, subscriptions are portable within the IOU's territory. Therefore when an ECR customer moves within the IOU' territory they can retain their ECT subscription at their new service address.

\_

<sup>149</sup> Exhibit IREC-01 at 50.

## 4.10.2.6. Securities Opinion

Parties generally agree that program components like SDG&E's Share the Sun may result in securities issues and that additional steps should be taken to protect against securities litigation risk. SDG&E cites a recent example of securities litigation involving investments in Hard Rock Hotel condominium units. Plaintiffs (investors in the units) were required to sign a rental-management contract with a different entity. Plaintiffs alleged that this arrangement caused them to unwittingly enter into an unregistered securities transaction. The court agreed that the arrangement resulted in a security. This case clearly illustrates that there is a litigation risk when a group of people are investing in a project with the expectation of a profit.

SDG&E recommends requiring a securities opinion from an AmLaw 100<sup>151</sup> law firm because of the complexity of the law, the importance of getting the securities issues right, and the potential for criminal sanctions. SDG&E argues that the AmLaw 100 requirement is a reasonable proxy for the securities expertise necessary to have assurance that there is not a securities litigation risk.

SELC and IREC argue that limiting opinion to an AmLaw 100 firm will create an unnecessary barrier for developers. IREC believes it would be sufficient for a solar provider to declare compliance with the securities laws.<sup>153</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Salameh v. Tarsadia Hotel, 726 F.3d 1124 (9th Cir. 2013) (affirming dismissal of complaint), cert denied, 82 U.S.L.W. 3492 (February 24, 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> "AmLaw 100" refers to the annual survey by The American Lawyer magazine which ranks law firms in the United States.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> SDG&E Reply Brief at 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> Exhibit IREC-1 (Beach) 53:3-4, 9-12. *See* IREC Opening Brief at 17-18.

SELC would require an opinion from a lawyer in good standing with the California Bar.<sup>154</sup>

We agree with SDG&E that the complexity of securities law and the potential for costly and protracted litigation require analysis by attorneys with extensive expertise with securities law. It is essential that participants in the ECR component be protected and that ratepayers do not bear the cost of securities litigation associated with a securities claim related to an ECR project. Therefore, prior to the IOU's acceptance of any project that contains a customer-developer contract, the developer must include a securities opinion from an AmLaw 100 law firm stating that the arrangement complies with securities law, and that the IOU and its ratepayers are not at risk for securities claims associated with the project.

In comments on the proposed decision, the Joint Solar Parties again raised concerns that requiring the securities opinion to come from an AmLaw 100 firm would be expensive and could be a barrier to development. We have considered these concerns, and in light of the risks involved, we continue to require an AmLaw 100 firm opinion. Such an opinion would be most costly when a new transaction structure is being analyzed, and should be less costly once a satisfactory form of opinion letter for that transaction structure has been developed. In time, ECR structures will be more common and well-understood by securities law practitioners. At that time, it would make sense to change the requirement. In the meantime, we suggest that solar developers work together

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> SELC Opening Brief at 27.

to defray the cost of obtaining a form opinion that covers their planned transaction.

As the Joint Solar Parties point out, there are many competent securities attorneys outside the AmLaw 100. The record, however, does not have any viable suggested alternatives for evaluating the qualification of law firms to give securities opinions. Therefore, in Phase IV the Joint Solar Parties are welcome to propose additional objective standards that can be used to evaluate and accept opinions from law firms outside of the AmLaw 100. For example, the solar parties could propose a standard for a law firm that specialized in securities and has a robust opinion review committee procedure.

#### 4.10.3. Other ECR Transaction Structures

Based on the record, we believe the basic ECR transaction structure described above provides the best balance of developer incentives and customer and IOU protections. Below we discuss several other transaction structures that were proposed in the record but not adopted in this decision. Phase IV can consider whether these other transactions structures could be modified and improved sufficiently to be adopted as alternatives.

First, PG&E's proposal, described earlier in this section, would allow the IOU to enter into a PPA with a developer without requiring specific customers to be identified and committed to the project. We rejected this proposal for several reasons. However, PG&E may revise their proposal based on the reasons for rejection and propose it for consideration in Phase IV.

SCE's proposed an ECR component where the IOU acts as scheduling coordinator for the energy, but does not take on any other responsibility in the

project. Instead, the developer and subscribers would work together to develop the project. Instead, the developer and subscribers would remain bundled service customers of SCE and SCE would continue to handle billing for the customer. The customer would receive a bill credit based on the customer's class average retail generation rate. This transaction structure would not include a PPA. Although we agree with SCE that this structure would provide the least risk to the IOU and its ratepayers as a whole, we have significant concerns about this structure. Most importantly, this transaction structure shifts almost all risk to the developer and customer. We are concerned that this is an undue amount of risk to place on the IOU bundled service customers. We are also concerned that, without a requirement for a PPA, developers would not be able to obtain financing. Based on the record, we reject SCE's proposal. However, SCE may propose this transaction structure again in Phase IV. Phase IV will provide an opportunity to build a record that addresses the concerns raised above.

In comments on the proposed decision, Joint Solar Parties argued that the basic transaction structure approved in this decision should be modified to make the IOU, and not the customer, the revenue counterparty. Joint Solar Parties contend that the PPA payments should be made to the developer and not paid as a credit on subscriber bills. Joint Solar Parties contends that this will make financing easier and less expensive, and it reduces the IOU's risks. While we generally agree with Joint Solar Parties contention, we are concerned about the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> Exhibit SCE-5 at 1-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> Similarly, TURN contends that costs of subscribed energy should be paid by the customer to the ECR developer directly without involving the charge and offsetting credit mechanism. (TURN Opening Comments at 3.)

shift in risk. The IOU's risk is not increased, but the subscriber's risk is increased. In the event of a default under a project financing or a developer failure, the subscriber faces the most risk. As with SCE's proposal, we are concerned that this is an undue amount of risk to place on the IOU customers. Therefore, we are not adopting this proposal. However, the Joint Solar Parties in Phase IV may propose refinements to the basic transaction structure.

## 4.10.4. ECR Implementation Advice Letters

In light of the foregoing, we direct the three IOUs to include the following in their JPIAL or CSIAL:

- Consumer protection rider to standard ReMAT contract including the representations, warranties and appropriate indemnities to protect participants, ratepayers and the IOU. These should include the protections suggested by SDG&E and Vote Solar/SEIA, such as requiring that all customer funds be refundable until the project is operational, appropriate dispute resolution procedures for the customer and developer, and that the IOU and ratepayers are not liable for customer claims against the developer. (JPIAL)
- Form language for the AmLaw 100 securities opinion regarding compliance with state and federal securities laws. (CSIAL)
- Details on rate structure for ECR pursuant to this decision. (CSIAL)
- Specific standards for demonstrating sufficient community interest in accordance with this decision. (CSIAL)

# 4.11. City of Davis Reservation

Section 2833(d)(3) reserves 20 MW "for the City of Davis." City asserts that this reservation requires special treatment. Specifically, City asserts that PG&E should be required to implement a tariff specific to City that will allow City to develop and administer up to 20 MW of GTSR-eligible renewables. Currently, City and PG&E have a contract for an existing renewable project

called PVUSA. City argues that the PVUSA contract structure must be used for the 20 MW reservation. There is no language in Code Section 2833 or SB 43 that suggests that City of Davis is authorized to develop a program up to 20 MW, which would be separate from any PG&E program. Therefore, this decision finds that the City of Davis Reservation should not be treated differently from other GTSR procurement.

Importantly, this decision would allow City of Davis to work with PG&E to expand PVUSA. Such an expansion would be subject to current Commission law regarding rate design and procurement, as well as the mandates of SB 43 as set forth in this decision (including the requirement to maintain ratepayer indifference between participating and non-participating customers).

City argues at length that third-party contracts between customers and developers must be permitted for the ECR component to succeed. Although PG&E's proposed ECR component did not contemplate third party contracts, this decision directs PG&E to revise its ECR component to permit CDAs. The exact scope and content of these CDAs is at the discretion of the developer and customer (provided it complies with law, including state and federal securities laws). Because CDAs will be permitted under the ECR component adopted in this decision, City's objection to this aspect of PG&E's ECR component is moot.

City argues that in addition to allowing CDAs, PG&E's ECR component should permit City to "administer" the 20 MWs reserved for City of Davis. 157

The language of the statute is clear on this point: the IOU must be the one to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> The term "administer" appears in the transcript and in various PG&E briefs and comments. (Transcript (Rubin) at 221 (discussing definition of administer); PG&E Reply Brief (characterizing City's proposed arrangement as a request to "administer" the program.)

"administer" the GTSR Program.<sup>158</sup> Therefore, we reject City's claim that it should be permitted to administer the program. The ECR transaction approved today makes it possible for City and PG&E to agree to an arrangement that allows City to take a role in development and operation of the projects under the Davis Reservation.

City argues that the legislative intent of SB 43 authorizes City to develop a program up to 20 MW, separate from any PG&E program. To ascertain the intent of the California Legislature, a court will begin with the words of a statute and give these words their ordinary meaning.<sup>159</sup> If the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, then the court need go no further.<sup>160</sup> If, however, the language is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, then a court will look to extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part.<sup>161</sup> The statutory language here is clear and unambiguous, "Twenty megawatts shall be reserved for the City of Davis."<sup>162</sup> There is no additional mention of the City of Davis. There is no ambiguity in this sentence.

Even if there was ambiguity in the statutory language, the extrinsic evidence collectively does not prove legislative intent to create a program

 $<sup>^{158}</sup>$  Section 2833(a) ("The commission shall require a green tariff shared renewables program to be administered by the a participating utility . . .").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> Hoechst Celanese Corp. v. Franchise Tax Bd., 25 Cal. 4th 508 (Cal. 2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> Cal. Pub. Util. Code § 2833(d)(3).

separate from PG&E's program. Regarding Exhibit Davis-01, the letter from Senator Lois Wolk, PG&E objected to the inclusion of the Exhibit in the evidentiary record because the senator individually cannot speak for the intent of other legislators in enacting SB 43. In addition, Senator Wolk was not a witness in this proceeding. Rather than strike Exhibit Davis-01, we have included it in the evidentiary record and have given its statements the appropriate weight. Exhibit Davis-01 stands for Senator Wolk's interpretation of the legislative intent, but we cannot rely on it to speak for the intent of the legislature as a whole in enacting SB 43, especially in light of public policy favoring ratepayer indifference, and the statutory construction excluding all other mention of the City of Davis.

Regardless, City benefits from this decision as it allows for the continued vitality of PVUSA through the 20 MW reservation. City argues that additional steps and structure are necessary to effectuate the City of Davis Reservation. Just as parties pointed out for EJ, it is important that there be an affirmative effort to develop projects rather than just maintaining a reservation. Therefore, as with EJ, we direct PG&E to consider creative mechanisms for ensuring that projects are procured for this reservation. The advanced procurement authorized in this decision allows PG&E to procure all 20 MW reserved for City of Davis.

PG&E and City may have previously attempted to negotiate an agreement without success, but these negotiations are not in the record and the GTSR Program structure, including the requirement for the IOU to allow CDAs for ECR projects, has evolved greatly throughout the proceeding. The results of past negotiations are therefore not indicative of future possibilities. Therefore,

pursuant to Resolution ALJ-185,<sup>163</sup> PG&E and City are directed to meet and discuss the feasibility of mediation with a neutral in the Commission's Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) program. The Commission's ADR program provides ADR free of cost. The parties are directed to contact ADR Coordinator Jean Vieth no later seven days after the issuance of this decision to schedule a meet and confer to assess the possible role of ADR in fulfilling the City of Davis Reservation. The meet and confer should take place no later than February 20, 2015.

ECR component City also argues that customers subscribing to the City of Davis Reservation should have different rate treatment. City bases this argument on the rate structure from the PVUSA project. SB 43 does not provide any special rate treatment for the City of Davis. As discussed at length in this decision, the rate structure we approve today is necessary to ensure ratepayer indifference between participating and non-participating customers. Therefore, subscribers to the City of Davis Reservation must be subject to the same rate structure as other participating customers.

### 5. Program Design

SB 43 constrains the shape, size and requirements of participation in GTSR Program.

Resolution ALJ-185 provides that the ADR process is voluntary, except under certain

circumstances such as "joint or separate meetings of disputants, conducted by an ALJ who is not the assigned ALJ, where the desirability and feasibility of an ADR process are explored."

## 5.1. Program Size

Pursuant to SB 43, the total size for the GTSR Program is 600 MW of customer participation, divided proportionally among the three utilities based on retail sales.<sup>164</sup>

**Table: Allocation of Capacity** 

	Percentage of	TOTAL	EJ	Davis	Unreserved
	Total IOU	(MW)	(MW)	(MW)	(MW)
	Bundled Sales				
PG&E	45.25%	272	45	20	207
SD&E	9.87%	59	10		49
SCE	44.88%	269	45		224
TOTAL	100%	600	100	20	480

SDG&E proposes to begin with a 10 MW pilot program<sup>165</sup> for the Green Tariff component and will incorporate lessons learned as it expands the GTSR Program to 59 MW. PG&E does not set a specific minimum target for the start of its GTSR Program. Neither utility proposed a cap on enrollment. SCE proposes to phase in enrollment by making 68 MW available in the first year and annually increasing availability of the program until it reaches 269 MW in 2018.<sup>166</sup>

The IOUs use different estimates and assumptions for customer adoption. PG&E estimates enrollment of 12,000 customers in 2015, increasing to 30,000 customers by 2019. PG&E assumes a customer distribution of 96% residential

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> We have used the retail sales reported for 2012 to determine the allocation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> SDG&E proposes their initial Program as a pilot Program, but we do not approve the Program as a pilot. SDG&E will implement the Commission-approved Program, as required by statute. Like the other utilities, SDG&E will expand their Program through the Annual RPS Procurement Process. Also, like the other utilities, SDG&E may seek changes to their GTO Program through Tier 3 Advice Letters.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Exhibit SCE-4 at 9.

and 4% non-residential, and assumes residential customers use 5.8 MWh per year and non-residential use 227 MWh. PG&E says its customer enrollment estimates are conservative and are based on ClimateSmart enrollment. PG&E estimates that 45 MW of solar with 20% solar capacity factor would serve approximately 5,400 customers. 168

SDG&E set 10 MW (or 21,900 MWh annually) as the target for the pilot year, and assumes that will be sufficient to supply 5,000 customers assuming an average energy use per customer at a 50% participation level. 5,000 customers represent less than 0.5% of SDG&E's customer base.<sup>169</sup>

SCE estimates a 0.5% adoption rate, which it estimates would represent approximately 26,000 customer accounts. Like PG&E, SCE forecasts that 96% of the participants will be residential. SCE estimates it will take four years to reach its forecasted subscription level.

As discussed above in the procurement section, the statute requires that some new capacity be developed for the GTSR Program, but procurement must also be conservative to minimize the risk of overprocurement. Therefore, specific minimum and authorized advanced procurement targets have been set. The utilities should endeavor to enroll participants equal to at least the minimum capacity requirements set forth in the section on procurement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Exhibit PG&E-02 at 2-1 through 2-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> Exhibit PG&E-02 at 2-1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> Prepared Direct Testimony of Dawn Osborne dated May 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> Exhibit SCE-04 at 13-14 (citing recent data from U.S. Energy Information Administration and other reports).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> *Id.* at 15.

### 5.2. Program Duration

SB 43 sets a sunset date of January 1, 2019. Parties disagreed on whether the GTSR Program should continue after that date. For example, should new customers be allowed to enroll after January 1, 2019? Should existing enrollees be allowed to continue in the GTSR Program after that date?

SDG&E and SCE propose to allow existing enrollees to continue to participate in the GTSR Program, but not to permit new customer enrollments after January 1, 2019, unless excess capacity procured for the GTSR Program allows for continued enrollment.<sup>172</sup> Both would continue to allow new enrollments up until December 31, 2018.

PG&E proposes that its GTSR Program be open to new subscriptions for five years from the date of launch,<sup>173</sup> and customers who have subscribed to the GTSR Program may remain on it past this date. PG&E would use a Tier 3 Advice Letter to propose extensions to the Program.

MCE argues that, by statute, the GTSR Program must end in 2019.<sup>174</sup> In contrast, TURN argues that that the provisions in SB 43 constrain the shape, size and requirements of the GTSR Program prior to 2019, but do not have any force after that date.<sup>175</sup> Nothing in the statute prohibits the Commission from continuing to authorize the GTSR Program or the participating utilities from continuing to offer their GTSR Program. The Commission has previously

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 11; Exhibit SCE-4 at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> Assuming a January 1, 2015 launch, that would extend the Program through January 1, 2020. However, this decision only approves the GTSR Program through 2018 subject to the extension and early termination provisions set forth herein.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> MCE Reply Brief at 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 6.

approved voluntary utility programs without any specific statutory authorization. For example, the Commission approved PG&E's Climate Protection Tariff, subsequently renamed ClimateSmart, despite the absence of any explicit statutory authorization for such a voluntary program. Therefore, the IOUs can continue the GTSR Program developed for SB 43 as long as the extended GTSR Program are approved by the Commission and meet all other Commission requirements.

ORA asserts that the utilities should file new applications to extend their GTSR Program beyond 2018 in order to develop a record and to allow for stakeholder input.<sup>177</sup> TURN argues that if utilities are required to file applications to extend their GTSR Program, then preparation for this effort will need to begin during the second year of GTSR Program operation, which will prevent any lessons learned to be incorporated into the next application filing.<sup>178</sup>

We agree with TURN that a new application would cause unnecessary delays and would hamper the ability of the utilities to respond to lessons learned. Provided that the extended program retains the substantially the same structure approved in this decision, and there are no material changes in capacity, a Tier 3 Advice Letter strikes an appropriate balance, allowing stakeholders to voice their opinions while also allowing the Program to continue without unnecessary delay. The IOUs are directed to use a Tier 3 Advice Letter to make changes to their GTSR Program that would either extend it beyond January 1, 2019 (for new customers) or to terminate the GTSR Program. If a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> D.06-12-032.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> ORA Reply Comments at 16-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> TURN Reply Brief at 3-5.

utility does not extend their GTSR Program, current participating customers can continue to participate on a month-to-month basis, but no new customers may join. This Tier 3 Advice Letter must be filed no later than December 31, 2017.

We must also consider under what circumstances the GTSR Program can be terminated early. PG&E proposes that it be given authority to suspend the availability of the GTSR Program to new enrollees upon ninety (90) days prior written notice and the authority to terminate the GTSR Program altogether upon 60 days written notice and Tier 2 Advice Letter.<sup>179</sup>

It is not consistent with SB 43 to allow early termination. However, under certain unique circumstances, such as risk of ratepayer exposure to excessive costs due to market manipulation or market malfunction, it may be necessary to authorize a rapid suspension of the GTSR Program.

Therefore, should any of the three utilities determine that suspension is necessary to protect ratepayers, they must do so by Tier 2 Advice Letter. The Advice Letter must clearly set forth why such early suspension is necessary to protect ratepayers and the utility's proposal for resolving the issue.

# 5.3. Community Advisors

Involvement at the community and customer level is essential to the GTSR Program. This involvement should advise the IOUs on development of GTSR Program that are in line with community goals, by examining demand, outreach efforts, resource quality, and adequate program implementation. The IOUs have proposed two different approaches.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> *Id.* at 8.

Pursuant to the PG&E Partial Settlement, PG&E would create an external advisory group to provide an opportunity for stakeholder input related to the implementation of the GTSR Program.<sup>180</sup> The advisory group would consist of environmental, consumer, low-income advocates, members from the Joint Parties who advocate on behalf of communities of color, Commission staff, labor, and other relevant stakeholders.<sup>181</sup> The advisory group would advise PG&E on GTSR Program implementation, ongoing administration, and potential changes over time, including subscription level options; rate charges and credits that will be charged to participants; and marketing and outreach strategies.<sup>182</sup> The advisory group would meet on a quarterly basis.

SDG&E and SCE do not propose advisory groups, and instead argue that leveraging their existing network of community groups and stakeholders (advising network) for input on GTSR Program design and outreach is more efficient and less likely to cause unnecessary delays in the rollout of the GTSR Program.

Several parties objected to the external advisory group approach. CCSF urges the Commission to reject PG&E's proposal "to defer key decisions" to the advisory group, arguing that this improperly gives this group authority that is vested with the Commission and that the Commission has no way of knowing the qualifications of this group or how it will function. CEJA opposes the formation of an advisory group because additional deliberation could delay

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> PG&E Proposed Settlement at 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> PG&E Opening Brief at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> PG&E Opening Brief at 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> CCSF Reply Brief at 2-3.

implementation of GTSR Program and increase GTSR Program costs.<sup>184</sup> CEJA also asserts that some community groups may not have the ability to participate in an advisory group because of resource constraints.<sup>185</sup> Finally, the City of Davis suggests membership in the external advisory group might not be fair or representative of customer and community stakeholders.<sup>186</sup>

In contrast, the Joint Parties argue that SDG&E and SCE should also be required to form advisory groups. The Joint Parties argue that formal advisory groups, with participation by an expansive group of community-based organizations, will provide the best feedback on the GTSR Program. The requirement for a formal advisory group is necessary, argue the Joint Parties, to prevent the IOUs from relying on an ineffective handful of community groups. The Joint Parties assert that the advisory groups will not delay implementation of the GTSR Program and would prevent "aggressive sales tactics" by solar providers.

Grassroots organizations provide valuable feedback from customers, which will provide insight into the effectiveness of the GTSR Program. We agree that with the advisory group, there is a risk of delay. There are merits in both approaches. We authorize all three IOUs to proceed with their respective proposals, subject to the conditions below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> CEJA Opening Brief at 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> CEJA Opening Brief at 21-22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> City of Davis May 5, 2014 Opening Brief at 5-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> Joint Parties Reply Brief at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Joint Parties Reply Brief at 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Joint Parties Reply Brief at 3.

First, the three IOUs must ensure that under either approach the implementation of the GTSR Program is not delayed by the need to meet with community organizations and stakeholders. The IOUs must start this process promptly upon issuance of this decision.

Second, to the extent feasible, the IOUs must include representation from interested governmental institutions, such as cities, and CCAs in their advising network or advisory group.

Third, the advisory group or advising networks should be a source for reporting aggressive or misleading sales tactics by solar providers seeking to participate in the ECR component.

Fourth, "key decisions" by the advisory group are recommendations that remain subject to Commission approval. The role of the advisory group is to advise, but it cannot usurp the jurisdiction of the Commission. Importantly, the utilities' proposals did not indicate that any specific decision-making authority would be delegated to the advisory group. We do not give the advisory group decision-making authority over the GTSR Program, but the utility shall respond to the advisory group input and give it a role in the marketing of the GTSR Program.

PG&E's advisory group must be inclusive and transparent. It must also be a benefit (by providing useful feedback to PG&E, its ratepayers, and the Commission) rather than a hindrance (delaying the start of GTSR). PG&E is directed to include in its CSIAL the composition, roles, goals, and timeline for this advisory group. PG&E must also provide annual reports, which will include information regarding frequency of meetings, topics discussed, and other relevant information regarding the advisory group.

Based on the record before us, it is not necessary for SDG&E or SCE to create equivalent advisory groups.

We believe SDG&E will adequately communicate with low-income and minority communities and customers through their own existing networks.<sup>190</sup> SDG&E has partnerships with approximately 200 community-based organizations throughout its service territory, which support senior, disabled, multicultural, and low income constituencies and which SDG&E will meet with at quarterly meetings.<sup>191</sup> SDG&E has stated that it will "work with local communities, local multi-cultural organizations and media, environmental groups, and other stakeholders" to assist with outreach.<sup>192</sup>

SCE plans a grassroots effort to raise awareness of the GTSR program among its low-income and minority customers. It plans to deploy employee ambassadors to speak about the GTSR Program to service clubs, consumer groups, schools, and other groups. <sup>193</sup> It also plans to liaise with various non-profits, community-based organizations, and faith-based organizations and provide them with training and material relevant to the GTSR Program. <sup>194</sup>

This decision finds that PG&E should work quickly to put the advisory group contemplated by the PG&E Partial Settlement in place so that the advisory group will be able to provide input on the MIAL and other aspects of implementation as feasible. SCE and SDG&E are directed to continue to work

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> PG&E Opening Brief at 7-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> SDG&E Reply Brief at 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> Exhibit SDG&E-4 at 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> SCE-4 at 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> SCE-4 at 47-48.

with their advising networks. The IOUs are required to provide quarterly reports on work with their advisory group (PG&E) or advising network (SDG&E, SCE). If, after the first year of the GTSR Program, it appears that either approach is not working, the Commission may change the community advising requirements via ruling in this docket.

However, in order to ensure parallel information, we require that SDG&E and SCE provide reports similar to those of PG&E on community feedback on the GTSR Program. These reports will be made annually, and will provide a further opportunity to review and evaluate the effectiveness of the two approaches.

For the implementation advice letters, in order to assist the IOUs in obtaining stakeholder input (and to assist the stakeholders in providing such input), we direct the IOUs are IOUs and stakeholders to work together and with Energy Division staff, to put together a series of workshops and/or program forums (via WebEx) to provide an informal, but organized platform for input and discussion. The IOUs are directed to ensure that brief post-workshop summaries are available and to discuss their response to stakeholder input in the applicable advice letter.

Intervenor participation in these advice letter workshops is eligible for intervenor compensation provided it complies with statutory requirements. To be awarded compensation, the intervenor must demonstrate compliance with Code Sections 1801-1812. The claim must also comply with the applicable Rules of Practice and Procedure and Commission decisions implementing the intervenor compensation program

In opening comments on the proposed decision, TURN argued that the Commission should find that substantive participation in GTSR Program

advisory groups is eligible for intervenor compensation. We agree that to the extent such participation contributes to decisions in this consolidated proceeding it should be eligible for intervenor compensation. However, to claim compensation the intervenor must be a party in this proceeding and must be able to demonstrate a substantial, non-duplicative contribution that meets the requirements of Code Sections 1801-1812. Importantly, this decision does not make a finding of eligibility for advisory group participation after the close of this proceeding. In addition, given that advisory groups will address issues that are outside the scope of decisions in this proceeding, only a portion of advisory group work completed while this proceeding is open would ultimately be eligible for compensation. Participation in advisory networks is similarly eligible and subject to the same requirements and limitations.

## 5.4. Green-e Energy Certification

PG&E's proposal includes Green-e Energy certification. PG&E argues that Green-e Energy certification will provide another mechanism for stakeholder input in addition to working with community based organizations and advisory groups. No party objected to this proposal, and we agree with PG&E that it will benefit customers and the GTST Program as a whole. Similar to U.S. Green Building Council's Leadership in Energy & Environmental Design (LEED) certification program, the Green-e Energy National Standard is developed with input from the public, including electricity users, generators, consumer protection groups, environmental policy and advocacy groups, renewable fuel companies, environmental regulatory bodies and others.<sup>195</sup> Green-e Energy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> Exhibit PG&E-02 at 2-4 - 2-5.

certification will provide consumers with assurance that the product meets the Green-e Energy National Standard. Green-e Energy certification will also provide customers with standardized, understandable information on the energy's attributes. We direct each IOU to seek Green-e Energy certification for its program.

# 5.5. Customer Participation Limits and Consumption Levels

SB 43 expressly caps a customer's participation at 100% of the customer's electrical demand.<sup>196</sup>

SDG&E's proposal allows GTSR Program customers to subscribe to any level up to 100% of their electrical demand.<sup>197</sup>

PG&E proposes that participating customers initially be allowed to subscribe to 100% of their electricity usage, and that smaller amounts (i.e., 50% or block of x kilowatt-hour (kWh)), will be determined through market research and consultation with the external advisory group.<sup>198</sup>

SCE proposes that customers be allowed to subscribe at two levels: 50% and 100%.<sup>199</sup>

CEJA argues that the utilities should offer varied subscription levels in order increase affordability.<sup>200</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> Code Section 2833(g).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> PG&E Proposed Settlement at 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> Ex. SCE-4 at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> CEJA Opening Brief at 2.

We agree with CEJA that the GTSR Program should offer a variety of participation levels so that customers at a variety of income levels can participate according to their financial abilities. But, the utilities must offer the option of subscribing for 100% of demand.

We also direct the IOUs to set a minimum subscription level of 50%. First, because of the RPS Program, all customers are already served by an increasing percentage of renewables. Second, there are fixed costs, such as administration and outreach, that are the same regardless of what percentage a customer enrolls in, the overhead cost for lower percentage renewable customers will be higher on a per-kilowatt basis.

The GTSR Program offered by the utilities need not be identical. Consistent with this approach, each utility may offer the subscription level options in their current proposals. This varied approach will provide information that may be useful in future design of the program.

We direct PG&E to promptly research and consult with its advisory group to determine what other participation levels should be offered. As part of that evaluation, PG&E must balance the goal of maximizing the number of customers who participate and the amount of additional renewable energy procured by the GTSR Program with the need for administrative efficiency. For example, customer acquisition costs are roughly equal on a per customer basis, whether the customer subscribes to use 50% or 100% GTSR resources.

We direct SDG&E to offer enrollment at levels from 50% to 100%. We direct SCE to offer enrollment at both 50% and 100%, and to consider expanding enrollment options based on customer feedback.

### 5.6. Customer Subscription Terms

SDG&E proposes that all bundled customers be eligible to participate in the GTSR Program on either a monthly basis, with a minimum one-year commitment, or a long-term contract of 2, 3, 5, or 10 years. Under the monthly subscription, the customer's participation continues until they proactively terminate their participation in GTSR, or when the PPA with its specific ECR facility is terminated. Once a customer's term ends, the customer has the option to terminate participation in the GTSR Program with no penalty, commit to a new term under the then-current GTSR Program tariff rate, or continue to participate under the month-to-month option. Customers who cancel their monthly subscription prior to the first year or prior to the end of a long-term contract will be subject to an early termination fee.<sup>201</sup> SDG&E's proposal does not contemplate a cooling off period.<sup>202</sup>

PG&E's proposed contract term is similar to SDG&E's, except PG&E's proposal does not include long-term contracts. Participating customers would commit to an initial subscription term of at least one year. Afterwards, the participating customers remain on the GTSR Program on a month-to-month basis until they affirmatively terminate their participation in the Program. PG&E's GTSR Program will also be available to all PG&E bundled electric customers.<sup>203</sup> Participating customers would be subject to a reasonable early termination fee if they cancel prior to their initial subscription term, but they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> SDG&E Opening Comments at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> PG&E Opening Brief at 7.

could cancel without an early termination fee if they cancel within the initial sixty-day cooling off period after subscribing to the GTSR Program.<sup>204</sup>

SCE proposes that customers be allowed to participate on a month-to-month basis without a termination fee. Customers who enroll and subsequently withdraw from the program would not be able to re-enroll in the program for a period of 12 months.<sup>205</sup>

One-year minimum contracts are beneficial for a number of reasons. First, a minimum one-year term will give the utilities some certainty around participation levels for the next year. Second, it will allow customers to test the GTSR Program without being locked into a long-term contract with an early termination fee.

In comments on the proposed decision, both SCE and PG&E argued that customers should be allowed to enroll for periods under one year without early termination fees. We agree that, provided the IOU can demonstrate that participation on these terms will not reduce ratepayer indifference between participating and non-participating customers, there is no reason to require the one year term for the initial subscription or the termination fee.

A long-term contract, such as that proposed by SDG&E, is not viable for several reasons. First, the long-term contract does not provide benefits to the customer that are commensurate with committing to a longer term than other customers. As discussed in Section 6, most GTSR rate components will float. The changing commodity price (the Renewable Power Rate (RPR)) will not be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> PG&E Proposed Settlement at 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Ex. SCE-4 at 12.

locked in, so there is not a hedge value associated with a longer-term commitment. As class average generation rates increase over time, GTSR customers will see their net premiums go down, but this effect can occur with or without long-term contracts.

All three utilities should offer a 60-day cooling off period to protect customers from bill increases. This will allow new subscribers to cancel or change their subscription after they have seen the actual impact on their electric bills. This may also increase participation among customers who may otherwise be deterred by the early termination fee.

This decision authorizes the IOUs to set an initial term of up to one year and to require early termination fees. Termination fees can prevent a large amount of stranded capacity and to cover administrative costs. Each IOU requiring a termination fee is directed to provide the Commission with a proposed method for calculating a reasonable termination fee based on a customer's contract year and duration. The IOUs are directed to provide termination fee information on their websites to offer customers greater cost certainty when considering participation in the GTSR Program. There should be no customer termination fee in the event that the GTSR Program is terminated by the IOU or the Commission before the customer's first year of participation. The methodology for calculating the termination fee must be included in the CSIAL filed to implement the GTSR Program. Those IOUs that elect not to require a termination fee should explain in their CSIAL how ratepayer indifference between participating and non-participating customers is maintained when subscribers leave the GTSR Program.

### 5.7. Affordability of Participation

SB 43 requires, to the "extent possible," that the IOUs market the GTSR Program to "low-income and minority communities and customers." <sup>206</sup> SB 43 does not expressly set an affordability requirement for the GTSR Program, but in light of Code Section 2833(j), the program must consider how to make the program affordable to low-income customers. SB 43 also requires that the GTSR Program not impair affordability for non-participating customers. Numerous parties, including ORA, MCE and Shell, focused attention on minimizing the impact of the GTSR Program costs on other customers.

A few parties also looked at expanding affordability of GTSR to more customers. Specifically, CEJA recommended requiring varied subscription levels as a means to increase affordability for more customers.<sup>207</sup> The decision adopts this recommendation in Section 5.5. In comments on the proposed decision, CEJA argued that the Commission should consider other mechanisms to make the program more accessible. So far in this proceeding, we do not have a record regarding other mechanisms. This does not mean, however, that offering varied subscription levels is the only available mechanism. Phase IV will consider other options to make opting into the Green Tariff Program affordable to more customers.

# 6. Rate Design; Cost Recovery

#### 6.1. Overview

GTSR rates consist of credits, representing the benefits of the GTSR Program generation and capacity, and charges, representing the costs incurred

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> Code Section 2833(j).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> CEJA Opening Brief at 2.

on behalf of the GTSR Program customers.<sup>208</sup> The rate structure for the Green Tariff and ECR tariff is similar, but not identical. Most parties supported the general structure of the proposed rates, but disagreed about whether certain rate components should be floating (changed annually for all subscribers) or fixed (customer locks in a vintage at the time of enrollment). IREC proposed two alternative rate structures which are discussed below.

The IOUs have described specific charges and credits to be applied to GTSR customer bills. We examine those proposals to determine if ratepayer indifference between participating and non-participating customers is achieved. However, the credits and charges appearing on customer bills may be different. For example, PG&E proposes to incorporate any Renewables Integration Cost (RIC) charge with other charges so as not to reveal any confidential RIC calculations.<sup>209</sup>

## 6.2. Charges

A variety of new and existing charges are proposed by the utilities to ensure proper allocation and tracking of costs. Some are based on charges that are already calculated for other customer groups, such as the Power Charge Indifference Adjustment (PCIA). Others would apply only to GTSR subscribers, such as the renewable power rate for GTSR facilities and WREGIS. Some charges will be based on calculations for which methodologies have already been determined by the Commission. All charges will "float" to accommodate changes in costs from year to year.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Code Section 2833(k); 2833(l).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> Transcript at 1970 (December 12, 2014).

This section sets forth the generation rate structure for GTSR customers. GTSR customers continue to pay the otherwise applicable tariff charges such as distribution charges and separately itemized non-bypassable charges (NBCs).

The detailed methodologies for these charges, and the initial amounts of these charges, will be set through the CSIAL.

## 6.2.1. Renewable Power Rate (RPR)

PG&E's commodity rate for GTSR is known as the Renewable Power Rate (RPR). SDG&E calls its RPR the "Cost of Local Solar."

During the early phase of the GTSR Program, when the IOUs are supplying GTSR customers with renewable energy from the Interim GTSR Pool, the RPR would be calculated as the weighted average cost of the power from the Interim GTSR Pool. As of evidentiary hearings, PG&E estimated its RPR at \$107 per MWh.<sup>210</sup> SDG&E expected that the time of day adjusted, weighted average price would be approximately \$89 per MWh, if all of the projects identified for the Interim GTSR Pool had achieved full commercial operation by the time the Green Tariff begins.<sup>211</sup>

SCE's proposed "Green Rate Portfolio Charge" would be calculated by taking the weighted-average, time-of-delivery adjusted contract costs of all projects in SCE's Interim GTSR Pool.<sup>212</sup> SCE proposes to update this average annually. At the time of evidentiary hearings, SCE estimated that this charge would equal \$108.39 per MWh.<sup>213</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> PG&E Revised Testimony (Barry) at 4-2; PG&E-2 at 1-2.

 $<sup>^{211}\,\</sup>mbox{Exhibit SDG\&E-04}$  (Charles) at 9; SDG&E-04 at 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> SCE-4 at 17-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> SCE-4 at 28.

CCSF argues that PG&E's proposal to set the RPR at \$107 per MWh is arbitrary because PG&E has not yet identified what renewable resources will be used to serve GTSR customers.<sup>214</sup>

Because this decision requires all three IOUs to set forth the details of their Interim GTSR Pool and calculation of actual per MWh prices in the PIAL, we do not share CCSF's concern regarding the illustrative nature of the rates provided to date.

CCSF also asserts that the proposed rate formulae should be modified to account for line losses associated with delivering energy from the project delivery point to the customer and ancillary services associated with the GTSR program.<sup>215</sup> Some locational benefits and costs are addressed by the other charges and credits, described below, that make up the entire GTSR rate design. For other costs and benefits, such as line losses and ancillary services, we find it is not necessary, or appropriate, to include these costs and benefits in rates at this time. At this early stage of the GTSR Program, customer indifference is satisfactorily achieved through the overall rate structures proposed by the IOUs.

#### 6.2.1.1. Green Tariff RPR

Once projects built specifically for the Green Tariff program achieve commercial operation, the RPR will be the incremental cost of those new projects (averaged with projects from the Interim GTSR Pool if necessary).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> Exhibit CCSF-01 (Hyams) at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> Exhibit CCSF-01 (Hyams) at 13-15.

Both SDG&E and PG&E propose "No Regrets Protection" <sup>216</sup> that would allow customers to lock in the RPR at the time of enrollment. If the RPR subsequently goes up, the customer would continue to pay the earlier price. New customers would pay the higher price, and a premium to make up for the lower price paid by early subscribers. <sup>217</sup> If the RPR subsequently decreases, in order to discourage customer churn, all customers would be charged the resulting lower average price. This approach was supported by the PG&E Settling Parties. <sup>218</sup>

In contrast, SCE proposes to update its RPR annually, for both existing and new customers, to reflect the average of its current GTSR pool.<sup>219</sup>

CCSF argues that that the Commission should require PG&E to manage its Green Tariff resources as a single portfolio with a price that is reset annually based on weighted average price of energy delivered to all Green Tariff participants. CCSF objects to adjusting the RPR on a "no regrets" pricing basis that allocates increases in costs to subscribers who sign up after the date of the procurement of a higher priced renewable resource. CCSF argues that this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> The May 2, 2014 Joint Recommendation for SDG&E uses the term "Early Adopter 'No Remorse' Protection."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> Exhibit SDG&E-07 (Yunker) at 4-5; Exhibit PG&E-01 at 1A-11 ("[The RPR] shall be adjusted for new and participating customers, over time.... To the extent that [the RPR] must be increased in order to incorporate additional resources to serve new participating customers, only new participating customers shall be subjected to the higher rate"); Transcript at 559, 566, 575.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> The Partial Settlement does not use the term "No Regrets." Instead, it describes the calculation of the rate if it is "increased in order to incorporate additional resources to serve new participating customers, only new participating customers shall be subject to the higher rate." Exhibit PGE-01 at 1A-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> Exhibit SCE-4 at 18; 22.

approach is unduly complicated, will create multiple vintages of subscribers, will require PG&E to create multiple Green Tariff portfolios, and may result in cost-shifting to non-participating ratepayers.<sup>220</sup>

TURN supports the SDG&E and PG&E proposals for "no regrets" pricing. TURN argues that that "no regrets" pricing complies with the ratepayer indifference requirement between participating and non-participating ratepayers.<sup>221</sup> TURN does not address the potential for lack of ratepayer indifference within the group of participating customers.

We agree with CCSF that vintaging the RPR by date of enrollment is unnecessarily complicated and creates disparate treatment of new and old customers. It unfairly favors early adopters and may discourage new customers from subscribing if rates increase over time. In addition, the "no regrets" pricing is not consistent with the rate design principle of cost-causation.

#### 6.2.1.2. ECR RPR

As discussed in the Procurement section, the RPR for ECR customers will be tied to a specific generating facility.

#### 6.2.2. GTSR Indifference Amount

Because GTSR customers are credited the class average commodity cost, a corresponding charge must be applied to ensure that GTSR customers continue to share in the above market costs for resources that were already procured on their behalf.<sup>222</sup> In other words, the customers who do not participate in a GTSR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> CCSF Opening Brief at 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> *Id.* at 15.

program should be protected from procurement cost shifting resulting from customers switching to GTSR.<sup>223</sup>

The PCIA is a Commission-approved charge that was developed to address the potential for cost shifting when bundled customers switch to unbundled direct access service. As described in D.11-12-018, the PCIA is a "non-bypassable surcharge which direct access (DA) customers pay to offset any cost impacts on bundled customers associated with their departure from or return to bundled service."

The methodology for calculating the PCIA was last set forth in D.11-12-018. The indifference amount is updated annually in each IOU's Energy Resource Recovery Account (ERRA) proceeding. The PCIA is "vintaged" for individual ratepayers based on the year the customer left bundled service.<sup>224</sup>

As proposed by the IOUs, when a customer signs up for the GTSR Program, he or she would be subject to the then-current PCIA charge for that vintage year. Customers who enroll in different years could see different PCIA charges. Each vintage PCIA can change from year to year. <sup>225</sup> For the period beginning July 2014, PG&E's residential PCIA was set at approximately 1.1 cents/kWh. SDG&E does not currently have a residential PCIA. For illustrative purposes SDG&E estimated a PCIA of 0.017 cents/kWh for GTSR customers. <sup>226</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> See Code Section 2833(p).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> The PCIA includes a fixed set of generation resource obligations that are updated annually to reflect expected costs for the underlying resources and expected deliveries. When contracts expire or they reach their 10-year stranded cost recovery limit, they are eliminated from the PCIA calculation for that vintage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> PG&E Opening Brief at 9; Barry testimony of 1/30/14 at 546; SDG&E Reply Brief at 27-28. <sup>226</sup> SDG&E-03 at 4.

SCE proposes an indifference amount that includes the vintage PCIA and the Competitive Transition Charge (CTC).<sup>227</sup> PG&E and SDG&E collect the CTC outside of the customer generation charge and therefore have not specifically addressed how to include it in the generation charge for GTSR customers. SCE, however, collects the CTC from customers at the same time and by the same process as the PCIA. Thus, the GTSR indifference amount calculated by SCE should include both the PCIA and CTC. All three IOUs are directed to describe in their CSIAL how the CTC will apply to their GTSR customers.

Some parties broadly criticized the indifference elements of the rate design proposals of the IOUs, while accepting that the PCIA was an appropriate charge to levy on GTSR customers. Shell supports the inclusion of PCIA as an element of a broader "indifference charge" that would cover other costs as well.<sup>228</sup> MCE argues that while SCE's indifference proposal was more acceptable because it includes the CTC, use of the PCIA fails to meet the legislative mandate for ratepayer indifference.<sup>229</sup> MCE is concerned that all NBCs be paid by GTSR customers to ensure indifference.<sup>230</sup>

For the following reasons, we agree with the IOUs and other parties that the PCIA is an appropriate proxy on which to base the GTSR customer indifference amount.

First, the PCIA is a Commission-approved mechanism that is already in place and does not require additional or new analysis. TURN argues that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> Exhibit SCE-4 at 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> Exhibit Shell Energy Opening Brief at 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> MCE Opening Brief on SCE's Green Tariff Rate at 3-8.

 $<sup>^{230}</sup>$  MCE Reply Comments of 12/20/13 at 8.

because PG&E and SDG&E proposals rely upon Commission approved valuations, the Commission should avoid approving new methodologies, "that lack specificity in the evidentiary record." TURN believes that reopening long-settled factual issues that relate to indifference charges has the potential to create, "far-reaching implications for a wide range of proceedings." 232

Second, the PCIA is designed to take into account the cost of procurement for a customer who is no longer taking service from the same procurement sources as other ratepayers.

Third, the Commission, utilities, and interested parties all have experience with the calculation of the PCIA and the PCIA is subject to annual review and adjustment through each IOU's ERRA proceeding.

Fourth, although a fixed PCIA would be administratively simpler, no party proposed a mechanism for setting a fixed indifference adjustment.

Finally, other costs that should not be shifted to non-participating customers are addressed by other charges and by the distribution rates and inclusion of NBCs in the overall customer bill.

SDG&E, PG&E, and SCE<sup>233</sup> propose to update the indifference adjustment automatically when a new PCIA is set in the annual ERRA Forecast proceeding. We agree that this approach is fair, reasonable, and consistent with SB 43.

The utilities are directed to use vintaged PCIA as a proxy for the indifference adjustment. The GTSR customer indifference adjustment will be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 12.

 $<sup>^{233}</sup>$  PG&E Settlement at 11; PG&E Opening Brief at 9; Barry testimony of 1/30/14 at 545-547.

vintaged by the year the customer enrolled in the GTSR Program. Details of the indifference adjustment should be included in the CSIAL.

SCE proposed to include the indifference adjustment in the Solar Value Adjustment (SVA). Although there is nothing inherently incorrect about this approach, because it differs from the approach taken by the other two IOUs, it will lead to confusion and lack of transparency. We therefore direct SCE in its CSIAL to treat the indifference adjustment as separate from the SVA.

# 6.2.3. Grid Charges; Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System (WREGIS)

All three IOUs propose to collect charges associated with the CAISO grid and WREGIS.<sup>234</sup>

The WREGIS charge would be based on fees assessed by WREGIS for registration, tracking and retirement of RECs associated with generation used to serve GTSR participating customers. No parties protested the proposed WREGIS charge.<sup>235</sup> We find that a separate WREGIS charge for WREGIS costs associated with the program is reasonable and complies with law.

CAISO charges include "energy usage charges, energy transmission service charges, and reliability services costs, all of which are allocated to load and resources by the [California Independent System Operator] CAISO." <sup>236</sup> These service costs are incurred on behalf of all bundled customers, including

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 15 (SDG&E does not specifically mention a WREGIS Charge, but does state that it will retire RECs through WREGIS.); PG&E Revised Testimony of Donna L. Barry at 4-2 – 4-3 (PG&E proposes a Grid Management Charge and a WREGIS charge).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> Reply Brief of SDG&E, Summary of Recommendation at X; Exhibit PG&E; Joint Motion of Settling Parties at 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 15.

GTSR customers, and are embedded in the class average commodity cost.

Because the class average commodity is credited to GTSR customers, the costs of these services must be added back as a charge.<sup>237</sup>

No parties objected to the IOUs' proposal to include CAISO charges in the rates of GTSR customers. We agree that because these charges are for service costs incurred on behalf of all bundled customers and embedded in the class average commodity cost, it is a necessary part of the rate design for GTSR. We find that the CAISO grid management charge is fair, reasonable, and consistent with SB 43. However, additional information is needed on the categories of charges and amounts that the IOUs expect to include.

The utilities are directed to include in the CSIAL a list of the categories of CAISO and other charges that it intends to include in the CAISO grid charges and how and when these charges may change over time.

SCE proposes to include WREGIS, CAISO charges and renewable integration charges in a "Renewable Integration and Market Participation Charge." In order to more effectively administrate and compare the GTSR Program statewide, and in light of the discussion of the RIC below, we direct SCE to revise its charges to separate renewable integration from WREGIS and CAISO charges.

## 6.2.4. Resource Adequacy (RA) Charge

The utilities must charge all bundled customers, including GTSR customers, for the value of RA procured on their behalf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> Exhibit SCE-4 at 18.

The RA program ensures that there are sufficient generating resources available for anticipated load, on both a local and a system basis.<sup>239</sup> The Commission sets RA requirements for all load-serving entities and over the years has done so through a series of proceedings. Most recently, the Commission opened R.14-10-010 to *Oversee the Resource Adequacy Program, Consider Program Refinements, and Establish Annual Local and Flexible Procurement Obligations for the* 2016 and 2017 Compliance Years. Through the RA program, the values for system and local RA are set.

The IOUs already calculate an RA adder (or capacity adder) that is intended to capture the cost of complying with RA requirements.<sup>240</sup> This RA adder is administratively determined based on a Commission-approved methodology.

The RA adder is a component of the "market benchmark price" which is used to calculate the PCIA. The calculation methodology was reviewed and adopted in D.11-12-018. Specifically, the methodology takes into account the Net Qualifying Capacity based on the IOU's total portfolio and the value of the going-forward costs of a combined-cycle combustion turbine as estimated by the California Energy Commission). This estimate calculates the short-term capacity value of PG&E's total portfolio. This same calculation methodology is used to set the capacity adder used in the Transitional Bundled Commodity Cost (TBCC) rate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> Code Section 380.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> See, e.g., D.06-07-030 (acknowledging the need for an RA adder when setting the forecast market price benchmark for calculating the indifference rate) and D11-102-018 (permitting updates to the adder).

CCSF asserts that because GTSR customers continue to be bundled customers, the RA value used in the TBCC or PCIA is not appropriate. CCSF asserts that the GTSR customers' share of PG&E's RA compliance costs should be determined based first on PG&E's actual costs of providing RA capacity that is compliant with all Commission requirements, and then by assigning Green Tariff customers their fair share. CCSF further asserts that it is unclear whether PG&E is proposing that this charge be fixed for participants for the duration of their participation in the GTSR program, or if it will float, based on PG&E's actual cost to provide RA capacity.<sup>241</sup>

PG&E argues that even though bundled customers are not subject to the TBCC, the TBCC methodology was approved for a similar situation where PG&E must procure sufficient RA for bundled customers that are not participating in standard rates.

SCE proposes an RA charge that reflects costs incurred by SCE to ensure sufficient RA capacity to meet RA requirements, noting that the CPUC's RA compliance program currently requires a 15% margin on load.<sup>242</sup>

We agree with the IOUs and other parties that the RA adder from the annual PCIA calculation is reasonable, fair, and consistent with SB 43. In addition, we agree with SCE that the amount of RA allocated to GTSR customers should take into account the 15% reserve margin.

In addition to the RA cost associated with procuring RA to cover anticipated GTSR customer usage, there is also a positive value associated with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> Exhibit CCSF-01 at 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> Exhibit SCE-4 at 19.

the power supplied by GTSR facilities. Both values must be taken into account in setting the rates of GTSR customers. The IOUs have different proposals regarding where RA charges and credits should be addressed in the customer bill.

PG&E proposes to include the entire positive RA value as a part of the SVA calculation. PG&E will then have a separate itemized charge for RA procurement costs incurred on behalf of GTSR customers.

SCE and SDG&E propose to net the RA values and include the result as the RA adjustment within the SVA credit.<sup>243</sup> SCE notes that its current RA price is 0.5727 cents per kWh.<sup>244</sup>

We find that either approach – netting RA credit and charge as part of the SVA credit, or accounting for the RA credit and RA charge as separately, are fair, reasonable, and consistent with SB 43. As with all of the charges and credits for the GTSR Program, the IOUs are directed to include details of the calculation and current values for the RA charge as part of their CSIAL.

# **6.2.5.** Program Administrative and Marketing Charges

SB 43 requires participating customers to pay the administrative costs of the GTSR Program.<sup>245</sup> For evaluation purposes, we have separated administration costs into two categories: Administrative and Marketing. The IOUs propose to collect administrative costs, as well as marketing costs, from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Exhibit SDG&E-03 at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> Exhibit SCE-4 at 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> Code Section 2833(1).

GTSR customers through specific charges.<sup>246</sup> To reflect these costs, these charges must balance the competing priorities of (a) ensuring prudent and cost-effective administration and marketing, (b) ensuring ratepayer indifference between participating and non-participating bundled customers, and (c) avoiding anticompetitive impacts on CCAs and DA providers.

In accordance with SB 43, the three IOUs propose to leverage their existing resources to keep costs down. The IOUs state that administrative costs will include use of the call center, billing staff, and renewables procurement group. The IOUs argue that other types of overhead, such as use of existing buildings and equipment, should not be included in the Administrative Charge. The IOUs assert that because these overhead costs are not incremental to the GTSR Program, there is no need to allocate a portion to GTSR customers.<sup>247</sup>

ORA asserts that the Commission should require functional separation, careful tracking, reporting and audit requirements for administrative and procurement expenses, and, to the extent GTSR revenues do not fully cover those costs, revise the renewable power rate in order to recover those costs.<sup>248</sup> ORA argues that using existing resources will make it difficult to ensure ratepayer indifference and argues for a separate affiliate or separate staff to administer the program. In its reply brief, ORA acknowledges that ORA's real concern is "ratepayer indifference, adequate accounting, and transparency/auditing capability" which could be achieved through means other than separate staff.<sup>249</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> See e.g. SDG&E Opening Brief at 19-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> See, e.g., PG&E Opening Brief at 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> ORA Reply Brief at 11.

Having a second unit or affiliate to handle GTSR Program will add costs to the GTSR Program, and is out of proportion to the risks. In addition, as SDG&E points out, the GTSR Program is required by statute as part of the utility's obligation to serve; thus, using existing resources, rather than acquiring and hiring new resources, is reasonable.<sup>250</sup> In the same way that GTSR procurement focuses on efficiency by having IOUs utilize existing tools and mechanisms for procurement, it is sensible for IOUs to maximize efficiency by using existing employees and resources. Therefore, under the GTSR Program, IOUs do not need to start a new division or create a separate affiliate as suggested by ORA.<sup>251</sup>

MCE argues that if the IOUs allocate administrative costs to the GTSR Program, they need to ensure that overhead costs are properly reflected. MCE points out that overhead costs typically include: "general operation and maintenance expenses, administrative and general expenses, taxes, common plant, depreciation expense, customer care, shared services and information technology."<sup>252</sup>

We agree with the IOUs that it is not necessary at this early stage of the GTSR Program to allocate existing overhead costs, such as buildings and equipment already included in the IOUs' operations. However, as the GTSR Program grows, this issue should be revisited. Therefore, in Phase IV we will consider at what threshold we should revisit this issue. We also agree with MCE that tracking of overhead costs needs to be done carefully. We direct the IOUs to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> SDG&E Reply Brief at 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> *Id.*; TURN Opening Brief at 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> MCE Reply Brief at 6.

use existing resources and account for incremental administrative costs and to provide detailed workbooks on what costs were included.

These charges, especially marketing, are expected to be higher at the start of the program and to achieve rate stability should be amortized over the first years of the program.<sup>253</sup> To ensure that marketing costs are not ultimately born by non-participating ratepayers if the program fails, the PG&E Partial Settlement includes a shareholder backstop to cover costs not recovered from GTSR subscribers.<sup>254</sup> The shareholder backstop would kick in if, after the first five years of the GTSR program, participation is so low that costs cannot be recovered from GTSR customers.

In contrast to PG&E, SCE and SDG&E oppose the shareholder backstop.<sup>255</sup>

ORA supports the backstop as a means to ensure prudent management of the program and to prevent costs of the GTSR Program from reverting to non-participating ratepayers. SCE argues it should not be subject to the terms of a settlement reached between PG&E and other parties.<sup>256</sup>

MCE raises an additional concern about the shareholder backstop for the Marketing Charge. MCE believes that if shareholders are allowed to backstop the Marketing Charge, there would be no effective limit on marketing which could result in anticompetitive impacts on CCAs.<sup>257</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> The first years of the program are defined as the longer of (a) the years ending at the termination of the program (2018 under statute), or (b) five years (if the IOU's GTSR program is extended).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> PG&E Settlement at Section 3.6.4(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> SDG&E Reply Brief at 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> SCE Reply Brief at 17-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> MCE Reply Brief at 5-6.

We agree that MCE has a legitimate concern about the potential for anticompetitive marketing. To prevent use of existing and market power resources to achieve an anticompetitive impact, careful reporting and tracking is necessary. For this reason, we direct the IOUs to track administrative costs separately from marketing costs. Additional protections against the potential anti-competitive effects of GTSR marketing are addressed in Sections 7 and 9.

The requirement of ratepayer indifference, and other rate design principles, support the shareholder backstop. Without the backstop, the utilities would likely rely entirely on ratepayers as a whole to make up the difference. By establishing the rules of the backstop now, future litigation and the risk of non-participating ratepayers incurring costs are minimized. The shareholder backstop approach is supported by TURN<sup>258</sup> and ORA.<sup>259</sup> We agree with TURN, ORA, and PG&E that a shareholder backstop will promote cost-effective management of the GTSR Program.

Parties did not debate the level at which the shareholder backstop would kick in. As one possible benchmark, we note that for ClimateSmart the Commission set 10% of overall budget as a reasonable level of cost for outreach and administration.<sup>260</sup> In their CSIAL, IOUs should set forth the details of when and how the shareholder backstop would work.

In comments on the proposed decision, SCE and SDG&E again argued against requiring shareholders to backstop administrative and marketing costs. We decline to remove the backstop entirely, but based on SCE and SDG&E

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> TURN Opening Brief at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> D.09-09-047 at 5-6.

comments we provide the following clarification of when and at what amount the shareholder backstop would apply. We also emphasize that the purpose of the backstop is to promote reasonable and prudent expenditures; the shareholder backstop is not intended to penalize the shareholders. We note that no party identified precedent for requiring a mandatory shareholder backstop for reasonable costs incurred for a legislative mandated program.

Costs will be tracked in memorandum accounts and will be subject to reasonableness review in each IOU's annual ERRA compliance review. Costs that are found not to be reasonable cannot be collected from ratepayers and will be borne by shareholders even without the GTSR shareholder backstop. Program startup costs that are found reasonable can be amortized.

The time period for amortization must be reasonable and will be related to the termination date of the IOU's GTSR program. The IOUs are required to file Tier 3 Advice Letters addressing continuation or termination of the GTSR Program by no later than December 31, 2017. Disposition of the remaining, unamortized costs should be addressed in these advice letters or in separate applications as described below.

If the program is continuing, the IOU may propose extending the amortization period in the advice letter. Alternatively, the IOU can file an application seeking recovery of the costs using a different mechanism. If the program is terminated, the IOU must use an application to seek recovery of outstanding costs.

In either case, when the IOU files an application to recover outstanding administrative and outreach costs, the proceeding will include a reasonableness review that examines the reasonableness of the administrative and outreach

expenditures for the program as a whole. If the costs are found to unreasonable through this second review, then the shareholder backstop will apply.

SDG&E proposes, at least initially, to use a flat monthly fee for all GTSR customers to recover these costs.<sup>261</sup> SDG&E's monthly fee would be tracked in a memorandum account and adjusted if there were under or overcollections over the life of the program.<sup>262</sup> PG&E proposes to use a volumetric (\$/kWh) charge, which it estimates at \$0.006 per kWh.<sup>263</sup> SCE would also use a volumetric charge.

A volumetric charge, such as that proposed by PG&E, is more likely to impose discipline on the utility in incurring expenses. Therefore, we direct all three IOUs to apply the Administrative Charge and Marketing Charge on a volumetric, rather than monthly fee, basis.

In order to timely move forward with the GTSR Program, we direct the utilities to include in the CSIAL (i) what categories of expenses will be deemed to be shared, (ii) detailed transparent information on how the allocations will be made, (iii) break out of estimated administration costs and outreach costs, and (iv) the proposed level at which these costs will be considered too high to be borne exclusively by the GTSR participants.

To ensure ratepayer indifference, the IOUs must also demonstrate that the administrative and marketing costs allocated to the GTSR Program are not already included in the class average rate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup>SDG&E Opening Brief at 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> Exhibit PG&E-4 (errata) at 2-11.

Because the marketing for ECR will be handled by both the IOU and the developer, marketing costs for ECR customers should be tracked separately and ECR customers should pay the ECR-specific marketing costs.

# 6.2.6. Renewables Integration Cost (RIC) Charge; Other Charges

In addition to the charges described above, we must consider how charges developed in the future should be applied to GTSR customers. One benefit of GTSR Program participation is greater certainty around electricity rates. If new, unpredicted charges are added to the GTSR rate design in the future, customers may feel mislead. On the other hand, the requirement for indifference between participating and non-participating ratepayers may require that new charges be applied to existing GTSR customers.

At this time, the Commission is endeavoring to quantify the costs of renewables integration. Such costs may include variable costs for ancillary services and flexible ramping to integrate intermittent renewables into the grid, as well as the fixed cost of long-term solutions to the increased need for flexible capacity.<sup>264</sup> Because GTSR is made up of renewable resources, the cost of renewables integration is of particular importance. Parties generally agree that once a RIC charge is developed, it should be added to the bill of GTSR customers. Parties disagree regarding whether this new charge should be applied to customers already enrolled in the program, or whether it should be applied only to customers who enroll after the charge is developed and approved. SDG&E, PG&E, and the Settling Parties argue that the RIC charge

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> See, e.g., D.14-11-042 at 55.

should only be applied to customers enrolling after the charge is implemented.<sup>265</sup> ORA argues that the charge should apply to all GTSR customers regardless of enrollment date.<sup>266</sup> SCE and PG&E propose to set the RIC charge at \$0 as a placeholder.<sup>267</sup> SDG&E proposes to wait until the Commission sets a RIC charge before including it.<sup>268</sup>

CCSF argues that PG&E did not provide a basis for a \$0 RIC charge, and that, because renewable integration costs have been estimated in other proceedings, PG&E should set the charge at an estimated level for renewable integration costs.<sup>269</sup>

ORA would allow the RIC charge to start at \$0, but would make GTSR customers responsible for all renewable integration costs associated with the program, regardless of whether they were incurred before or after a RIC adder or RIC charge was set.<sup>270</sup> ORA argues that it is inequitable for participants who signed up for the Green Tariff prior to the adoption of the RIC charge to avoid their paying program-specific costs. ORA points out that PG&E's proposal will result in cost-shifting from early subscribers to new GTSR subscribers, and could also result in cost-shifting to nonparticipants if a majority of the Green Tariff

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> SDG&E Reply Brief at x; PG&E-01 at 1A-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> Exhibit PG&E-01 at 4-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> SDG&E Reply Brief at x.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> Exhibit CCSF-01 (Hyams) at 13.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 270}$  ORA December 2014 Reply Brief at 2.

participants sign up for the program prior to the adoption of the RIC charge and the RIC charge cannot be fully recovered from new participants.<sup>271</sup>

Parties argue that the ability to hedge or at least achieve greater price certainty is an essential element of GTSR Program that would be lost of if the RIC charge is added to existing customer bills. On the other hand, the requirement for ratepayer indifference between participants and non-participants requires that non-participants not bear the costs incurred solely for GTSR customers.

We agree with both assertions. A balance must be carefully struck between the loss of price certainty that results from allowing new charges to be applied to existing customers and the requirement of ratepayer indifference.

In addition, the rate design principle of cost causation makes it problematic to put all new charges on new customers. Therefore, the Commission should avoid new charges and should carefully evaluate any proposed new charges on a case by case basis.

In the case of the RIC charge, there are already attempts being made to quantify renewable integration costs. Therefore, customers signing up for GTSR Program can be made aware of this charge from the beginning of the program, even if the initial charge is \$0 per MWh.

In D.14-11-042 in R.11-05-005, the Commission adopted an interim RIC adder. The methodology for calculating the RIC adder will be further developed in 2015 in R.11-05-005 in coordination with R.13-12-010. The interim RIC adder is based on (1) variable (or operating) integration cost of \$3/MWh for solar and (2) fixed cost component calculated by each utility based on its portfolio need to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> ORA-01 at 2-7.

secure additional capacity from resources not already procured to meet its flexible and non-flexibility RA requirements over the contract period.<sup>272</sup> The fixed cost component portion of the RIC adder is confidential.

In this consolidated proceeding, parties served testimony and filed briefs prior to the interim RIC adder set in R.11-05-005. In December 2014, parties were invited to brief whether (and how) the RIC adder developed in R.11-05-005 should be applied to GTSR customers.

ORA and other parties argue that the interim RIC adder should be used to calculate a RIC charge applicable to GTSR customers from the start of the program. In contrast, SDG&E argues that the RIC adder is intended to be used for bid evaluation, not for allocating the cost of renewables integration.<sup>273</sup>

There is no record in this proceeding regarding whether the Commission will ultimately determine that renewable integration costs should be collected from the renewable energy provider or from ratepayers.

Because the RIC adder from D.14-11-042 is being used on a going forward basis, there is no methodology for determining the RIC for existing projects.

If a RIC charge is applied to GTSR customers on a volumetric basis instead to the power producer, we cannot assume that the RIC charge will collect the full cost of renewables integration for each facility. If a GTSR facility is not fully subscribed, and the renewable integration cost for the facility is to be borne by the GTSR customers, the calculation of a fair RIC would be complex.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> D.14-11-042 at 61-62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> SDG&E December 18, 2014 Opening Brief at 3-4.

Aside from SDG&E, the parties have not addressed a circumstance such as this one, where a value has been set for a RIC adder, but the Commission has not indicated to whom or the how the costs should be allocated.

SDG&E, PG&E and the Settling Parties argue against applying the RIC charge to GTSR participants that sign up prior establishment of the RIC charge.<sup>274</sup>

The cost of renewables integration is an important procurement issue that is still being addressed at the Commission. It is likely that a RIC charge can be calculated in the near future based on Commission directions. In the meantime, we agree with SDG&E and PG&E that the RIC should be set at zero until such time as it can be calculated. In addition, unless a different mechanism is developed, if a RIC charge is added to the rates of GTSR customers, it should only apply to incremental GTSR projects.

Because the Commission is actively pursuing quantification and allocation of renewables integration costs, it is reasonable to assume that the Commission will ultimately provide direction on any RIC charge applicable to ratepayers. In order to make GTSR customers aware of this likely charge from the beginning of the program, the IOUs are directed to set a RIC charge of \$0 as a placeholder. Within 60 days of a decision setting a RIC charge for ratepayers, the IOUs must file a Tier 3 Advice Letter setting forth how the RIC charge will be allocated to customers (both new and existing).

If other customer generation charges are developed in the future, their inclusion in GTSR customer rates must take into account the GTSR Program goal of greater price certainty as well as the requirement for ratepayer indifference

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> Exhibit SDG&E-07 (Yunker) at 3-4; PG&E Settlement at 12.

between participating and non-participating customers. Because of the complexities, the IOUs should file for inclusion of new charges, other than the RIC charge, by application.

#### 6.3. Credits

#### 6.3.1. Generation Credit

The Generation Credit represents the cost of generation that is avoided because the GTSR customer's commodity is being supplied through the GTSR Program. The Generation Credit is based on the "class average retail generation cost as established in the participating utility's approved tariff for the class to which the customer belongs . . ."<sup>275</sup> Consistent with the statute, all three utilities propose to base the Generation Credit on the class average commodity cost.<sup>276</sup>

SDG&E proposes to use the adjusted class average commodity cost as a proxy for the avoided commodity cost. Due to a timing disconnect between when ERRA-related costs are incurred and the rate implementation timing of SDG&E's ERRA forecast, SDG&E proposes to substitute the ERRA component of the average commodity rate by customer class with an ERRA forecast value. This is intended to adjust for ERRA Trigger Balances to better approximate avoided costs.<sup>277</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> Code Section 2833(k).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> SDG&E Reply Brief, Summary of Recommendation at xiii; PG&E Opening Brief at 10; Exhibit SCE-4 at 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 16.

PG&E proposes to credit subscribers at the Class Average Retail Generation Rate for the customer class to which the participating customer belongs.<sup>278</sup>

We find the proposed approaches to identifying the correct class average retail generation cost to be fair, reasonable, and consistent with the requirements of SB 43.

### 6.3.2. Solar Value Adjustment (SVA)

SB 43 requires that GTSR customers also be credited for "a renewables adjustment value representing the difference between the time-of-delivery profile of the eligible renewable energy resources used to serve the participating customer and the class average time-of-delivery profile and the resource adequacy (RA) value, if any, of the resources contained in the GTSR portfolio."<sup>279</sup> Because solar resources generate during the sunny portions of the afternoon during which on-peak energy rates apply, it is expected that these resources will have a positive time of day or time of delivery (TOD) value.

SDG&E proposes to use a SVA that calculates the "relative value of energy and capacity for the solar resources supporting the SunRate program compared to SDG&E's current resource portfolio serving all bundled load." The SDG&E SVA would include differences in the value of solar resources supporting the SunRate program and the value of SDG&E's other resources. The SDG&E SVA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> PG&E Settlement at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> Code Section 2833(k).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup> Exhibit SDG&E-03 (Yunker) at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> *Id.* at 11.

would also include any RA value that the GTSR resources provide,<sup>282</sup> netted against the cost of procuring RA for the GTSR customer. SDG&E did not provide any details on how it would calculate the energy (TOD) value of the GTSR solar resources. For RA, SDG&E would use the RA capacity value in the PCIA and apply it to the difference in RA supplied by the GTSR solar resources and the balance of SDG&E's resources.<sup>283</sup> SDG&E's illustrative bill example included an SVA of \$2.64 per MWh to be credited against the RPR (Cost of Local Solar) for the billing period.<sup>284</sup>

PG&E's SVA would include TOD and RA values. <sup>285</sup> PG&E would calculate the RA credit based on the RA value of any resources contained within the GTSR portfolio multiplied by the RA value used in the PCIA calculation. <sup>286</sup> PG&E proposes a TOD adjustment based on the TOD profile of the GTSR renewable resources and the class average TOD profile. At the time of evidentiary hearings, for illustrative purposes, PG&E estimated the SVA (TOD) at \$0.008 per kWh and the SVA (RA) at \$0.005 per kWh. <sup>287</sup>

SCE proposes to include both the TOD adjustment and the RA adjustment in the SVA.<sup>288</sup> SCE also proposes to include an indifference adjustment (IA) in

<sup>282</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> Exhibit SDG&E-03 at 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Exhibit SDG&E-09.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> Exhibit PG&E-01 at 4-4, Table 4-1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> PG&E Opening Brief at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> SCE-4 at 26-28.

the SVA. <sup>289</sup> As discussed above, we direct SCE to address the IA in the calculation of charges. SCE would set the TOD value equal to the positive difference in value, if any, of GTSR "deliveries during on-peak periods greater than what SCE would have otherwise procured." <sup>290</sup> SCE proposes to calculate the RA adjustment by calculating the total MW of RA provided by all facilities in its Green Tariff pool and then multiplying the ratio of this total RA provided to total MW capacity of all facilities in the Green Tariff pool by the RA price adopted in the Cost Responsibility Surcharge.<sup>291</sup> At the time of evidentiary hearings, for illustrative purposes, SCE estimated the TOD at \$0.00/kWh and the RA at \$0.0063 cents per kWh.<sup>292</sup>

Because the proposed SCE SVA value would not be based on the profile for the Green Tariff pool of resources, the proposal does not meet the requirements of SB 43. In its CSIAL, SCE is instructed to calculate RA and TOD in the manner proposed by SDG&E and PG&E. The SVA should be based on the GTSR-dedicated resource, and the TOD value should reflect the differences between the TOD profile of the GTSR renewable resources and the class average TOD profile. Finally, as noted previously, for consistency between the utilities, we direct SCE to calculate the IA outside of the SVA.

CCSF argues that because PG&E provided only an illustrative SVA credit, the actual value remains uncertain and largely arbitrary. CCSF further asserts that, given this uncertainty, it is highly likely that the proposed credit will not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> Exhibit SCE-4 at 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> Exhibit SCE-04 at 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> SCE Opening Brief at 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> Id.

accurately reflect the actual TOD benefit (or cost) of the GTSR resources, and that any undercollection of costs (or overstatement of benefits) from GTSR customers will result in overcollection of costs from nonparticipants.<sup>293</sup> The same argument could be made for the illustrative values provided by SCE and SDG&E.

Like all of the rate components discussed in this section, the actual SVA calculation must be provided for review by Commission staff as part of the CSIAL. Concerns regarding the validity of the final amounts will be addressed through the Advice Letter process. For purposes of this decision, it is sufficient to approve the methodology for the calculation.

As modified above, we find that the SVA methodologies proposed by SDG&E, SCE and PG&E are reasonable, fair, and consistent with SB 43. In the Implementation Advice Letter, the three IOUs are directed to include additional details on the methodology, as well as the actual calculation to be included in 2015 GTSR rates.

#### 6.3.3. Additional Credits

SB 43 requires the Commission to include any other values applicable to eligible renewable energy resources contained in the GTSR portfolio.<sup>294</sup> While the three IOUs all agree to comply with this requirement, none of the three identify any additional credits for consideration at this time.

PG&E and the Settling Parties propose to include "any other CPUC-approved values applicable to the resources contained in the Green

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> CCSF Opening Brief at 16-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> Code Section 2833(m).

Option portfolio."<sup>295</sup> PG&E and the Settling Parties propose that these additional credits would only be applied to customers who subscribe for the first time after the credit value has been approved by the Commission.<sup>296</sup>

SCE also includes a placeholder for any "other CPUC-approved charges or values," but argues that such credits and charges are not required at this time.<sup>297</sup>

SDG&E does not expressly propose to include any other credits, but would consider "any generator locational grid or other benefits" if they have been properly approved through a Commission proceeding before being adopted in the GTSR Program.<sup>298</sup>

IREC and the Clean Coalition argue that additional credits should be included to reflect distribution system benefits for the GTSR program. IREC asserts that, unless the credits include a locational value, the proposed credits will undervalue solar facilities built for the GTSR Program.<sup>299</sup> IREC points out that SDG&E has recognized the benefits of "strategically-sited" solar facilities throughout SDG&E's testimony.<sup>300</sup> Benefits could include reduced line losses from GTSR resources compared to the SDG&E portfolio.

SDG&E believes that any generator locational grid or other benefits should be properly vetted in an appropriate Commission proceeding before being

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> Exhibit PG&E 01 at 1A-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> SCE-4 at 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> SDG&E Reply Brief at 31-33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> Exhibit IREC-01 at 24 – 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> For example, Witness Avery noted that facilities can be sited to take advantage of "optimal site location" and "where system benefits will be maximized and where system costs are minimized." (SDG&E-01 at 13 – 15.)

adopted in a program that aims to implement merely one facet of distributed renewables, community based renewable energy. <sup>301</sup> For example, SDG&E noted that while there may be reductions in transmission line losses as a result of siting, additional analysis would need to be completed in order to determine if there are calculable line loss differences. <sup>302</sup> SDG&E argues that such an undertaking is not appropriate at this early stage of the GTSR Program. <sup>303</sup>

The Commission agrees with SDG&E. The Commission recently instituted a new rulemaking, R.14-08-013, to evaluate locational grid benefits.<sup>304</sup> Locational grid benefits should first be addressed in R.14-08-013.

We direct the three IOUs to propose a methodology for calculating locational grid benefits into the GTSR program via a Tier 2 Advice Letter within 60 days of a decision in R.14-08-013. Any additional bill credits should be vetted through the Tier 3 Advice Letter process.

Although we agree that there is logic in limiting new credits to new customers, as a practical matter this is likely to lead to customers unsubscribing and then resubscribing to obtain the new credit. To avoid this customer churn, any new credit should be apply to all GTSR customers.

<sup>301</sup> SDG&E Reply Brief at 31-33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> Exhibit SDG&E-03 at 14-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup> Exhibit SDG&E-03 at 14-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup> This evaluation is required by AB 327, Stats. 2013, ch. 611, which directs the Commission to "[e]valuate locational benefits and costs of distributed resources located on the distribution system. This evaluation shall be based on reductions or increases in local generation capacity needs, avoided or increased investments in distribution infrastructure, safety benefits, reliability benefits, and any other savings the distributed resources provide to the electric grid or costs to ratepayers of the electric corporation."

### 6.4. IREC Rate Design Proposals

IREC argues that the IOUs' rate designs would result in some benefits of the GTSR Program being distributed to non-participating ratepayers, thus violating SB 43's requirement of ratepayer indifference.<sup>305</sup> As noted above, IREC is particularly concerned with locational benefits, such as reduced line losses and reduced transmission costs. IREC argues that using the class average generation rate as the measure of avoided cost does not provide the right level of ratepayer indifference. IREC argues that a long-term avoided cost methodology should be used and that it can be based on the cost-benefit methodologies developed for valuing distributed generation.

IREC proposed two alternative rate designs. The first proposal would credit GTSR customers for the cost of a new renewable energy facility if the long-term avoided-cost benefits of the facility exceed its costs. The second proposal would fix the credits available to GTSR customers, and lengthen the time horizon used to calculate those credits such that longer-term benefits of GTSR (*e.g.*, avoided natural gas costs achieved through forward market pricing) are captured in the customer's bill credit.<sup>306</sup>

SDG&E disagrees with IREC's reasoning, and points out that some long-term benefits of renewable energy are captured by their rate design proposal. For example, they argue that the benefit of renewable energy as a hedge against future volatility of natural gas prices is captured by the class average commodity cost credited to a GTSR customer's bill.<sup>307</sup> According to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup> IREC Opening Brief at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> IREC Opening Brief at 13-14.

<sup>307</sup> SDG&E Reply Brief at 27.

TURN, this hedge against rising fuel prices is lost under IREC's proposal.<sup>308</sup> TURN argues that the cost-benefit analysis relied on for IREC's first proposal is not appropriate for use in this context. The cost-benefit analysis was developed to "determine the cost effectiveness of incentives of [distributed generation] projects up to 5 MW and located behind the customer meter."<sup>309</sup> This analysis was not intended to be used to develop retail rates.

Although we have used proxy values derived from other proceedings (such as the PCIA which was designed for customers leaving bundled service), in this instance we agree with TURN and SDG&E that IREC's proposal to use the cost-benefit analysis from D.09-08-026 will not ensure ratepayer indifference. Although SB 43 is intended to encourage siting close to load, it is not limited to distribution level assets and project size can be much greater than the 5 MWs contemplated by D.09-08-026.

Under IREC's second proposal, the GTSR customer would have the "pricing certainty" of a fixed premium or credit for the GTSR energy for the term of the customer's contract.<sup>310</sup> The values would be extended to reflect the long-term value of GTSR generation. IREC argues that a one-year subscription using this methodology would result in approximately the same customer cost for one year, but would result in savings for the customer who signs up for the long term. IREC assumes that the customer will be able to enter into a long-term arrangement for the GTSR energy. However, because this decision adopts a

<sup>308</sup> TURN Reply Brief at 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> TURN Reply Brief at 6 (citing D.09-08-026 at 5.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup> IREC Opening Brief at 13.

one-year maximum commitment, the benefits to the customer of IREC's second proposal would not materialize.

This proceeding is not the appropriate venue for modeling long-term avoided costs of renewable energy. The SB 43 requirement to use class average generation rate, coupled with the rate credits and charges proposed by the IOUs, provide sufficient certainty and ratepayer indifference for both participating and non-participating customers. As noted above, if new locational or renewable values are developed in other proceedings, GTSR rates can be adjusted following appropriate Commission process.

#### 6.5. Cost Recovery

The IOUs were not consistent in their proposals for tracking and recovering costs associated with the GTSR Program. PG&E proposes to track costs in its balancing account and SDG&E proposes to track them in a separate memorandum account.<sup>311</sup> SCE also plans to use a balancing account to track any over collection or undercollection of GTSR costs from GTSR customers.<sup>312</sup>

After review of the proposals and the record, we have determined that for each utility a balancing account is necessary to track the costs and revenues of the program. In addition, a memorandum account is necessary to track the program administrative and marketing costs.

The IOUs plan to use internal orders to track shared costs. SDG&E proposes to create internal orders for the GTSR Program and to work with the business groups supporting the program's implementation and management to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 19-20.

<sup>312</sup> Exhibit SCE-4 at 51.

track their time and charge or allocate such costs to the internal orders. The costs in the internal orders flow to the memorandum account.<sup>313</sup>

The CSIAL will include details of the rate charges and credits approved in this decision and the procedural mechanism by which the utility will recover the costs.<sup>314</sup> Each IOU may set up these accounts as part of its CSIAL or as part of a separate Tier 2 Advice Letter.

Any subsequent modifications to the rate credits or charges approved in this decision shall be proposed by the IOU in a Tier 2 Advice Letter filing.<sup>315</sup> Changes to the rate structure not contemplated by this decision, however, must be approved by application.

# 6.6. California Alternate Rates for Energy (CARE)

California Alternate Rates for Energy (CARE) is a program that reduces the cost of electricity for qualified low-income customers. SB 43 requires that the rate design for the GTSR Program maintain ratepayer indifference between participating and non-participating customers. Specifically, the rate design cannot shift costs from participating customers to nonparticipating customers. At the same time, CARE has its own statutory requirements, including a provision that the "entire discount shall be provided in the form of a reduction in the overall bill for the eligible CARE customer." 316

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 19, 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> See PG&E Exhibit-01 at 1A-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup> PG&E Exhibit-01 at 1A-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup> Code Section 739.1(c) reads in its entirety as follows: In establishing CARE discounts for an electrical corporation with 100,000 or more customer accounts in California, the commission shall ensure all of the following:

In order to not shift costs to non-participating customers, SDG&E proposed that CARE customers receive a CARE discount equal to what they would have received under the default tariff. However, it is not clear that this approach satisfies the statutory requirements of both Code Section 2833 and Code Section 739.

By statute, the GTSR Program must be marketed to low-income and minority communities and customers.<sup>317</sup> In enacting SB 43, the Legislature specifically found that the GTSR Program should expand access to renewable energy "to all ratepayers who are currently unable to access the benefits of onsite

- (1) The average effective CARE discount shall not be less than 30 percent or more than 35 percent of the revenues that would have been produced for the same billed usage by non-CARE customers. The average effective discount determined by the commission shall reflect any charges not paid by CARE customers, including payments for the California Solar Initiative, payments for the self-generation incentive program made pursuant to Section 379.6, payment of the separate rate component to fund the CARE program made pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 381, payments made to the Department of Water Resources pursuant to Division 27 (commencing with Section 80000) of the Water Code, and any discount in a fixed charge. The average effective CARE discount shall be calculated as a weighted average of the CARE discounts provided to individual customers.
- (2) If an electrical corporation provides an average effective CARE discount in excess of the maximum percentage specified in paragraph (1), the electrical corporation shall not reduce, on an annual basis, the average effective CARE discount by more than a reasonable percentage decrease below the discount in effect on January 1, 2013, or that the electrical corporation had been authorized to place in effect by that date.
- (3) The entire discount shall be provided in the form of a reduction in the overall bill for the eligible CARE customer.

<sup>317</sup> Code Section 2833(j)

generation."<sup>318</sup> It is therefore essential that application of the CARE discount be thoroughly addressed and resolved.

The Commission is currently examining the CARE program in the IOUs' consolidated applications for CARE and Energy Savings Assistance programs (A.14-11-007 consolidated). Participants in A.14-11-007 include a wide variety of stakeholders interested in the structure and funding of the CARE discount. In addition, A.14-11-007 looks at the CARE program as a whole. For these reasons, further consideration of the CARE discount for GTSR customers should be directed to A.14-11-007. A prehearing conference in A.14-11-007 has been scheduled for February 20, 2015. In order to expeditiously address the CARE discount for the GTSR Program, a joint ruling will be issued to parties in both proceedings. This joint ruling will provide specific direction for parties on the next procedural steps for addressing this legal issue.

Concurrently, Phase IV of this proceeding will look at other mechanisms to increase the affordability and accessibility of the GTSR Program.

In the event that a decision in A.14-11-007 requires changes to advice letters required in this proceeding, the IOU must file a Tier 3 advice letter reflecting the changes within 30 days after issuance of the A.14-11-007.

## 7. Marketing

## 7.1. Marketing Requirement

GTSR Program marketing must inform and attract sufficient customers to make the GTSR Program successful. At the same time, the marketing must be cost-effective and not unfairly target CCA and potential CCA customers. In addition, SB 43 requires that "[t]o the extent possible" the IOUs must "actively

<sup>318</sup> Code Section 2831(b).

market" the GTSR Program to "low-income and minority communities and customers." 319

Because the calculation of a GTSR Program customer's CARE discount will be an important aspect in marketing of the program, we direct the IOUs to limit marketing efforts until this legal issue is resolved in A.14-11-007. For example, the IOUs may begin planning marketing strategies, but will need to wait before implementing them. In addition, it may be necessary for the IOUs to amend their MIAL to reflect the decision in A.14-11-007. Therefore, we direct each IOU to file a Tier 3 advice letter within 30 days after issuance of a decision in A.14-11-007 containing any necessary changes to the marketing and outreach plans.

#### 7.2. Marketing Proposals

In coordination with other SDG&E services, SDG&E will educate customers using various forms of communication, including local media, electronic communications, messages on customer bills, and SDG&E's website. 320 SDG&E proposes a web-based interface, which will include program information, enrollment information and forms, Frequently Asked Questions, interactive tools to support customer choice in the program, and contact information. The online tools are intended to help customers understand different participation levels, billing impacts, available options, and how the customer's participation translates into environmental benefits. 321

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>319</sup> Code Section 2833(j).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> SDG&E Opening Comments at 20.

In addition, SDG&E will work with local communities, local multi-cultural organizations and media, environmental groups, and other stakeholders to assist with outreach.<sup>322</sup> Where practicable, SDG&E will use multi-lingual marketing materials, ethnic media, and its Customer Assistance Programs outreach channels to disseminate program information to multicultural and low-income customers. SDG&E will ensure its outreach clearly communicates that participation may result in a higher bill.<sup>323</sup> SDG&E proposes that its customers be able to enroll online, with the option of working with an SDG&E representative to assist with enrollment.<sup>324</sup>

PG&E will provide tools for prospective customers to make informed decisions about enrollment in the program. These tools will enable customers to determine the cost of the program, their likely net bill impact based upon their historical usage, and the potential GHG reduction benefits associated with their considered level of enrollment. PG&E will regularly report the quantity of benefits achieved by subscriptions.<sup>325</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup>SDG&E Opening Brief at 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> PG&E Opening Brief at 17, citing Section 3.6.3 of the PG&E Partial Settlement. Section 2833(v) requires the IOUs to provide municipalities with data on consumption to allow municipalities to calculate progress toward local climate action goals. It is not clear if the PG&E Partial Settlement requires PG&E to quantify "benefits" other than GHG reduction. The exact language of the PG&E Partial Settlement state "PG&E shall present Green Option participation information using an internet-based interface to allow prospective participating customers to determine total bill impacts and GHG reductions in useful metrics. PG&E will regularly report to participating commercial and residential customers the **quantity of benefits** achieved by their subscriptions, either collectively, or where possible, on an individual basis."

For outreach to diverse and disadvantaged communities, PG&E will utilize the existing network of community-based organizations and local and ethnic media such as newspapers, radio, and television.<sup>326</sup> PG&E proposes that customers be able to enroll in the program via any of three channels: website, call center, or hard copy (bill inserts or other printed material).<sup>327</sup>

SCE proposes a marketing and outreach plan that incorporates both broad-based marketing and targeted marketing directed at particular groups of customers. Low-income and minority customers will receive "appropriate" levels of outreach.<sup>328</sup> SCE's broad-based marketing efforts will include bill inserts and an online portal, while more targeted efforts will include an "Intelligent Delivery" marketing system that tailors communication according to a consumer's specific profile and likelihood of adopting GTSR.<sup>329</sup>

CEJA believes that the marketing proposals of both SDG&E and PG&E are inadequate.<sup>330</sup> CEJA recommends that enrollment information and customer service support should be in the dominant languages of the area and that the utilities should work with local community and ethnic groups to enroll customers in low-income and predominantly minority areas. CEJA encourages non-digital enrollment channels and recommends that the utilities provide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> PG&E Opening Brief at 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> PG&E Opening Brief at 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> Exhibit SCE-4 at 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>329</sup> Exhibit SCE-4 at 43-44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>330</sup> CEJA Opening Brief at 8.

education about billing impacts both over the phone and online before enrollment.<sup>331</sup>

The Joint Parties believe that in-language marketing materials should not be optional because SB 43 imposes this obligation and because California's diverse communities will be more likely to sign up with in-language marketing. In addition, the Joint Parties view in-language marketing as a necessary step in "conscientious and cautious" marketing to low-income and minority communities.<sup>332</sup> For example, in-language marketing materials can protect customers by explaining the benefits, and possible detriments, of enrollment.<sup>333</sup>

In comments on the decision, Joint Parties suggest that marketing materials should be produced in languages spoken by more than 250,000 people in an IOU's service territory. We direct the IOUs to respond to this proposed threshold in their MIAL.

ORA recommends that PG&E should provide the in-depth tools, information, and details that SDG&E has proposed and that SDG&E should adopt PG&E's plan to regularly report on the benefits achieved through customer subscriptions. ORA also recommends that the IOUs include progress report sections and early termination calculation tools on their websites.<sup>334</sup>

ORA proposes specific restrictions on marketing that ORA believes are similar to those imposed on Southern California Gas Company in D.13-12-040 and D.12-12-037.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup> CEJA Opening Brief at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup> Joint Parties Opening Brief at 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>333</sup> Joint Parties Opening Brief at 2-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>334</sup> ORA Reply Comments at 21.

- The IOUs will be precluded from using bill inserts to market the GTSR program.
- Concerning the IOUs' website and call center, the IOUs shall adopt the policy that the web postings and marketing scripts of the IOU should be reviewed as part of an Advice Letter for the tariffing of this service to ensure that the web posting and marketing scripts do not provide an unfair advantage to the IOU. In particular, the IOU shall post on its website a list of others offering green-tariff programs or community shared renewables programs within its territory.<sup>335</sup>

We approve the IOU proposed marketing plans as a starting point. We agree with ORA that all three IOUs should provide the in-depth tools, information, and details that SDG&E has proposed and regularly report on the benefits achieved through customer subscriptions as described by PG&E.

Of the additional protections recommended by ORA, we agree that prohibiting bill inserts would provide protection for the CCAs, but we do not see such a prohibition as a customer protection. There is no basis for not allowing IOUs to include information on new tariffs with customer bills. Therefore, the IOUs may use bill inserts to market their GTSR Program. The IOUs are, of course, required to comply with the CCA Code of Conduct.<sup>336</sup> It is noteworthy, given MCE's concerns about bill inserts, that the CCA Code of Conduct recognizes that "[c]ommunications that are part of a specific program that is authorized or approved" by this Commission are not part of the 'marketing' covered by the CCA Code of Conduct.<sup>337</sup> To alleviate the concerns of CCAs,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>335</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup> The CCA Code of Conduct is Attachment 1 to D.12-12-036.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>337</sup> CCA Code of Conduct, Attachment 1, Rule 1) ii).

however, we require that marketing plans include a description of how the IOUs will avoid selective marketing in areas where CCA exist or where a CCA implementation plan has been adopted by a local authority.

The utilities are directed to develop detailed marketing plans in consultation with their advisory group or advising network and include these plans in the Marketing Implementation Advice Letters. At a minimum, these marketing plans must include:

- The elements included in their existing proposed marketing plans described above;
- Estimated budget and metrics;
- Marketing evaluation plans and schedules;
- Activities that will be performed;
- Tools, information, and details that will be provided to customers;
- Use of multi-lingual messaging and non-digital marketing channels in diverse cultural communities, consistent with SB 43;<sup>338</sup>
- Role of advisory group and/or description of community outreach efforts;
- Outreach to low-income and vulnerable customers;
- Description of how the IOUs will avoid selective marketing in areas where CCA exists or where a CCA implementation plan has been adopted by a local authority;
- Use of both digital and non-digital enrollment, including website, call center, and hardcopy; and,

<sup>338</sup> Code Section 2833(j).

 Proposal for annual marketing and budget plans to be approved, via advice letter. Including quantitative assessments of the effectiveness of the prior year's marketing campaigns.

### 7.3. ECR Marketing

IOUs will also be marketing to ECR customers. Marketing by third party developers and others interested in selling power to the IOU under ECR must also comply with the marketing requirements. Specifically, marketing by third parties cannot be used to circumvent the CCA Code of Conduct and it must clearly communicate benefits and risks of subscribing. In particular, when marketing to residential customers, developers must not use misleading or aggressive sales tactics.<sup>339</sup>

The Joint Parties advocate for oversight of marketing by solar providers participating in ECR, including, if necessary, limiting marketing to the IOUs. The Joint Parties' concerns about unregulated solar providers marketing tactics are noted. We agree that aggressive or misleading sales tactics must be curbed. However, limiting marketing to the IOUs would limit the ability of solar providers to develop innovative structures for community-based distribution-level projects. Section 4.10 above finds that these types of projects are essential to the ECR component. Therefore, we require the IOUs to actively review the marketing materials and information submitted to them by GTSR Program bidders.

Although the Commission and the IOUs do not have direct oversight over these developers, the Commission does have authority to approve or disapprove IOU contracts. Therefore, as part of their bid packages, and as part of the IOU's

 $<sup>^{339}</sup>$  The Joint Parties cite R.14-03-002 regarding marketing of natural gas, which has seen "misleading and belligerent sales tactics." (Joint Parties Opening at 6 citing OIR 1403002 at 4.)

evaluation of the bid packages, the developer must provide documentation that their marketing complied with these requirements.

In their MIAL, the IOUs must also set forth the details of their ECR marketing program and the steps that will be taken to ensure that third party marketing campaigns are also compliant.

### 8. Reporting and Information Sharing

Throughout this decision we have described many areas where it is essential to have reporting and information sharing in order to ensure GTSR Program success and to improve design of future programs.

The parties themselves proposed many valuable reporting tools. For example, PG&E proposes to report in three main areas: Revenue and Cost Reporting, Enrollment Reporting, and Marketing Campaign Tracking.<sup>340</sup> PG&E and SDG&E propose to provide information to municipalities on consumption and benefits resulting from the program.<sup>341</sup> We agree that this data sharing is useful and necessary to success of the GTSR Program.

We find that reporting requirements are an important part of the program, and we direct the utilities to submit the following reports to the Commission. No party disagreed with the value of the reports that the IOUs propose to make. The list below contains the uncontested proposed reports of the IOUs (including reports described in the PG&E Partial Settlement), as well as the additional reporting requirements discussed elsewhere in this decision.

## • Monthly GTSR Program Progress Reports.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup> Exhibit PG&E-01 at 2-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup> Exhibit SDG&E at 39; Exhibit PG&E-01 at 1A-15.

#### o Content:

- "Available capacity" data at the most detailed level feasible, updated monthly, and work to increase the precision of the information over time.
- Summary of monthly advisory group activities, or consultation with CBOs, if any.
- These reports shall be publicly filed, without redaction, with the Commission's Executive Director, with a copy to the Director of the Energy Division and all parties listed as "Appearances" in this consolidated proceeding.

### Annual GTSR Program Progress Reports.

#### Content:

- Enrollment Reporting, including "available capacity" data at the most detailed level feasible, updated monthly, and work to increase the precision of the information over time.
- One page summary tracking the amount and cost of generation transferred between the RPS and GTSR Program.
- GTSR Revenue and Cost Reporting summary.
- Summary of advisory group or advising network activities, including information regarding frequency of meetings, topics discussed, and any other relevant information.
- Marketing Report, containing the elements listed in Section 7 above.
- CCA Code of Conduct report. If applicable, summarize any marketing or lobbying efforts that are, or could reasonably be interpreted to be, subject to the CCA Code of Conduct.
- Supplier diversity.
- Summary of CARE enrollment figures including location; location of CARE customers in relation to areas eligible for EJ Projects and in relation to planned or existing EJ Projects.

- Reports of fraud or misleading advertisements received through meetings with an advisory group of advising network.
- If customer profile information is available, summary of enrollment figures for low-income customers and subscribers who speak a language other than English at home.
- Due Date: An interim report is due on August 15, 2015.
   Thereafter, the report will be due annually on March 15 2016, 2017, 2018, and 2019 covering the required information for the previous calendar year (with the August 14, 2015 report containing data for January 1 June 30, 2015).
- These reports shall be publicly filed, without redaction, with the Commission's Executive Director, with a copy to the Director of the Energy Division and all parties listed as "Appearances" in this consolidated proceeding.

### • Annual Tier 2 Advice Letter Regarding Rate Design.

- Tier 2 Advice Letter File summarizing true-up of costs and revenue against charges and credits applied to GTSR customer bills. Include workpapers.
- o File annually.

# • Aggregated Consumption Data for Municipalities

- Aggregated consumption data for participating customers.
- GHG reductions and any other benefits achieved by participating customers by municipality.
- o Annually, if requested by municipality.

# • Reporting Requirements on ECR Contracts

- On a quarterly basis, each IOU shall submit a report summarizing ECR contracts to date including information on the diversity in ownership, location, and transaction structure. For each new PPA, the IOU shall include the following documentation:
  - Copy of securities opinion and signed contract including rider.

- o Project-specific rate structure and illustrative rates.
- Documentation of community interest.
- Summary of ECR contracts to date including information on the diversity in ownership, location, and transaction structure.

. For certain reporting requirements, IOUs are required to use the JPIAL to jointly propose standards for reports and content. For the remaining reports, the IOUs are directed to include a list of reports and anticipated content in their CSIAL.

# 8.1. Annual Renewable Procurement Standard Procurement Plan

In addition to the publicly available reports above, the IOUs must modify future RPS Procurement Plans to include reporting on the GTSR Program. IOUs should include a description of the planned reports in its PIAL.

# 8.2. Program Forum

With a new program involving many potential stakeholders, the Commission has found it useful to include a process for stakeholders to meet and evaluate the progress of the program, as well as to quickly implement changes consistent with the underlying decision and law.

The IOUs are directed to hold a program forum once per year in order to meet with project developers and discuss the project developer experience participating in the GTSR Program (including ECR, RAM, ReMAT, and EJ). The IOUs are required to:

- Notice all stakeholders of the date, time, location and methods for participation for each program forum;
- Issue a request for feedback from all stakeholders after the close of each solicitation in order to inform the agenda for the program forum;

- Provide CPUC staff with a draft of the agenda at least 14 days prior to the program forum;
- At the program forum, the IOUs shall provide sufficient time to address key issues identified in the request for feedback and the independent evaluator's report;
- At the program forum, the IOUs shall provide sufficient time for stakeholders to discuss their experience with the solicitation, interconnection process, or the program in general; and,
- Arrange for independent evaluator hired by the IOUs to participate in the program forum.

In the event the program forum reveals improvements that can be made to the GTSR Program without material changes to the rules set forth in this decision, such changes can be implemented by ruling in this proceeding.

# 9. Competitive Neutrality and Consistency with Legal Protections for Competitive Market

# 9.1. Policy to Ensure Fair Competition in Retail Energy Markets

Throughout this century, California has endeavored to increase customer choice and promote efficient generation of electricity by allowing the development of a competitive retail energy market. This policy has led to a variety of choices for customers, regulated utilities, municipalities, and third parties. Today retail customers have alternatives to the default utility rate. For example, the regulated utilities offer a variety of opt-in tariffs, which are regulated and approved by the Commission. Local governments are able to form CCAs which provide an option for ratepayers in their area. Third parties have also been permitted to sign up retail customers, but, currently, this DA option is largely restricted to existing enrollees.

When customers stay with their IOU, they are known as bundled customers. When a customer moves to a different provider, they become an

unbundled customer. The utility, CCA or DA provider takes the role of "load serving entity" and takes on responsibility for ensuring there are adequate resources for their customers.

For CCAs and DA to remain viable, it is important that the IOUs not be allowed to engage in anticompetitive behavior. The Commission has developed rules to prevent this behavior. As part of this decision, we must consider how those rules apply to the proposed GTSR Program.

#### 9.2. Direct Access

DA, as originally implemented in Code Section 365, allowed customers to purchase their electricity from electricity suppliers other than their default provider (typically, the IOU).<sup>342</sup> However, the DA program was largely suspended in 2001.<sup>343</sup> At that time, the legislature limited the right of retail enduse customers to acquire service from other providers. "Other providers" is defined to include entities authorized to provide electric service within the service territory of an electrical corporation, and to exclude CCAs.<sup>344</sup> Existing DA customers were allowed to continue to purchase their electricity from their DA provider. Starting in 2009, the law permits a limited number of new DA transactions annually.<sup>345</sup> However, for the most part energy service providers (ESPs) who would like to provide DA service continue to be restricted in their efforts to enroll new customers because of statutory limits.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>342</sup> Code Section 365(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup> See D.01-09-060 and Code Sections 366 or 366.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>344</sup> Code Section 365.1(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup> Code Section 365.1.

Shell argues that the Commission should not allow the IOUs to "leverage their status as incumbent utilities to offer retail customers a new procurement service option that is subsidized by non-participating customers and that cannot be offered by third party renewable energy suppliers." <sup>346</sup> Shell argues that the utilities proposed implementation of SB 43 would constitute DA, and thus should be subject to the limits of Section 365.1(b) as implemented by D.10-03-022. Shell asserts that the utilities, by offering Green Tariff and ECR, would become "other providers" within the meaning of Code Section 365.1(a), and thus should be subject to the limits on "direct transactions" set forth in Code Sections 365.1(a) and (b). In Shell's view, the only way to avoid violating direct access laws is to allow ESPs, like Shell, to serve as an intermediary between the retail customer and the renewable generator, with the utility acting as a conduit for the power and payments. <sup>347</sup>

Contrary to Shell's assertion, the GTSR Program does not constitute DA. The key element of DA is the act of switching from the incumbent utility to a third party provider. Here, customers remain with the incumbent utility. TURN correctly explains that the act of switching to a new tariff offered by the existing provider does not trigger the DA limits.<sup>348</sup> The GTSR Program is a tariffed program which can be chosen by the customer just as the customer can choose from the many other tariffs available.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>346</sup> Shell Opening Brief at 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>347</sup> Shell Opening Brief at 8-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup> TURN Reply Brief at 28 ("The statutory provisions relate to the act of a customer switching to another retail provider rather than opting for another product offering by the same retail provider.").

In addition, SB 43 by its clear language directs the utilities to offer a GTSR Program to its customers.<sup>349</sup> TURN points out that SB 43 explicitly authorizes the specific structure of the utility proposals.<sup>350</sup> CCUE argues that the fundamental characteristic of DA is that an entity other than the utility becomes an end-use customer's retail provider, and that in all three GTSR proposals the IOUs remain solely responsible for providing full load serving entity requirements for the customer's energy use.<sup>351</sup> SDG&E argues that "[i]t would contradict the purpose of SB 43 to force customers to look outside of the utility when choosing to expand their renewable energy commitment.<sup>352</sup> SCE also criticizes Shell's arguments, making clear that GTSR is simply one rate option among several for SCE's bundled customers – and that in any event SB 43 requires SCE to make the option available for its consumers.<sup>353</sup>

The GTSR Program proposed by the IOUs, in accordance with SB 43, do not make the IOUs "other providers," within the meaning of Section 365.1(a). Both SDG&E and PG&E are "electrical corporations" within the meaning of Section 218. Section 365.1(a) defines "other provider" as "any person, corporation, or other entity that is authorized to provide electric service within the service territory of an electrical corporation . . . and includes an aggregator, broker, or marketer, as defined in Section 331, and an electric service provider, as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup> Code § 2833(d) ("[a] participating utility shall permit customers within the service territory of the utility to purchase electricity pursuant to the tariff approved by the Commission to implement the utility's green tariff shared renewable program ... ").

<sup>350</sup> TURN Reply Brief at 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup> CCUE Reply Brief at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>352</sup>SDG&E Opening Brief at 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>353</sup> SCE Reply Brief at 25.

defined in Section 218.3." It is therefore clear that, as a matter of law, the IOUs cannot be considered "other providers" pursuant to Section 365.1(a) when they are offering a product the Legislature has required them to offer. Here, as SDG&E points out, Shell is seeking a way around the current limits on enrolling new customers in DA.<sup>354</sup> Shell is able to offer a similar green tariff to its existing customers; it just cannot enroll new customers.<sup>355</sup>

Ironically, in discussing ECR, Shell also contends the opposite: that the GTSR Program described under SB 43 does not constitute DA, and that therefore third parties, such as Shell, should be permitted to offer the service directly to customers.<sup>356</sup>

Shell argues that the rules for customers to participate in IOU GTSR Program is "substantially more relaxed" than the rules for DA,<sup>357</sup> but the problem lies with current limits on new DA subscriptions. A DA provider can compete by offering its own version of the GTSR products to its existing DA customers.

#### 9.3. Affiliate Transaction Rules

Like DA, affiliate transaction rules were developed in the late 1990s when the electricity market in California was undergoing a restructuring. The affiliate transaction rules are the rules by which an unregulated affiliate of a regulated utility can offer services. The Commission's primary concern in developing these rules was to ensure that the unregulated affiliates would not unfairly

 $<sup>^{354}\,\</sup>mathrm{SDG\&E}$  Opening Brief at 27 (SDG&E states "the complaint is with current DA policy").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>355</sup> Transcript (Ingwers) at 413-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>356</sup> Shell Opening Brief at 17-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>357</sup> Shell Opening Brief at 10.

benefit from their relationship with the regulated utility. The Commission explained: "With the advent of the marketplace characterized by increasing competition, we wish to ensure that utilities' market power does not discourage competition." 358

The key is that the regulated utility is subject to Commission oversight, including ratesetting, while the affiliate is not. Because the GTSR Program is separately tariffed programs of the utilities, not offered by affiliates, they do not violate the affiliate transaction rules. They are not subject to the reporting rules of affiliates—they are subject to the Commission's approval of the tariff. As long as the product is tariffed and approved by the Commission, it does not need to be offered by an affiliate. This is logical, because through the tariff approval process, the Commission and interested parties have the opportunity to review the proposal, and the Commission has the opportunity to approve or disapprove the proposed tariff.<sup>359</sup>

Several parties interested in serving end users argue that affiliate rules should apply. Shell asserts the GTSR tariff is "inconsistent with the utilities' role as the 'default' supplier of electric commodity service to retail customers." <sup>360</sup> We disagree. Not only is it not inconsistent, the IOUs already offer a variety of opt-in tariffs for retail customers. And SB 43 clearly envisions the structure the utilities have proposed. <sup>361</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>358</sup> D.97-12-088 at 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>359</sup> See, Affiliate Transaction Rules Section VII(C), as set forth in D.06-12-029.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup> Shell Opening Brief at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>361</sup> See, e.g., SDG&E argument that SB 43 requires "that the offering be to the utility's bundled customers as part of its obligation to serve." SDG&E Opening Brief at 21.

ORA proposed that in order to satisfactorily track the costs of the GTSR Program it should be offered by an affiliate or another entity and subject to the reporting rules of an affiliate.<sup>362</sup> In its Reply Brief, after acknowledging the Commission's possible reluctance to require the IOUs to offer the Green Tariff product through a separate affiliate, ORA stated "[w]hat ORA is really seeking is ratepayer indifference, adequate accounting, and transparency/auditing capability. If the Commission believes these goals—which SB 43 requires—can be accomplished with rules that are akin to affiliate rules without the physical separation, ORA would not oppose such a finding."<sup>363</sup>

We find that the GTSR Program approved in this decision does not violate the Affiliate Transaction rules.

# 9.4. Adherence to the Provisions of the CCA of Code of Conduct

CCAs are governmental entities formed by cities and counties to serve the energy requirements of their local residents and businesses. In 2002, the legislature expressed the state's policy to permit and facilitate development of CCAs.<sup>364</sup> Then, in 2011, the legislature enacted SB 790, which directed the Commission to consider and adopt a code of conduct, rules, and enforcement procedures governing the conduct of electrical corporations relative to the consideration, formation, and implementation of CCAs. This formal Code of Conduct was adopted in 2012.<sup>365</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup> See, ORA-011 at 3-17; 17-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> ORA Reply Brief at 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup> See, AB 117, Stats 2002, ch. 838.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>365</sup> D.12-12-036 at Attachment 1.

SB 790 found that "[e]lectrical corporations have inherent market power derived from, among other things, name recognition among customers, longstanding relationships with customers, . . . [and] access to competitive customer information."<sup>366</sup> D.12-12-036 noted that "[u]nfair practices by any market participant, and particularly one with market power, may result in a reduction in customer choices, contrary to the public interest."<sup>367</sup> The Commission rules were intended to accomplish the goals of SB 790 without placing more restrictions than necessary on load-serving entities.<sup>368</sup>

# 9.4.1. Concerns About Marketing in CCA Territories

MCE asserts that "[t]here is little doubt that the GTO Program will compete with CCA programs and municipal programs that provide similar products" MCE is concerned that PG&E's proposed shareholder backstop for administrative and marketing costs would result in no cap on marketing costs or restrictions on targeted marketing, resulting in anticompetitive impacts on MCE. In addition, MCE argues that the use of existing websites and customer service personnel is anticompetitive. MCE is also concerned about the potential for IOUs to selectively market in areas where CCAs are operating or under consideration. MCE

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>366</sup> SB 780, § 2(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>367</sup> D.12-12-036 at 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>368</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup> MCE Opening Brief at 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>370</sup> MCE Reply Brief at 5-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>371</sup> MCE Reply Brief at 6.

The Code of Conduct defines basic concepts related to CCAs, including "marketing" and "lobbying." Of particular importance to the concerns raised by MCE, is the Code of Conduct's special requirement for the utility to have an independent marketing division in the event that the utility "intends to market against actual or potential CCAs within its territory." The independent marketing division would not have access to competitively sensitive information. Under the Code of Conduct, a utility that intends to 'market against' CCAs must meet certain reporting requirements and is subject to periodic audits to assess compliance with the Code of Conduct. Marketing falls outside the Code of Conduct restrictions if it meets one or both of the following criteria: (1) utilities may communicate about energy supply services and rates to customers if that information is provided throughout the utility's service territory; and/or (2) does not reference any CCA Program. 373

If a utility intends to market or lobby specifically against a CCA, it must submit a compliance plan in accordance with the Code of Conduct.<sup>374</sup> The plan must demonstrate that there are adequate procedures in effect to prevent sharing of information with the independent marketing division. The Code of Conduct requires each IOU to file a plan demonstrating compliance, or indicate that it does not intend to engage in marketing against a CCA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>372</sup> D.12-12-036 at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup> Code of Conduct Rule 1(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>374</sup> Code of Conduct Rule 22.

To date, none of the IOUs have filed a valid compliance plan.<sup>375</sup> As such, they are precluded from selective marketing in areas where CCA exists and this Decision not only reiterates that boundary, but specifically requires that the GTSR marketing plan describe how the plan will avoid selective marketing in a CCA territory. SDG&E, SCE and PG&E all assure the Commission that they will abide by the CCA Code of Conduct. PG&E states that "as described in detail several times in PG&E's pleadings and testimony in this proceeding, PG&E's marketing and customer communications on its GTSR Program will comply fully with the Commission's CCA "code of conduct" rules for utility services."<sup>376</sup> SDG&E, citing Ordering Paragraphs 1 and 2 of D.12-12-036, "agrees to abide by the CCA Code of Conduct, which includes strict marketing and outreach requirements relative to CCAs."<sup>377</sup> SCE plainly states that "SCE will comply with the CCA Code of Conduct."<sup>378</sup>

In order to ensure that marketing of the GTSR Program complies with the CCA Code of Conduct, each of the three IOUs is hereby directed to include GTSR marketing in any CCA Code of Conduct plan filed in the future. All selective marketing in current or potential CCA territories<sup>379</sup> is prohibited.

ORA proposes that the GTSR Program be subject to protections similar to those imposed on Southern California Gas Company in D.13-12-040 and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>375</sup> PG&E filed a compliance plan, but the plan was rejected and as of the date of this Decision a plan has not been resubmitted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>376</sup> PG&E Opening Brief at 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>377</sup> SDG&E Opening Brief at 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup> SCE Reply Brief at 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>379</sup> As used in this decision the term "potential CCA" has the same meaning as the term "potential CCA" as referenced in the CCA Code of Conduct, as attached to D.12-12-036.

D.12-12-037.<sup>380</sup> For purposes of marketing, ORA suggests two specific protections, which are reasonable and appropriate.

First, because CCAs, unlike the IOUs, do not have continuing access to bill inserts,<sup>381</sup> ORA requests that the IOUs be prohibited from using bill inserts to market GTSR. As previously stated, we decline to do so.

Second, ORA suggests specific policies for review and approval of marketing on the IOU's website and scripts used by the call center. ORA suggests that this review and approval be done by the Energy Division pursuant to the Advice Letter process.<sup>382</sup> While we agree that this review would help ensure fair marketing, the Advice Letter process is too cumbersome for review of specific marketing materials. The Public Advisor's Office (PAO), however, is well-qualified and experienced in reviewing marketing materials and can call on the Energy Division (as suggested by ORA) or on the Legal Division (as suggested by MCE) for subject matter expertise as it sees fit. Therefore, material developed by the IOUs that contains information on CCA green tariff programs, or otherwise references CCAs, shall be submitted to the PAO for review prior to use.

We direct the Commission's PAO to review and approve the wording in any of these marketing materials. This will provide some oversight without causing unnecessary time delays in developing marketing materials. It also provides a resource to resolve disputes between the utility and the CCA about the contents of the marketing materials.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>380</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 45-46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>381</sup> MCE Opening Brief at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>382</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 46.

# 9.4.2. Concerns About Use of Existing Utility Resources

MCE asserts that existing GTSR proposals provide PG&E and SDG&E with competitive advantages that are unavailable to CCAs and other competitors, thus violating the principle of competitive neutrality established in state law and past Commission decisions.<sup>383</sup> In addition to the concern about shared marketing resources described above, MCE and ORA identify further IOU specific privileges: the IOUs' use of existing RPS resources for the startup of their GTSR Program (with no provision for phase out of the use of these resources), PG&E's proposed shareholder backstop for administration and marketing costs that are not recovered from GTSR customers, no cap on marketing costs or restrictions on targeted marketing, the use of existing websites, the use of existing community interaction tools, the use of bill inserts,<sup>384</sup> and the shared use of personnel, supplies, buildings, and equipment.<sup>385</sup>

We agree with the parties who assert that the GTSR proposals of the three IOUs will result in increased competition between CCAs and the IOUs. We also understand the concern regarding PG&E's history of expending shareholder monies on attempts to curtail the growth of CCAs.<sup>386</sup>

PG&E's proposed shareholder backstop for marketing costs that are not recovered from Green Tariff customers, and the lack of a cap on marketing costs,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>383</sup> *Id.* at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>384</sup> ORA Opening Brief at 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>385</sup> MCE Reply Brief at 5-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>386</sup> MCE Opening Brief at 14 (MCE states that PG&E shareholders donated \$46 million to support the "Yes on 16" campaign. Proposition 16 was a ballot measure that, if passed, would have made it more difficult for communities to approve or join CCA programs).

could result in anti-competitive marketing if left unchecked. Therefore, as discussed in the Rate Design section above, we have provided a mechanism for tracking marketing expenditures to ensure that they are reasonable and not anticompetitive.

We note that while the Commission will ensure that expenditures and limits on marketing costs are reasonable, there is no indication in SB 790 or SB 43 that the legislature is concerned about the impact on CCAs of a separately tariffed GTSR Program offered to bundled customers. SB 43 does recognize CCAs, but only to note the availability of voluntary renewable energy programs for CCAs.<sup>387</sup>

### 10. Safety Considerations

When enacting SB 43, the legislature found that building renewable generating facilities would provide significant health benefits as well as benefits to the environment.<sup>388</sup> The Legislature also specifically identified the need to bring more renewable generation to areas of the state that have been "disproportionately affected by environmental pollution and other hazards that can lead to negative public health effects, exposure, or environmental degradation."<sup>389</sup>

This decision implements a part of the GTSR Program enacted by SB 43. By doing so, this decision will improve the health and safety of California residents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>387</sup> Code § 2833(w).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>388</sup> Code § 2831(a).

<sup>389</sup> Code § 2833(d)(1).

# 11. Categorization and Need for Hearing

These consolidated proceedings have been categorized as ratesetting. Evidentiary hearings for this decision were held on January 28, 29 and 30, February 4 and 5, and April 22, 23, 24, 28 and 29, 2014.

### 12. Comments on Proposed Decision

The proposed decision of the ALJ in this matter was mailed to the parties in accordance with Code Section 311 and comments were allowed under Rule 14.3 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure. Comments were filed on January 20, 2015 by CEJA, Clean Coalition, City, MCE, ORA, PG&E, SCE, SDG&E, SELC, TURN, Joint Parties, and CCSF. Joint comments were filed by the Joint Solar Parties. On January 26, 2014, reply comments were filed by CEJA, Clean Coalition, MCE, ORA, PG&E, SCE, SDG&E, Joint Solar Parties, Shell, and CCUE. Joint reply comments were filed by AREM, Direct Access Customer Coalition, and 3 Phases Renewables.

The majority of comments reiterated arguments previously made in this proceeding. To avoid repetition, we have not included those comments in the summary below.

The following substantive changes and significant clarifications were made in response to comments:

- The definition of community interest for ECR was revised. Additional consideration of the definition of community for ECR projects is slated for Phase IV.
- For unsubscribed ECR project energy, the threshold for the Unsubscribed Energy Price was modified, the price was clarified to be the lesser of the PPA price or DLAP, and the market value of the REC was added.

- The deadline for City of Davis and PG&E to discuss compliance options for the City of Davis Reservation has been accelerated.
- The IOUs are required to work with stakeholders and Energy Division to hold workshops and/or program forums to facilitate input on the implementation advice letters.
- We have eliminated the requirement that an IOU require a one-year enrollment minimum and early termination fee, provided that the IOU can demonstrate that ratepayer indifference can still be achieved. Longer terms and locked-in rates are slated for Phase IV.
- The decision finds that additional analysis is needed on the application of the CARE discount to GTSR customers and refers this issue to A.14.11.07.
- Additional reporting requirements have been added regarding CARE customer participation and other matters.
- We clarify that any excess renewable energy from the ECR component will be applied to RPS in accordance with SB 43.
- To ensure a prompt start to Phase IV, an initial prehearing conference has been set for February 23, 2015.
- Based on party comments we have made several clarifications to the required implementation advice letters, we have reduced the number of implementation advice letters from four to three, and we have extended the due dates.
- Changes have been made to clarify that SDG&E may procure resources from Imperial Valley and to propose a GTSR Interim Pool that includes facilities outside of this geographic area.<sup>390</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>390</sup> Id.

Parties continue to argue that more should be done to include the RIC, locational values, other charges such as ancillary services, and a long-term RA credit. We agree that as the program grows, and as values for these attributes are established in other Commission proceedings, these issues deserve a second look. For many of these values, we must coordinate with other proceedings. Once these values have been established they can be included in the GTSR Program – but only after the Commission has approved the rate change. Phase IV will examine appropriate mechanisms to incorporate rate design changes in these areas. For example, some rate changes will be appropriately handled by advice letter, and some will be better handled in a phase of the proceeding or a new application.

The decision has been revised to state that the ten mile geographic limit is sufficient to meet the definition of community for purposes of this initial decision. However, the statute does not set a definition of community and does not have language requiring ECR projects to be located closer to subscribers than Green Tariff projects. Several parties argued that the ten mile community definition should be deleted entirely. Other parties argued that the location of community should cover a smaller geographic area. The term community is frequently used to refer to a group of people with a common interest. For example, a specific "community" of individuals with similar interests could decide to develop a project in an EJ location that is not located within a ten. The record does not address whether such expanded interpretations of community are useful, required, or not permitted under the SB 43. Thus we add this to the list of issues that parties may want to include in Phase IV.

Parties also continue to argue about the permitted location of Green Tariff facilities other than ECR projects. Currently the decision only requires that the

Green Tariff be located within the same service territory as the customer (or Imperial Valley for SDG&E). We defer further refinement of these issues to Phase IV.

# 13. Assignment of Proceeding

Michael Picker is the assigned Commissioner and Jeanne M. McKinney is the assigned ALJ in these consolidated proceedings.

# **Findings of Fact**

- 1. The GTSR Program approved by this decision will allow institutional customers, including local governments, to develop renewable generation facilities.
- 2. The GTSR Program approved by this decision will benefit public institutions by providing enhanced flexibility to participate in shared renewable generation.
- 3. Building operational renewable generating facilities will create jobs, reduce emissions of GHG, and promote energy independence.
- 4. The GTSR Program approved in this decision will allow large energy users with limited onsite space to use offsite space to meet their renewable generation goals.
- 5. The GTSR Program approved in this decision will facilitate a large, sustainable market for offsite generation.
- 6. Participating in the GTSR Program will allow customers to hedge against rising fuel costs.
- 7. RAM and ReMAT are existing renewable procurement methods approved by the Commission.

- 8. Incremental renewable energy projects built specifically for the GTSR Program, rather than as part of another Commission program for renewables (such as RPS) are "additional" for purposes of complying with SB 43.
- 9. Retiring RECs from projects already under contract for RPS compliance does not constitute "additional" for purposes of complying with SB 43.
- 10. The state has a policy in favor of locating resources procured under RAM and ReMAT programs close to load.
- 11. Locating GTSR projects close to participating customers is believed to encourage participation in the GTSR program.
- 12. Ratepayer indifference is achieved if there is no subsidy between two ratepayer classes.
- 13. Procurement of renewable energy supply related to the GTSR Program has three possible tracks: (1) initial procurement, (2) ongoing procurement, and (3) overprocurement.
- 14. GTSR will be significantly delayed if IOUs wait for GTSR specific projects to come online before enrolling customers.
- 15. GTSR projects will be delayed if IOUs rely on existing resources procured for RPS for an indefinite period of time.
- 16. RAM is a simplified market-based procurement mechanism for use by the IOUs to promote the procurement of distributed generation projects eligible for California's RPS program.
- 17. ReMAT is a market-based pricing mechanism that will automatically adjust the offered payment rate from small distributed generation that qualify as an "eligible renewable energy resource" under the RPS program with an effective capacity of 3 MW or less.

- 18. RAM minimum size is 500 kW and maximum size is 20 MW for RAM 6 and there is no maximum for future RAM procurement.
  - 19. GTSR is offered by the utilities as part of their existing obligation to serve.
- 20. The GTSR Program is susceptible to over-reliance on existing RPS during the initial procurement stage.
- 21. It is reasonable to require GTSR projects to reach commercial operation on the same schedule as other projects procured through RAM or ReMAT (as applicable).
- 22. Advanced procurement will result in additional renewable facilities being built.
- 23. Advanced procurement reduces the risk of GTSR supply perpetually lagging enrollment.
  - 24. The 30% ITC credit is a significant source of financing for solar projects.
- 25. The 30% ITC credit is set to expire at the end of 2016 and only a reduced ITC credit of 10% will be available after 2016.
- 26. Projects that can be signed up in the near future are more likely to be eligible for the 30% ITC.
- 27. Sellers can offer generation for a lower price if their project qualifies for the 30% ITC.
- 28. The advanced procurement set for year one of the GTSR Program is a small percentage of the total renewable energy capacity under contract for RPS compliance.
- 29. The advance procurement amounts could be absorbed into the RPS program without significant financial impact.
- 30. The GTSR Program prioritizes resources that are located in reasonable proximity to enrolled participants.

- 31. For ECR projects, community can be defined as customers with addresses located within ten miles of the facility or within the municipality or county where the facility is located (Local Community), whereby customers are allowed to subscribe to and participate in the development of a specific shared renewable project located within or close to their community.
- 32. To the extent that the IOUs have not yet identified likely customer areas, it is reasonable to limit procurement to the IOU's service territory, and to require that ECR projects be located within the community as described in the previous finding of fact.
- 33. In the case of SDG&E, because of limitations in the service territory, it is reasonable to allow projects in Imperial Valley that are eligible for RAM to be part of GTSR.
  - 34. GTSR projects must be sized no larger than 20 MW.
  - 35. EJ projects must be sized no larger than 1 MW.
- 36. Renewable generation procured for either the Green Tariff component or the ECR component of the GTSR Program, that is in excess of the amount of generation required for subscribers in that specific GTSR Program component, can be applied to RPS procurement requirements or banked for future use to benefit all customers in accordance with RPS banking rules.
- 37. Transfer of energy between the RPS program and the GTSR Program will not violate the requirement for ratepayer indifference between participating and non-participating customers.
- 38. IOUs must balance the requirement of additional generation for GTSR customers with the risk of overprocurement.

- 39. Tier 3 Advice Letters in 2015 setting forth the details of the IOUs GTSR program design allows stakeholders to voice their opinions while also allowing the program to move forward without undue delay.
- 40. For procurement after 2015, it is reasonable for the IOUs to use the annual RPS Procurement Plan.
  - 41. SB 43 expires in 2019, but the GTSR program may continue.
- 42. IOUs seeking to extend or terminate the GTSR Program at the end of 2019 must have Commission approval.
- 43. If there are no structural changes or material increases in the capacity participating in the program, a Tier 3 Advice Letter is an appropriate vehicle for Commission review and approval of any extension or termination of the program at the end of 2019.
- 44. If customers participating in the program at the end of 2018 are not allowed to continue in the GTSR Program, ratepayer indifference could be reduced.
  - 45. Suspension of the GTSR Program earlier than 2019 is discouraged.
- 46. If there is ratepayer exposure to excessive costs due to market manipulation or market malfunction associated with the GTSR Program, a Tier 2 Advice Letter is an appropriate vehicle for an IOU to suspend the GTSR Program.
- 47. Advisory groups can provide beneficial feedback to an IOU on the GTSR Program, including feedback on products and outreach.
- 48. Regular communication with community groups will provide beneficial feedback to an IOU on the GTSR Program, including feedback on products and outreach.

- 49. An advisory group is not permitted to usurp the approval rights of the Commission.
- 50. An affordable GTSR Program will encourage participation by different customer groups.
- 51. Customers benefit from having a variety of subscription levels to choose from.
- 52. IOUs may offer one-year minimum customer contracts with an early termination fee will allow customers to test the GTSR Program without being locked into a long-term contract.
- 53. Contracts longer than one year would provide additional certainty around participation levels.
- 54. Contracts longer than one year are not appropriate for customers unless there is a commensurate benefit to the customer.
- 55. At this time, there is not sufficient record in this proceeding to demonstrate that customers receive a benefit from a term longer than one year.
- 56. A fixed RPR with a "no regrets" pricing provision would benefit early subscribers to the Green Tariff program because early subscribers would be able to take advantage of lower future rates, while new subscribers would not be able to take advantage of lower prior rates.
- 57. A fixed RPR with a "no regrets" pricing provision could result in new GTSR subscribers subsidizing existing GTSR subscribers.
- 58. If GTSR subscribers subsidize each other, ratepayer indifference between participating and non-participating ratepayers can still be achieved.
- 59. Should an IOU impose them, early termination fees are necessary to reduce the risk of stranded capacity and to cover administrative costs.

- 60. Should an IOU impose them, early termination fees must be calculated in a transparent manner using a reasonable methodology, in advance of customer enrollment.
  - 61. Tracking of REC retirement is best achieved through the WREGIS system.
- 62. All RECs from GTSR Program facilities must be available to the IOU in the event the IOU utilizes the RPS backstop.
- 63. Compliance with CARB's Voluntary Renewable Electricity Program is important to California's goal to track reductions in GHG.
  - 64. EJ facilities are required to be located in the 20% most impacted areas.
- 65. CalEnviroScreen Version 2.0, and its successors, will provide a suitable screen for identification of EJ areas.
- 66. It is reasonable to allocate procurement of EJ Project capacity proportional to retail sales.
  - 67. Urban areas may have difficulty siting large GTSR projects.
  - 68. CAISO sets a minimum of 500 kW for scheduling.
- 69. The ECR components approved in this decision will promote distributed generation.
- 70. Community involvement with a specific local facility will increase community interest and participation in the GTSR Program.
  - 71. Community interest in ECR projects can be demonstrated by
- (i) documentation that community members have committed to enroll in 30% of the project's capacity or documentation that community members have provided expressions of interest to reach a 50% subscription rate, and (ii) a minimum of three separate subscribers.
- 72. A guaranteed subscription rate from a municipality or county that is developing an ECR project demonstrates community interest.

- 73. Allowing flexible transactional relationships between ECR developers and customers will maximize incentives for creative ECR transaction structures that achieve the goals of both developers and customers.
- 74. A variety of developers and market participants will facilitate a large sustainable market for offsite generation.
- 75. GTSR customers benefit from rate certainty because their rates have less relationship to volatile fuel costs than other customers.
- 76. Providing assurance of bid acceptance will increase developer interest in ECR projects.
- 77. 120% of expected annual load is a reasonable approximation by which to set a customer's 100% of energy demand for purposes of ECR subscriptions.
- 78. To ensure reasonable rates and fulfill the purpose of the ECR component of the GTSR Program it is necessary to ensure that ECR projects achieve and maintain a reasonable minimum subscription capacity.
- 79. Setting a lower price for unsubscribed energy from ECR projects will incentivize developers to achieve and maintain reasonable minimum subscription capacity.
- 80. The lesser of the DLAP price or the PPA price is a reasonable proxy for the market value of unsubscribed ECR project energy transferred to an IOU.
- 81. Unsubscribed ECR project energy must be transferred with the associated RECs.
- 82. In the event that RECs associated with unsubscribed ECR project energy are transferred to an IOU at the DLAP price, the developer should be compensated for the market value of the REC, however in no event should this combined amount exceed the PPA price.

- 83. A method for determining the market value of the REC for unsubscribed ECR energy that is transferred to the IOU has not been considered in this proceeding.
- 84. ECR projects where customers own or control an interest in the project or company owning the project could constitute a security subject to state and/or federal regulation.
- 85. ECR customers, IOUs, and non-participating ratepayers must be protected from securities, consumer protection, and other litigation risks associated with consumer/developer transactions.
- 86. A Tier 3 Advice Letter will provide the IOUs and parties a sufficient opportunity to efficiently review the IOUs' proposed ECR contract language for protection of consumers and the IOUs.
- 87. Outreach to community groups and formal advisory groups can provide valuable input to the GTSR Program, but must be done promptly so as not to delay implementation of the GTSR Program.
  - 88. Community input is an essential element of the GTSR Program.
- 89. Workshops or program forums can provide useful input on the issues to be addressed in the implementation Advice Letters.
  - 90. Green-e certification is beneficial for the GTSR Program.
- 91. A range of participation levels between 50% and 100% provides the most flexibility for customers.
- 92. Participation levels should consider the current RPS compliance requirement.
- 93. A low minimum level of participation could increase enrollment by lower income customers.

94. Phase IV of the GTSR Program should explore options to make expand affordability of the GTSR Program.

95.

- 96. An RPR that is adjusted annually will reflect the cost to procure power for the GTSR customer.
- 97. A "floating" RPR based on the pool of Green Tariff resources available is fair and reasonable for Green Tariff customers.
- 98. A fixed RPR tied to a specific ECR project is fair and reasonable for ECR customers.
- 99. GTSR customers must pay an indifference adjustment amount reflecting the cost of generation procured on their behalf prior to enrollment in GTSR.
- 100. The PCIA calculated for DA and CCA customers provides a reasonable proxy for the GTSR customer indifference charge.
- 101. To maintain ratepayer indifference, GTSR customers must pay the WREGIS and CAISO fees directly incurred on their behalf.
- 102. The RA value calculated as part of the PCIA is a reasonable proxy for the RA price for charges and credits to GTSR customers.
- 103. To determine the RA charge, it is reasonable to multiply the RA value from the annual PCIA calculation by the amount of RA procured on behalf of the GTSR customer, assuming 15% reserve margin.
- 104. The SVA (Solar Value Adjustment) reflects capacity and energy costs and benefits of the GTSR project, including RA and TOD values.
- 105. It is reasonable and fair to calculate TOD value by comparing the TOD profile of the GTSR pool or facility, as applicable, to the class average TOD.
- 106. To achieve ratepayer indifference, administrative and marketing costs must be paid by participating customers.

- 107. Charging administrative and marketing costs on a volumetric basis will incentivize the IOUs to prudently manage their expenditures.
- 108. If GTSR Program subscription rates are too low to permit recovery of administrative and marketing costs from participating customers, and these costs are determined to be unreasonable, it is reasonable for the IOU shareholders to act as a backstop.
- 109. Separate accounting for administrative and marketing costs will provide greater information on the amounts being spent.
- 110. Intermittent renewable generation, such as solar and wind, can result in grid integration costs.
- 111. If customers pay a RIC charge, it is reasonable for the RIC charge to be based on the percentage of renewables the customer has subscribed to.
- 112. At this time, there is no methodology for converting a RIC adder to a ratepayer charge.
- 113. Customers who enroll in the GTSR Program expect certainty around future charges and credits.
- 114. New charges should be carefully evaluated before being applied to existing GTSR customers.
- 115. The IOUs' proposed calculation of a generation credit based on class average generation rate is reasonable.
- 116. There are specific statutory requirements for the CARE discount.
- 117. GTSR Program marketing must be sufficient to inform and attract sufficient customers for a successful implementation of SB 43.
- 118. Marketing must include outreach to "low-income and minority communities and customers."

- 119. Marketing can be accomplished through a variety of media including online tools, bill inserts, and customer support.
- 120. The IOUs should develop more detailed marketing and outreach plans and budgets through the Advice Letter process.
- 121. For GTSR, there is a particular emphasis on marketing in local areas.
- 122. Reporting and information sharing is an important element of the GTSR Program.
- 123. Reporting and information sharing can increase transparency and provide auditable assessments of the GTSR Program.
- 124. Reports and information sharing can help the IOUs share information with each other, with developers, and with customers.
- 125. Reports and information sharing can be a tool for the Commission to review, evaluate, and improve on the GTSR Program.
- 126. A program forum within the first year of the GTSR Program will provide an opportunity for stakeholders and IOUs to improve the GTSR Program.
- 127. The hallmark of a DA transaction is the transfer from bundled utility service to a DA provider.
- 128. The IOUs retain the obligation to serve the customers who enroll in GTSR.
- 129. Currently, enrollment in DA is limited by statute.
- 130. The Commission's affiliate transaction rules set limits on the relationship of unregulated and regulated affiliates.
- 131. Affiliates are permitted to offer unregulated services.
- 132. The GTSR Program is a regulated service offered by the regulated utility.
- 133. The Commission's oversight of the GTSR Program would not be improved if administration of the GTSR Program were transferred to an unregulated affiliate.

- 134. The shareholder backstop for marketing costs not recovered from Green Tariff customers could result in anti-competitive marketing if left unchecked.
- 135. Reporting requirements for marketing expenditures and marketing content can prevent unchecked use of GTSR Program marketing to CCA customers and potential customers.
- 136. Each IOU's revenue requirements and associated forecasts of fuel and purchased power, and related balancing account balances, are currently reviewed and approved in the annual ERRA forecast proceeding, and the IOU's associated recorded activity in this and other IOU balancing accounts is reviewed in each IOU's annual ERRA compliance proceeding.
- 137. Coordinating review of true-up of GTSR charges and credits with the ERRA process will provide greater certainty that entries to the GTSR accounts are stated correctly and are consistent with Commission decisions.
- 138. For CCAs and DA providers to remain viable, it is important that the IOUs not be allowed to engage in anticompetitive behavior.
- 139. Under GTSR, customers will remain with the incumbent utility.
- 140. An IOU that "intends to market against actual or potential CCAs within its territory" is required by the CCA Code of Conduct to meet certain reporting requirements, including filing a plan.
- 141. Currently none of the IOUs have a plan for marketing in CCA territory.
- 142. The PAO is well-qualified and experienced in reviewing marketing materials.
- 143. PAO review of IOU GTSR marketing materials that reference CCAs or CCA green tariffs can provide oversight without causing unnecessary time delays in developing marketing materials to be used in CCA territories.

- 144. The Legislature has found that building renewable generating facilities will provide significant health and environmental benefits.
- 145. A balancing account will allow the IOU to track revenue under and over collection of GTSR costs using balancing account ratemaking standards.
- 146. A memorandum account will allow the IOU to track administrative and marketing costs, and provide an opportunity for review before these amounts are approved by the Commission.

#### **Conclusions of Law**

- 1. SB 43 requires additionality, which can only be achieved by procuring from resources developed specifically for the GTSR Program.
- 2. SCE's proposal to rely on existing and new RPS resources to supply the GTSR Program does not comply with SB 43.
- 3. The proposed GTSR Program of the three IOUs, as modified by this decision, is compliant with SB 43.
- 4. The proposed GTSR Program of the three IOUs, as modified by this decision, is compliant with the Commission's reasonableness standards.
- 5. The proposed GTSR Program of the three IOUs, as modified by this decision, does not constitute DA.
- 6. The proposed GTSR Program of the three IOUs, as modified by this decision, is compliant with the Commission's affiliate transaction rules.
- 7. The IOUs should use RAM and ReMAT for procuring renewable energy for the GTSR Program.
- 8. Procurement mechanisms other than RAM and ReMAT should be addressed in Phase IV of this proceeding and in future RPS Procurement Plans filed by the IOUs.

- 9. The IOUs should begin limited procurement of GTSR Program resources in advance of customer enrollment.
- 10. Customers enrolling in the GTSR Program prior to development of GTSR resources should be supplied by existing RPS resources.
- 11. Excess procurement of GTSR resources should be applied to or banked for the IOU's RPS compliance program.
- 12. Transfer of energy produced by renewable resources between the GTSR Program components and the RPS program should be carefully accounted for.
- 13. Projects should be located "in reasonable proximity to enrolled participants."
  - 14. Projects should be located within the IOU's service territory.
  - 15. SDG&E should be permitted to include projects in Imperial Valley.
- 16. In the event that RAM or ReMAT project requirements are less specific than the requirements of SB 43, GTSR Projects should still comply with SB 43.
  - 17. GTSR projects should be sized between 500 kW and 20 MW.
- 18. Inclusion of sub-500 kW projects in the GTSR Program should be examined in Phase IV of this proceeding.
  - 19. GTSR projects should qualify for RPS.
  - 20. GTSR project prices should be consistent with similar RPS projects.
- 21. All RECs from GTSR Projects should be transferred to the IOUs for retirement on behalf of participating customers or on behalf of the RPS program, as applicable.

The current CalEnviroScreen should be used to identify areas eligible for the EJ Reservation. Whenever CalEnviroScreen is updated, the most current version should be used for identifying new projects.

- 22. Each IOU's portion of the EJ Reservation should be proportionate to that IOU's overall share of GTSR Program procurement.
- 23. Phase IV of this proceeding should examine ways to ensure that the EJ Reservation is fulfilled.
- 24. A Program Forum on the GTSR Program should be held by the IOUs annually to provide stakeholders with the opportunity to provide input on procurement aspects of the program.
  - 25. The ECR component should involve local communities.
- 26. A guarantee that community members located in the Local Community have committed to enroll in 30% of a project's capacity, or have provided expressions of interest sufficient to reach a 50% subscription rate from a minimum of three different community customers, is sufficient to demonstrate community interest for purposes of an ECR project.
- 27. The ECR component should allow maximum flexibility for customers and developers to enter into agreements regarding renewable generation projects.
- 28. The ECR component should take steps to ensure that customers are fully-informed and protected when entering into ECR transactions.
- 29. The ECR developer should be required to provide a securities opinion from an AmLaw 100 firm.
- 30. In the event that an ECR project is not fully subscribed after a reasonable period of time, the developer should be compensated for the value of unsubscribed energy (calculated at the lesser of the DLAP or PPA price) and, if the energy is transferred at the DLAP price, the market value of the associated RECs should be included.
- 31. The timetable and minimum subscriptions for ECR projects set forth in this decision should be adopted.

- 32. The City of Davis Reservation should not have different procurement or rate design attributes from other GTSR projects.
- 33. PG&E and City of Davis should be required to promptly meet and confer with a neutral in the Commission ADR program to evaluate the possible benefits of ADR to develop a procurement strategy for the City of Davis Reservation.
- 34. PG&E and City of Davis should be required to promptly develop a procurement strategy for the City of Davis Reservation.
- 35. The sunset date of January 1, 2019 in SB 43 does not prohibit the GTSR Program from continuing after that date.
- 36. Customers enrolled in the GTSR Program should be allowed to continue in the program even if the IOU determines not to continue the GTSR Program beyond the January 1, 2019 sunset date.
- 37. A Tier 3 Advice Letter will provide sufficient review for the GTSR Program to be extended beyond the January 1, 2019 sunset date.
- 38. The IOUs should actively seek input from community advisors, such as local stakeholders and community groups.
- 39. If, after the first year of the GTSR Program, it appears that the advisory group or advising network approach approved in this decision is not working, the Commission may change the community advising requirements via ruling in this docket.
- 40. PG&E should be required to establish the advisory group described in the PG&E Partial Settlement.
- 41. The Commission does not delegate any decision-making authority to GTSR Program advisory groups.

- 42. Formation of an advisory group or consultation with an advisory network should start promptly after issuance of this decision and should not delay the procurement of GTSR resources or customer enrollment in the GTSR Program.
- 43. Party participation in advisory groups or advisory networks during this proceeding is eligible for intervenor compensation to the extent that it complies with Code Section 1801-1812, the applicable Rules of Practice and Procedure, and Commission decisions implementing the intervenor compensation program.
- 44. Workshops or program forums should be held promptly to allow stakeholder, party and community input on the implementation Advice Letters.
- 45. Customer participation in the GTSR Program is limited to 100% of the customer's electrical demand. 120% of the customer's expected annual load should be used when calculating the customer's maximum subscription size for an ECR project.
- 46. The GTSR Program may require up to a one-year enrollment term, with the option of continuing on a month-to-month basis at the end of the year.
- 47. An IOU may elect that GTSR customers terminating before their first year expires be subject to a reasonable termination fee.
- 48. If an IOU imposes a set enrollment term, GTSR customers should be allowed a 60 day "cooling off" period during which they may unsubscribe from the GTSR Program without penalty.
- 49. The rate design approved by this decision will maintain ratepayer indifference between participating and non-participating customers.
- 50. Changes to the rate design structure must be made through the application process, unless otherwise specified in this decision.
  - 51. Changes to the rates can be accomplished through Advice Letters.

- 52. GTSR customer rates should require GTSR customers to be responsible for costs incurred on their behalf, including renewable integration costs, provided that the IOU does not already cover the cost through a different mechanism.
  - 53. The RPR and other components of GTSR rates should be updated annually.
- 54. Green Tariff rates should be tied to a pool of GTSR resources located close to the customer. For purposes of this decision, GTSR resources located within the same service territory as the customer are found to be close to the customer.
- 55. ECR rates should be tied to the specific project in which the customer has a subscription.
- 56. IOU shareholders should be a backstop for unreasonable administrative and outreach costs
- 57. The IOUs should use a balancing account to track generation revenue and costs for the GTSR Program.
- 58. The IOUs should use a memorandum account to track administrative and outreach costs.
- 59. It is appropriate for an IOU to provide a summary and true-up of costs and revenues against charges and credits applied to GTSR customers on an annual basis, either through the IOU's annual ERRA process or in a separate application.
- 60. Information on administrative and outreach costs should be made available in a format that shows the two categories separately.
- 61. The GTSR Program should consider refining rate design to take into account locational benefits and costs when these values have been developed in other proceedings.
- 62. The legal requirements for the CARE discount for GTSR customers should be fully understood before the GTSR Program is marketed to CARE customers.

- 63. The IOUs should propose more detailed marketing plans and budgets in a Tier 3 Advice Letter, and should continue to file marketing plans and budgets annually.
- 64. The IOUs should file detailed reports on the progress of procurement and enrollment in GTSR.
- 65. The annual RPS Procurement Plan should be used to make adjustments to procurement for the GTSR Program.
- 66. The IOUs should be required to adhere to the CCA Code of Conduct when marketing the GTSR Program.
- 67. While this proceeding remains open, rulings to make minor changes to the procurement, rate design, program design, marketing design, and other aspects of this decision should be permitted if necessary to clarify, correct, or expedite implementation of this decision.

#### ORDER

#### **IT IS ORDERED** that:

- 1. The Green Tariff Shared Renewables programs of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company are approved subject to the changes in this decision.
- 2. Within 100 days of the issuance of this decision, each of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company shall file the following Tier 3 Advice Letters regarding implementation and tariff details of their Green Tariff Shared Renewables Programs in accordance with this decision: (a) Joint Procurement Implementation Advice Letter (JPIAL); (b) Customer-Side Implementation

Advice Letter; and (c) Marketing Implementation Advice Letter. Parties are invited to file comments no later than February 16, 2015, proposing workshop topics and schedule that would provide sufficient input to inform utilities in preparation of the required implementation advice letters. Each investor-owned utility (IOU) must file its two individual implementation letters concurrently. The IOUs must collectively file a single JPIAL.

- 3. Within 21 days of the issuance of this decision, each of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company (IOUs) shall each file a Tier 1 Advice Letter confirming the IOU's plan for advance procurement and setting forth the census tracts eligible for environmental justice projects pursuant to statute.
- 4. Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company are authorized to seek approval of green tariff and enhanced community renewables power purchase agreements based on changes to the Renewable Auction Mechanism standard contract and request for offer instructions by Tier 2 Advice Letter filed within 45 days of the issuance of this decision.
- 5. Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company are authorized to seek approval of contracts for green tariff and enhanced community renewables power purchase agreements based on the Renewable Auction Mechanism (RAM) by including these contracts in the Advice Letter for other RAM contracts procured through the same auction.
- 6. Each of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company shall file an annual marketing and budget plan to be approved via a Tier 2 Advice Letter. The Tier 2

Advice Letter must include a quantitative assessment of the effectiveness of the prior year's marketing campaign.

7. The allocation of the 600 Megawatts prescribed for the Green Tariff Shared Renewables Program in Senate Bill 43, including reservations for environmental justice (EJ) projects and for the City of Davis, for each of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company, is as follows:

	Percentage of Total IOU Bundled Sales	TOTAL	EJ	Davis	Unreserved
PG&E	45.25%	272	45	20	207
SDG&E	9.87%	59	10		49
SCE	44.88%	269	45		224
TOTAL	100.%	600 MW	100 MW	20	480

8. Each of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company is directed to begin advance procurement of Green Tariff Shared Renewables resources and to have this advance procurement under contract within one year following issuance of this decision. The advance procurement amounts are as follows and the full amount of the City of Davis reservation is authorized from the start of the program but is not required to be procured within one year.

	Minimum	Authorized	EJ	EJ	Davis	
	Advanced	Maximum	Advanced	Authorized	Authorized	TOTAL
	MW	MW	MW	MW	MW	MW
PG&E	50	68	8.3	11.3	20	272
SDG&E	10.5	25	1.75	4.2	N/A	59
SCE	50	67	8.3	11.3	N/A	269
TOTAL	110.5	160	18.35	26.8	20	600

- 9. Each of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company shall use its annual Renewables Portfolio Standard Procurement Plan filing to update its progress toward its Green Tariff Shared Renewables goal.
- 10. Each of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company shall file or make available, as applicable, the monthly and annual reports listed in Section 8 of this decision.
- 11. Each of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company shall hold a program forum once per year in order to meet with project developers to discuss the project developer experience participating in the Green Tariff Shared Renewables program.
- 12. San Diego Gas & Electric Company, Southern California Edison Company, and Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall retire all of the Renewable Energy Credits (RECs) associated with the energy subscribed under the GTSR Program on behalf of participating customers, and these RECs will not be counted towards Renewable Portfolio Standard compliance requirements.
- 13. Each of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company (IOUs) shall use a Tier 3 Advice Letter or application to make changes to its Green Tariff Shared Renewables (GTSR) program that would either extend it beyond January 1, 2019 (for new customers), or terminate the GTSR program as of that date. If a utility does not extend their GTSR program prior to January 1, 2019, current participating customers may remain on their contracts on a month-to-month basis, but no new customers may join the GTSR program. If the IOU desires the extended program to have a different structure or materially different capacity,

an application must be filed instead of a Tier 3 Advice Letter. The Tier 3 Advice Letter or application, as applicable, must be filed no later than December 31, 2017. The Tier 3 Advice Letter, or application may include a proposal for close out of unrecovered administrative and outreach costs.

- 14. If any of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, or Southern California Edison Company wish to suspend the program, it shall file a Tier 2 Advice Letter setting forth why such suspension is necessary to protect ratepayers and the utility's proposal for resolving the issue.
- 15. Each of San Diego Gas & Electric Company and Southern California Edison Company shall use an advisory network, and Pacific Gas and Electric Company shall use an advisory group, to obtain input on the GTSR program.
- 16. The Green Tariff Shared Renewables programs should offer a variety of participation levels so that customers at a variety of income levels can participate according to their financial abilities. But, at a minimum, the utilities must offer, the option of subscribing for 100% of demand and all participation levels must be above the current level for the Renewables Procurement Standard.
- 17. Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) shall promptly research and consult with its advisory group to determine what other participation levels should be offered. As part of that evaluation, PG&E shall consider the goal of maximizing the number of customers who can participate in the program.
- 18. Each of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company must comply with the Community Choice Aggregation (CCA) Code of Conduct. Any CCA marketing plans filed pursuant to the CCA Code of Conduct should demonstrate to the Commission that the Green Tariff Shared Renewables (GTSR) marketing will be

compliant, ensuring that GTSR products will not be marketed in CCA territory in a way that is anticompetitive.

- 19. Each of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company shall submit marketing materials that include references to Community Choice Aggregation (CCAs) or CCA green tariffs to the Public Advisor's Office for review prior to use. Selective marketing to CCA or potential CCA territories is prohibited. Potential CCA territories has the meaning given to such term in the CCA Code of Conduct.
- 20. Each of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company shall seek Green-e Energy certification for its green tariff shared renewables program.
- 21. Application (A.) 12-01-008, A.12-04-020 and A.14-01-007 remain open for a Phase IV to further optimize specific reservations (such as the Environmental Justice reservation and the City of Davis reservation), support for enhanced community renewables, participation by low-income customers, and other matters.
- 22. PG&E and City of Davis are directed to jointly contact the Commission's Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Coordinator Jean Vieth no later than seven days after issuance of this decision to arrange a meet and confer with an ADR neutral to evaluate the possible benefits of ADR to develop a compliance strategy for the reservation described in California Public Utilities Code Section 2833(d)(B)(3) (City of Davis Reservation). The joint communication to the ADR Coordinator should include proposed dates for the meet and confer to be completed no later than February 20, 2015 and the contact information for the primary contacts at PG&E and City of Davis. The joint communication should be copied to the assigned Administrative Law Judge and assigned Commissioner's

office. PG&E and City of Davis are further ordered to file a joint statement regarding the procedural status of the ADR meet and confer no later than February 23, 2015, and to file a joint statement proposing a compliance strategy for the City of Davis Reservation no later than April 1, 2015.

- 23. A Phase IV prehearing conference is set for February 23, 2015 at 1 pm at the Commission's offices in San Francisco.
- 24. The issue of how to apply the California Alternate Rates for Energy (CARE) discount to customers subscribing to the Green Tariff Shared Renewables program is referred to Application 14-11-007. Within 30 days of the issuance of a decision in Application 14-11-007 (CARE Decision), each of Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company shall each file Tier 3 Advice Letters as necessary to reflect the CARE Decision.

This order is effective today.

Dated January 29, 2015, at San Francisco, California.

MICHAEL PICKER
President
MICHEL PETER FLORIO
CATHERINE J.K. SANDOVAL
CARLA J. PETERMAN
LIANE M. RANDOLPH
Commissioners

#### ATTACHMENT A

SB 43 as chaptered.

Senate Bill No. 43

CHAPTER 413

An act to add and repeal Chapter 7.6 (commencing with Section 2831) of Part 2 of Division 1 of the Public Utilities Code, relating to energy.

[ Approved by Governor September 28, 2013. Filed with Secretary of State September 28, 2013. ]

#### LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

SB 43, Wolk. Electricity: Green Tariff Shared Renewables Program.

(1) Under existing law, the Public Utilities Commission has regulatory jurisdiction over public utilities, including electrical corporations, as defined. Existing law authorizes the commission to fix the rates and charges for every public utility, and requires that those rates and charges be just and reasonable. Under existing law, the local government renewable energy self-generation program authorizes a local government to receive a bill credit to be applied to a designated benefiting account for electricity exported to the electrical grid by an eligible renewable generating facility, as defined, and requires the commission to adopt a rate tariff for the benefiting account.

This bill would enact the Green Tariff Shared Renewables Program. The program would require a participating utility, defined as being an electrical corporation with 100,000 or more customers in California, to file with the commission an application requesting approval of a green tariff shared renewables program to implement a program enabling ratepayers to participate directly in offsite electrical generation facilities that use eligible renewable energy resources,

consistent with certain legislative findings and statements of intent. The bill would require the commission, by July 1, 2014, to issue a decision concerning the participating utility's application, determining whether to approve or disapprove the application, with or without modifications. The bill would require the commission, after notice and opportunity for public comment, to approve the application if the commission determines that the proposed program is reasonable and consistent with the legislative findings and statements of intent. The bill would require the commission to require that a participating utility's green tariff shared renewables program be administered in accordance with specified provisions. The bill would repeal the program on January 1, 2019.

(2) Under existing law, a violation of the Public Utilities Act or any order, decision, rule, direction, demand, or requirement of the commission is a crime.

Because the provisions of the bill would require action by the commission to implement its requirements, a violation of these provisions would impose a state-mandated local program by expanding the definition of a crime.

(3) The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state. Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement.

This bill would provide that no reimbursement is required by this act for a specified reason.

Digest Key

Vote: MAJORITY Appropriation: NO Fiscal Committee: YES Local Program: YES

Bill Text

The people of the State of California do enact as follows:

SECTION 1.

Chapter 7.6 (commencing with Section 2831) is added to Part 2 of Division 1 of the Public Utilities Code, to read:

CHAPTER 7.6. Green Tariff Shared Renewables Program

2831.

The Legislature finds and declares all of the following:

- (a) Building operational generating facilities that utilize sources of renewable energy within California, to supply the state's demand for electricity, provides significant financial, health, environmental, and workforce benefits to the State of California.
- (b) The California Solar Initiative will achieve its goals, resulting in over 150,000 residential and commercial onsite installations of solar energy systems. However, the California Solar Initiative cannot reach all residents and businesses that want to participate and is limited to only solar energy systems and not other eligible renewable energy resources. A green tariff shared renewables program seeks to build on the success of the California Solar Initiative by expanding access to all eligible renewable energy resources to all ratepayers who are currently unable to access the benefits of onsite generation.
- (c) There is widespread interest from many large institutional customers, including schools, colleges, universities, local governments, businesses, and the military, for the development of generation facilities that are eligible renewable energy resources to serve more than 33 percent of their energy needs.
- (d) Public institutions will benefit from a green tariff shared renewables program's enhanced flexibility to participate in shared generation facilities that are eligible renewable energy resources.
- (e) Building operational generating facilities that are eligible renewable energy resources creates jobs, reduces emissions of greenhouse gases, and promotes energy independence.
- (f) Many large energy users in California have pursued onsite electrical generation from eligible renewable energy resources, but cannot achieve their goals due to rooftop or land space limitations, or size limits on net energy metering. The enactment of this chapter will create a mechanism whereby institutional customers, such as military installations, universities, and local governments, as well as commercial customers and groups of individuals, can meet their needs with electrical generation from eligible renewable energy resources.

- (g) It is the intent of the Legislature that a green tariff shared renewables program be implemented in such a manner that facilitates a large, sustainable market for offsite electrical generation from facilities that are eligible renewable energy resources, while fairly compensating electrical corporations for the services they provide, without affecting nonparticipating ratepayers.
- (h) It is the further intent of the Legislature that a green tariff shared renewables program be implemented in a manner that ensures nonparticipating ratepayer indifference for the remaining bundled service, direct access, and community choice aggregation customers.

#### 2831.5.

- (a) This chapter shall be known, and may be cited, as the Green Tariff Shared Renewables Program.
- (b) For purposes of this chapter, the following terms have the following meanings:
- (1) "Eligible renewable energy resource," "renewable energy credit," and "renewables portfolio standard" have the same meaning as those terms have for the California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program (Article 16 (commencing with Section 399.11) of Chapter 2.3 of Part 1).
- (2) "Participating utility" means an electrical corporation with 100,000 or more customer accounts in California.

#### 2832.

- (a) On or before March 1, 2014, a participating utility shall file with the commission an application requesting approval of a green tariff shared renewables program to implement a program that the utility determines is consistent with the legislative findings and statements of intent of Section 2831. Nothing in this chapter limits an electrical corporation with less than 100,000 customer accounts in California from filing an application with the commission to administer a green tariff shared renewables program that is consistent with the legislative findings and statements of intent of Section 2831.
- (b) On or before July 1, 2014, the commission shall issue a decision on the participating utility's application for a green tariff shared renewables program, determining whether to approve or disapprove it, with or without modifications.

- (c) After notice and an opportunity for public comment, the commission shall approve an application by a participating utility for a green tariff shared renewables program if the commission determines that the program is reasonable and consistent with the legislative findings and statements of intent of Section 2831.
- (d) The requirements of this chapter shall not apply to an electrical corporation that, prior to May 1, 2013, filed an application with the commission to have a green tariff shared renewables program, or an equivalent program of whatever name, provided the commission approves the application with a determination that the program does not shift costs to nonparticipating customers and the application is consistent with this chapter. If the commission has approved a settlement agreement relative to parties contesting an application filed prior to May 1, 2013, the requirements of this section shall not apply if the commission, within a reasonable period of time, requires revisions to the previously approved settlement agreement that requires the program to be consistent with this chapter.

#### 2833.

- (a) The commission shall require a green tariff shared renewables program to be administered by a participating utility in accordance with this section.
- (b) Generating facilities participating in a participating utility's green tariff shared renewables program shall be eligible renewable energy resources with a nameplate rated generating capacity not exceeding 20 megawatts, except for those generating facilities reserved for location in areas identified by the California Environmental Protection Agency as the most impacted and disadvantaged communities pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (d), which shall not exceed one megawatt nameplate rated generating capacity.
- (c) A participating utility shall use commission-approved tools and mechanisms to procure additional eligible renewable energy resources for the green tariff shared renewables program from electrical generation facilities that are in addition to those required by the California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program (Article 16 (commencing with Section 399.11) of Chapter 2.3 of Part 1). For purposes of this subdivision, "commission-approved tools and mechanisms" means those procurement methods approved by the commission for an electrical corporation to procure eligible renewable energy resources for purposes of meeting the procurement requirements of the California Renewables Portfolio

Standard Program (Article 16 (commencing with Section 399.11) of Chapter 2.3 of Part 1).

- (d) A participating utility shall permit customers within the service territory of the utility to purchase electricity pursuant to the tariff approved by the commission to implement the utility's green tariff shared renewables program, until the utility meets its proportionate share of a statewide limitation of 600 megawatts of customer participation, measured by nameplate rated generating capacity. The proportionate share shall be calculated based on the ratio of each participating utility's retail sales to total retail sales of electricity by all participating utilities. The commission may place other restrictions on purchases under a green tariff shared renewables program, including restricting participation to a certain level of capacity each year. The following restrictions shall apply to the statewide 600 megawatt limitation:
- (1) (A) One hundred megawatts shall be reserved for facilities that are no larger than one megawatt nameplate rated generating capacity and that are located in areas previously identified by the California Environmental Protection Agency as the most impacted and disadvantaged communities. These communities shall be identified by census tract, and shall be determined to be the most impacted 20 percent based on results from the best available cumulative impact screening methodology designed to identify each of the following:
- (i) Areas disproportionately affected by environmental pollution and other hazards that can lead to negative public health effects, exposure, or environmental degradation.
- (ii) Areas with socioeconomic vulnerability.
- (B) (1) For purposes of this paragraph, "previously identified" means identified prior to commencing construction of the facility.
- (2) Not less than 100 megawatts shall be reserved for participation by residential class customers.
- (3) Twenty megawatts shall be reserved for the City of Davis.
- (e) To the extent possible, a participating utility shall seek to procure eligible renewable energy resources that are located in reasonable proximity to enrolled participants.

- (f) A participating utility's green tariff shared renewables program shall support diverse procurement and the goals of commission General Order 156.
- (g) A participating utility's green tariff shared renewables program shall not allow a customer to subscribe to more than 100 percent of the customer's electricity demand.
- (h) Except as authorized by this subdivision, a participating utility's green tariff shared renewables program shall not allow a customer to subscribe to more than two megawatts of nameplate generating capacity. This limitation does not apply to a federal, state, or local government, school or school district, county office of education, the California Community Colleges, the California State University, or the University of California.
- (i) A participating utility's green tariff shared renewables program shall not allow any single entity or its affiliates or subsidiaries to subscribe to more than 20 percent of any single calendar year's total cumulative rated generating capacity.
- (j) To the extent possible, a participating utility shall actively market the utility's green tariff shared renewables program to low-income and minority communities and customers.
- (k) Participating customers shall receive bill credits for the generation of a participating eligible renewable energy resource using the class average retail generation cost as established in the participating utility's approved tariff for the class to which the participating customer belongs, plus a renewables adjustment value representing the difference between the time-of-delivery profile of the eligible renewable energy resource used to serve the participating customer and the class average time-of-delivery profile and the resource adequacy value, if any, of the resource contained in the utility's green tariff shared renewables program. The renewables adjustment value applicable to a time-of-delivery profile of an eligible renewable energy resource shall be determined according to rules adopted by the commission. For these purposes, "time-of-delivery profile" refers to the daily generating pattern of a participating eligible renewable energy resource over time, the value of which is determined by comparing the generating pattern of that participating eligible renewable energy resource to the demand for electricity over time and other generating resources available to serve that demand.

- (l) Participating customers shall pay a renewable generation rate established by the commission, the administrative costs of the participating utility, and any other charges the commission determines are just and reasonable to fully cover the cost of procuring a green tariff shared renewables program's resources to serve a participating customer's needs.
- (m) A participating customer's rates shall be debited or credited with any other commission-approved costs or values applicable to the eligible renewable energy resources contained in a participating utility's green tariff shared renewables program's portfolio. These additional costs or values shall be applied to new customers when they initially subscribe after the cost or value has been approved by the commission.
- (n) Participating customers shall pay all otherwise applicable charges without modification.
- (o) A participating utility shall provide support for enhanced community renewables programs to facilitate development of eligible renewable energy resource projects located close to the source of demand.
- (p) The commission shall ensure that charges and credits associated with a participating utility's green tariff shared renewables program are set in a manner that ensures nonparticipant ratepayer indifference for the remaining bundled service, direct access, and community choice aggregation customers and ensures that no costs are shifted from participating customers to nonparticipating ratepayers.
- (q) A participating utility shall track and account for all revenues and costs to ensure that the utility recovers the actual costs of the utility's green tariff shared renewables program and that all costs and revenues are fully transparent and auditable.
- (r) Any renewable energy credits associated with electricity procured by a participating utility for the utility's green tariff shared renewables program and utilized by a participating customer shall be retired by the participating utility on behalf of the participating customer. Those renewable energy credits shall not be further sold, transferred, or otherwise monetized for any purpose. Any renewable energy credits associated with electricity procured by a participating utility for the shared renewable energy self-generation program, but not utilized

by a participating customer, shall be counted toward meeting that participating utility's renewables portfolio standard.

- (s) A participating utility shall, in the event of participant customer attrition or other causes that reduce customer participation or electrical demand below generation levels, apply the excess generation from the eligible renewable energy resources procured through the utility's green tariff shared renewables program to the utility's renewable portfolio standard procurement obligations or bank the excess generation for future use to benefit all customers in accordance with the renewables portfolio standard banking and procurement rules approved by the commission.
- (t) In calculating its procurement requirements to meet the requirements of the California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program (Article 16 (commencing with Section 399.11) of Chapter 2.3 of Part 1), a participating utility may exclude from total retail sales the kilowatthours generated by an eligible renewable energy resource that is credited to a participating customer pursuant to the utility's green tariff shared renewables program, commencing with the point in time at which the generating facility achieves commercial operation.
- (u) All renewable energy resources procured on behalf of participating customers in the participating utility's green tariff shared renewables program shall comply with the State Air Resources Board's Voluntary Renewable Electricity Program. California-eligible greenhouse gas allowances associated with these purchases shall be retired on behalf of participating customers as part of the board's Voluntary Renewable Electricity Program.
- (v) A participating utility shall provide a municipality with aggregated consumption data for participating customers within the municipality's jurisdiction to allow for reporting on progress toward climate action goals by the municipality. A participating utility shall also publicly disclose, on a geographic basis, consumption data and reductions in emissions of greenhouse gases achieved by participating customers in the utility's green tariff shared renewables program, on an aggregated basis consistent with privacy protections as specified in Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 8380) of Division 4.1.
- (w) Nothing in this section prohibits or restricts a community choice aggregator from offering its own voluntary renewable energy programs to participating customers of the community choice aggregation.

# 2834.

This chapter shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2019, and as of that date is repealed, unless a later enacted statute, that is enacted before January 1, 2019, deletes or extends that date.

### SEC. 2.

No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant to Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California Constitution because the only costs that may be incurred by a local agency or school district will be incurred because this act creates a new crime or infraction, eliminates a crime or infraction, or changes the penalty for a crime or infraction, within the meaning of Section 17556 of the Government Code, or changes the definition of a crime within the meaning of Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California Constitution.

# ATTACHMENT B GTSR IMPLEMENTATION ADVICE LETTERS

Advice Letter	Tier	<b>Due Date</b>	Contents
Procurement Advice Letter	Tier 1	21 days	Confirms IOU plan to begin advance procurement in ReMAT and RAM 6 (if applicable); List of EJ census tracts.  - List EJ areas (Section 4.9)  - Include initial GTSR procurement target for RAM 6 (if any) and ReMAT  -
Joint Procurement Implementation Advice Letter (JPIAL)	Tier 3	100 days	Details procurement process, including compliance reports, post-2015 procurement, and initial RPS resource pool.  - Methodology to determine additionality of GTSR procurement in both ReMAT and RAM - Mechanism and reporting protocols for tracking RECs and REC retirement (Section 4.7) - Methodology for tracking and maintaining separation between interim GTSR pool and RPS resources (Section 4.5) including impact on RPS Residual net short and impact on RECs Proposals to changes to ReMAT to prioritize GTSR, including a potential ReMAT bucket for EJ projects - Standard ReMAT PPA with ECR Rider (Section 4.10.2.1) - Template for annual report that tracks the amount of generation transferred between the two programs (both RPS to GTSR at start-up and GTSR to RPS in the event of over procurement) (Section 4.6) - Proposed changes to RPS programs following Commission directives

			-
Customer Side Implementation Advice Letter (CSIAL)	Tier 3	100 days	For both Green Tariff an ECR Components, details customer side rate and program design, customer terms and conditions, and cost recovery. Includes detailed information on rate design (Section 6), bill presentment, plan for advisory group or advising network Section 5.3), list of reports and anticipated content (Section 8), Details on the Initial GTSR Pool of Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) generation that will used to supply initial subscribers
Marketing Implementation Advice Letter (MIAL)	Tier 3	100 days	Marketing plan and budget for GTSR and ECR Program. Include an interim plan for low-income and minority community outreach. Marketing plan for ECR.
Approval of RAM 6 PPA and/or RFO instructions with modifications required for GTSR procurement	Tier 2	45 days	To accommodate GTSR, IOU should include proposed changes to RAM 6 RFO instructions or standard PPA in the same Advice Letter as other changes proposed to implement Commission directives in advance of the auction.
Approval of GTSR procurement through RAM auction	Tier 2		Include GTSR contracts in the same Tier 2 AL filed to seek approval of other RAM contracts procured through RAM solicitation. A separate Advice Letter for GTSR is not required.

#### ATTACHMENT C

#### **ACRONYM LIST**

AB Assembly Bill

CAISO California Independent System Operator CalEPA California Environmental Protection Agency

CCA Community Choice Aggregation

CSIAL Customer Side Implementation Advice Letter

DA Direct Access

ECR Enhanced Community Renewables

ECRIAL Enhanced Community Renewables Implementation Advice Letter

EJ Environmental Justice

GTSR Green Tariff Shared Renewables

IOUs the three investor owned utilities subject to this decision (PG&E,

SDG&E, SCE)

JPIAL Joint Procurement Implementation Advice Letter

kW kilowatt

kWh kilowatt hour

MIAL Marketing Implementation Advice Letter

MW megawatt

MWh megawatt hour

PCIA Power Charge Indifference Adjustment

RA Resource Adequacy

RAM Renewable Auction Mechanism

REC Renewable Energy Credit

ReMAT Renewable Market Adjusting Tariff

RIC Renewables Integration Cost

RPR Renewable Power Rate

RPS Renewable Portfolio Standard

SB Senate Bill

SVA Solar Value Adjustment

WREGIS Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System

#### ATTACHMENT D

#### A.12-01-008 et al. Service List

\*\*\*\*\*\*\* PARTIES \*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

Marc D. Joseph Attorney At Law ADAMS BROADWELL JOSEPH & CARDOZO 601 GATEWAY BLVD. STE 1000 SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO CA 94080 (650) 589-1660 mdjoseph@adamsbroadwell.com

For: Coalition of California Utility Employees (CCUE)

Iamie L. Mauldin ADAMS BROADWELL JOSEPH & CARDOZO, PC **EMAIL ONLY** EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (650) 589-1660 imauldin@adamsbroadwell.com

Harriet A. Steiner BEST BEST & KRIEGER LLP 500 CAPITOL MALL, STE. 1700 SACRAMENTO CA 95814-4704 (916) 325-4000 Harriet.Steiner@bbklaw.com For: City of Davis

For: CCUE

Len Canty Chairman BLACK ECONOMIC COUNCIL 484 LAKE PARK AVE., SUITE 338 OAKLAND CA 94610 (510) 452-1337 For: Black Economic Council

Karen Norene Mills Assoc. Counsel - Legal Svcs. Div. CALIFORNIA FARM BUREAU FEDERATION 2300 RIVER PLAZA DRIVE **SACRAMENTO CA 95833** (916) 561-5655 kmills@cfbf.com

For: California Farm Bureau Federation

Brad Heavner Policy Director

CALIFORNIA SOLAR ENERGY INDUSTRIES ASSN

William Sanders DENNIS HERRERA/THERESA L. MUELLER Deputy City Attorney CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO CITY HALL, RM. 234 1 DR. CARLTON B. GOODLETT PLACE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102-4682 (415) 554-6771 william.sanders@sfgov.org

For: City & County of San Francisco

Brian Korpics, Policy Manager CLEAN COALITION 16 PALM ST. MENLO PARK CA 94025

(708) 704-4598 brian@clean-coalition.org For: Clean Coalition

Heather Lewis COMMUNITIES FOR A BETTER ENVIRONMENT 1904 FRANKLIN ST., STE. 600 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 305-0430 X-17 heather@cbecal.org

For: California Environmental Justice Alliance (CEJA)

Maya Golden-Krasner COMMUNITIES FOR A BETTER ENVIRONMENT 6325 PACIFIC BLVD., STE. 300 **HUNTINGTON PARK CA 90255** (323) 826-9771 X-121 maya@cbecal.org

For: California Environmental Justice Alliance (CEJA)

Daniel W. Douglass DOUGLASS & LIDDELL 21700 OXNARD STREET, SUITE 1030 WOODLAND HILLS CA 91367 (818) 961-3001 douglass@energyattorney.com For: 3 Phases Renewables/Direct Access Customer Coalition/Alliance for Retail Energy Markets (AREM)

John Gorman **ECOPLEXUS INC** 

Ceo

**EMAIL ONLY** 

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(415) 328-2683 brad@calseia.org

For: Callifornia Solar Energy Industries Association (CALSEIA)

Jeanne B. Armstrong, Attorney

GOODIN MACBRIDE SQUERI DAY & LAMPREY LLP

505 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111

(415) 392-7900

jarmstrong@goodinmacbride.com

For: Solar Energy Industries Association

\_\_\_\_\_

Joseph F. Wiedman, Attorney KEYES FOX & WIEDMAN LLP 436 - 14TH STREET, SUITE 1305 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 314-8202

jwiedman@kfwlaw.com

For: Interstate Renewable Energy Council, Inc. (IREC)

\_\_\_\_\_

Chairman / President

LAT. BUS. CHAMBER OF GREATER L.A.

634 S. SPRING STREET, STE 600

LOS ANGELES CA 90014

(213) 347-0008

info@lalcc.org

For: Latino Businees Chamber of Greater L.A.

Eugene S. Wilson

LAW OFFICE OF EUGENE WILSON

3502 TANAGER AVENUE

DAVIS CA 95616-7531

wilson1224@gmail.com

For: Sierra Club (Sierra) / California Clean Energy Committee

(CCEC)

John W. Leslie, Esq.

Attorney

MCKENNA LONG & ALDRIDGE LLP

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(619) 699-2536

JLeslie@McKennaLong.com

For: Shell Energy North America (U.S.), L.P.

Aaron Lewis Counsel

NATIONAL ASIAN AMERICAN COALITION

650 TOWNSEND STREET, SUITE 310

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103

(415) 626-1802

johng@ecoplexus.com

For: Ecoplexus Inc.

Faith Bautista

President & Ceo

NATIONAL ASIAN AMERICAN COALITION

15 SOUTHGATE AVE., STE. 200

DALY CITY CA 94015

(650) 953-0522

FBautista@NAACoalition.org

For: National Asian American Coalition

Christopher J. Warner

Attorney

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE STREET B30A / PO BOX 7442

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94120

(415) 973-6695

cjw5@pge.com

For: Pacific Gas & Electric Company

Michael Wheeler, Director Of Policy Initiatives

RECURRENT ENERGY

300 CALIFORNIA STREET, 8TH FLOOR

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104

(415) 814-1061

michael. wheeler @ recurrent energy.com

For: Recurrent Energy

E. Gregory Barnes, Senior Counsel

SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY

101 ASH STREET, HQ 12

SAN DIEGO CA 92101

(619) 699-5019

gbarnes@semprautilities.com

For: San Diego Gas & Electric Company

Cathy Karlstad

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY

2244 WALNUT GROVE AVE./PO BOX 800

ROSEMEAD CA 91770

(626) 302-1096

Cathy.Karlstad@sce.com

For: Southern California Edison Company

Amber Wyatt

Senior Attorney

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY

15 SOUTHGATE AVENUE, SUITE 200 DALY CITY CA 94015 (650) 952-0522 X-235

alewis@naac.org

For: National Asian American Coalition; Los Angeles Latino Chamber of Commerce; Ecumenical Ctr. for Black Church Studies

Linda Barrera

SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIES LAW CENTER

436 14TH STREET, STE. 1120

OAKLAND CA 94612

(760) 569-6782

linda@theselc.org

For: The Sustainable Economies Law Center

Matthew Freedman THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 929-8876 X304

matthew@turn.org

For: The Utility Reform Network

Susannah Churchill Solar Policy Advocate

THE VOTE SOLAR INITATIVE

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(415) 817-5065

susannah@votesolar.org

For: The Vote Solar Initiative

Ty Tosdal

TOSDAL LAW FIRM

777 S. HIGHWAY 101, SUITE 215

SOLANA BEACH CA 92075

(858) 704-4711

ty@tosdallaw.com

For: Marin Clean Energy

Sarah R. Thomas, Legal Division

RM. 5033

505 Van Ness Avenue

San Francisco CA 94102 3298

(415) 703-2310

srt@cpuc.ca.gov

For: ORA

\*\*\*\*\*\* STATE EMPLOYEE \*\*\*\*\*\*\*

David Peck

2244 WALNUT GROVE AVE., PO BOX 91770

ROSEMEAD CA 91770

(626) 302-6509

amber.wyatt@sce.com

For: Southern California Edison

Mitchell Shapson

Staff Attorney

CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(415) 703-2727

Mitchell.Shapson@cpuc.ca.gov

Tim Drew

CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

tim.drew@cpuc.ca.gov

Valerie Kao

CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

ORA

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(415) 703-1341

valerie.kao@cpuc.ca.gov

Scott Murtishaw

CPUC

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(415) 703-5863

SGM@cpuc.ca.gov

Valerie Kao

Safety and Enforcement Division

505 Van Ness Avenue

San Francisco CA 94102 3298

(415) 703-1341

vuk@cpuc.ca.gov

Michele Kito

Energy Division

AREA 4-A

505 Van Ness Avenue

San Francisco CA 94102 3298

(415) 703-2197

mk1@cpuc.ca.gov

Xian "Cindy" Li

Office of Ratepayer Advocates

RM. 4104

Ora

CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

**EMAIL ONLY** 

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(415) 703-1213

DBP@cpuc.ca.gov

Jeanne McKinney

Administrative Law Judge Division

RM. 5011

505 Van Ness Avenue

San Francisco CA 94102 3298

(415) 703-2550

jmo@cpuc.ca.gov

Shannon O'Rourke

**Energy Division** 

AREA 4-A

505 Van Ness Avenue

San Francisco CA 94102 3298

(415) 703-5574

sr6@cpuc.ca.gov

Gabriel Petlin

**Energy Division** 

AREA 4-A

505 Van Ness Avenue

San Francisco CA 94102 3298

(415) 703-1677

gp1@cpuc.ca.gov

Sean A. Simon

**Energy Division** 

AREA 4-A

505 Van Ness Avenue

San Francisco CA 94102 3298

(415) 703-3791

svn@cpuc.ca.gov

Rebecca Tsai-Wei Lee

Office of Ratepayer Advocates

RM. 1250

770 L Street, Suite 1250

Sacramento CA 95814

(916) 327-1407

wtr@cpuc.ca.gov

Laura Wong

Legal Division

505 Van Ness Avenue

San Francisco CA 94102 3298

lw3@cpuc.ca.gov

\*\*\*\*\*\* INFORMATION ONLY \*\*\*\*\*\*\*

Ian Mcgowan

505 Van Ness Avenue

San Francisco CA 94102 3298

(415) 703-1546

xl2@cpuc.ca.gov

Rachael Koss

ADAMS BROADWELL JOSEPH & CORDOZO

601 GATEWAY BLVD., STE. 1000

SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO CA 94080

(650) 589-1660

rkoss@adamsbroadwell.com

Chad Chahbazi

BAP POWER CORPORATION D/B/A CENERGY

3176 LIONSHEAD AVE., STE. 11

CARLSBAD CA 92010-4708

(714) 727-8000

Chad@CenergyPower.com

Barbara Barkovich

BARKOVICH & YAP

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(707) 937-6203

barbara@barkovichandyap.com

Scott Blaising, Attorney

BRAUN BLAISING MCLAUGHLIN & SMITH, P.C.

915 L STREET, STE. 1270

SACRAMENTO CA 95814

(916) 682-9702

blaising@braunlegal.com

Bernadette Del Chiaro

CAL. SOLAR ENERGY INDUSTRIES ASSOCIATION

1107 9TH ST., STE. 820

SACRAMENTO CA 95814

(916) 228-4567

bernadette@calseia.org

CALIFORNIA ENERGY MARKETS

425 DIVISADERO ST STE 303

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94117-2242

(415) 552-1764

cem@newsdata.com

Douglas M. Grandy, P.E.

CALIFORNIA ONSITE GENERATION

1220 MACAULAY CIRCLE

CARMICHAEL CA 95608

(916) 871-2432

dgrandy@caonsitegen.com

Sachu Constantine

CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY

3DEGREES INC **EMAIL ONLY** 

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000-0000

(415) 370-6489

imcgowan@3degreesinc.com

Sephra A. Ninow, J.D. Regulatory Affairs Mgr.

CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY

**EMAIL ONLY** 

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(858) 244-1177

sephra.ninow@energycenter.org

Austin M. Yang Deputy City Attorney CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO

OFFICE OF CITY ATTORNEY DENNIS J.HERRERA 1 DR. CARLTON B. GOODLETT PL, RM 234

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102-4682

(415) 554-6761

Austin.yang@sfgov.org

Enrique Gallardo Policy Director **CLEAN COALITION EMAIL ONLY** 

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(510) 508-0082

enrique@clean-coalition.org

Kenneth Sahm White

Director, Economic & Policy Analysis

**CLEAN COALITION** 

**EMAIL ONLY** 

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000-0000

(831) 425-5866

Sahm@Clean-Coalition.org

Tom Hunt

Director, Research & Governemnt Affairs

CLEAN ENERGY COLLECTIVE

EMAIL O NLY CA 00000

(720) 360-3037

tom.hunt@easycleanenergy.com

Curt Barry, Senior Writer CLEAN ENERGY REPORT 717 K STREET, SUITE 503 **SACRAMENTO CA 95814** (916) 449-6171

cbarry@iwpnews.com

Roger Lin Staff Attorney

COMMUNITIES FOR A BETTER ENVIRONMENT

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(858) 244-1177

sachu.constantine@energycenter.org

Rachel Gold Policy Dir

CONSCIOUS VENTURES GROUP

EMAIL ONLY

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(510) 629-1024

Rachel@ConsciousVenturesGroup.com

R. Thomas Beach

Consultant

CROSSBORDER ENERGY

2560 NINTH STREET, SUITE 213A

BERKELEY CA 94710

(510) 549-6922

tomb@crossborderenergy.com

Ann L. Trowbridge

Attorney

DAY CARTER & MURPHY LLP 3620 AMERICAN RIVER DR., STE. 205

SACRAMENTO CA 95864

(916) 570-2500 X103

atrowbridge@daycartermurphy.com

Donald C. Liddell, Pc

Counsel

**DOUGLASS & LIDDELL** 

2928 2ND AVENUE

SAN DIEGO CA 92103

(619) 993-9096

liddell@EnergyAttorney.com

Cassandra Sweet

Reporter

**DOW JONES NEWSWIRES** 

201 CALIFORNIA ST.

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111

(415) 439-6468

cassandra.sweet@dowjones.com

Carlos Valdivia

**ECOPLEXUS** 

650 TOWNSEND STREET, STE. 310

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103

(415) 626-1802

cvaldivia@ecoplexus.com

Andrew Brown

ELLISON SCHNEIDER & HARRIS LLP

EMAIL ONLY

1904 FRANKLIN ST., STE. 600 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 302-0430 X-16 roger@cbecal.org

For: California Evironmental Justice Alliance (CEJA)

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (916) 447-2166 abb@eslawfirm.com

Robert Gnaizda Of Counsel 15 SOUTHGATE AVE., STE. 200 DALY CITY CA 94015 (650) 953-0522 robertgnaizda@gmail.com

Martin Homec PO BOX 4471 DAVIS CA 95617 (530) 867-1850 martinhomec@gmail.com

Robin Smutny-Jones Dir., California Policy & Regulation IBERDOLA RENEWABLES, LLC 1125 NW COUCH ST., STE. 700 PORTLAND OR 97209 (916) 802-5298 Robin.Smutny-Jones@iberdolaren.com

John Nimmons Counsel JOHN NIMMONS & ASSOCIATES, INC. 175 ELINOR AVE., STE. G MILL VALLEY CA 94941 (415) 381-7310 jna@speakeasy.org For: Recurrent Energy

Donald M. Bray JOINT VENTURE SILICON VALLEY 100 W. SAN FERNANDO STREET, SUITE 310 SAN JOSE CA 95113 (408) 298-9338 don.bray@jointventure.org

Erica M. Schroeder KEYES FOX & WIEDMAN, LLP 436 14TH STREET, STE. 1305 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 314-8206 ESchroeder@kfwlaw.com

Sky Stanfield KEYES, FOX & WIEDMAN LLP 436 14TH ST., STE. 1305 Erica Schroeder Mcconnell KEYES, FOX & WIEDMAN, LLP 436 14TH ST., STE. 1305 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 314-8206 EMcConnell@kfwlaw.com

For: Interstate Renewable Energy Council, Inc. (IREC)

David Marcus EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (510) 528-0728 dmarcus2@sbcglobal.net

Elizabeth Kelly Legal Director MARIN CLEAN ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 464-6022 Ekelly@mceCleanEnergy.org

Jeremy Waen Regulatory Analyst MARIN CLEAN ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 464-6027 JWaen@mceCleanEnergy.org

Shalini Swaroop Regulatory Counsel MARIN CLEAN ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 464-6040 sswaroop@mceCleanEnergy.org

MRW & ASSOCIATES, LLC EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (510) 834-1999 mrw@mrwassoc.com

Cassandra Yamasaki NATIONAL ASIAN AMERICAN COALITION EMAIL ONLY

OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 314-8204 sstanfield@kfwlaw.com

Jessica Tam
Special Counsel
NATIONAL ASIAN AMERICAN COALITION
EMAIL ONLY
EMAIL ONLY CA 00000
(650) 952-0522
JTam@NAACoalition.org

Kay Cadena Senior Policy And Legal Analyst NATIONAL ASIAN AMERICAN COALITION 15 SOUTHGATE AVE., STE. 200 DALY CITY CA 94015 (650) 952-0522 kcadena@naacoalition.org

Kerry Hattevik Director - West Gov'T. Affairs NEXTERA ENERGY RESOURCES EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (510) 898-1847 kerry.hattevik@nee.com

Haward V. Golub NIXON PEABODY LLP ONE EMBARCADERO CENTER, 18TH FLR. SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111-3600 (415) 984-8488 hgolub@nixonpeabody.com For: City of Davis

Diane I. Fellman
Dir - Regulatory & Gov'T Affairs
NRG WEST & SOLAR
EMAIL ONLY
EMAIL ONLY CA 00000
(415) 665-3824
Diane.Fellman@nrgenergy.com

Jim Metropulos OFFICE OF SENATOR LOIS WOLK EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 Jim.Metropulos@sen.ca.gov

Karen Khamou PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (650) 952-0522 cyamasaki@naac.org

Renee Samson PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE ST., MC B9A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 973-6164 r5sz@pge.com

Case Administration
PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
77 BEALE STREET, MC B9A
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94177
RegRelCPUCCases@pge.com

Case Coordination
PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
EMAIL ONLY
EMAIL ONLY CA 00000
(415) 973-2776
RegRelCPUCCases@pge.com

Garen Grigoryan PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 245 MARKET STREET, RM. 1255D SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 973-8803 G1GK@pge.com

Steve Haertle
PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
EMAIL ONLY
EMAIL ONLY CA 00000
SRH1@pge.com

Principal RTO ADVISORS, LLC EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (415) 902-4108 Sue.Mara@rtoadvisors.com For: Alliance for Retail Energy Markets (AREM)

Sue Mara

Todd Cahill SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 8330 CENTURY PARK COURT

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

k1k3@pge.com

William Fuller

Calif. Regulatory Affairs

SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, 32CH

SAN DIEGO CA 92123-1548

(858) 654-1885

WFuller@SempraUtilities.com

Shaibya Dalal

SAN FRANCISCO PUBLIC UTILITIES COMM.

525 GOLDEN GATE AVE., 7TH FLOOR

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102-3220

(415) 554-1516

sdalal@sfwater.org

Peter Banner

SCIENTIA ENERGY, INC.

EMAIL O NLY

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

pbanner@scientiaenergy.com

Central Files

SDG&E/SOCALGAS

8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP31-E

SAN DIEGO CA 92123

(858) 654-1240

CentralFiles@SempraUtilities.com

Clay Faber

SEMPRA UTILITIES

**EMAIL ONLY** 

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

cfaber@semprautilities.com

Polly Shaw

1162 STANYAN ST.

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94117

(415) 577-5763

pollynshaw@gmail.com

Marcie A. Milner

Vp - Reg Affairs

SHELL ENERGY NORTH AMERICA (US), L.P.

4445 EASTGATE MALL, STE. 100

SAN DIEGO CA 92121

(858) 526-2106

marcie.milner@shell.com

Sara Birmingham

SOLAR ENERGY INDUSTRIES ASSOCIATION

3300 NE 157TH PLACE

SAN DIEGO CA 92123

(858) 654-1745

tcahill@semprautilities.com

Daniel Chia

Dir.

SOLARCITY

3055 CLEARVIEW WAY

SAN MATEO CA 94402

(650) 332-0452

dchia@solarcity.com

Mary Hoffman

SOLUTIONS FOR UTILITIES, INC.

**EMAIL ONLY** 

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(760) 724-4420

maryhoffmanRE@gmail.com

Case Administration

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY

2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE / PO BOX 800

ROSEMEAD CA 91770

(626) 302-1063

case.admin@sce.com

Stephanie Chen

Sr. Legal Counsel

THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE

**EMAIL ONLY** 

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(510) 898-0506

stephaniec@greenlining.org

Caroline Lee

THE SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIES LAW CENTER

436 14TH ST., STE. 1120

OAKLAND CA 94612

(760) 569-6782

linda@theselc.org

Nina Suetake

Staff Attorney

THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK

**EMAIL ONLY** 

EMAIL ONLY CA 00000

(415) 929-8876 X 308

nsuetake@turn.org

Hannah Masterjohn

THE VOTE SOLAR INITIATIVE

101 MONTGOMERY ST., STE. 2600

PORTLAND OR 97230 (415) 385-7240 sbirmingham@seia.org

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (607) 431-8811 Hannah@VoteSolar.org

Peter Olmsted THE VOTE SOLAR INITIATIVE 1315 CLAYTON RD LANCASTER PA 17603-2401 (717) 305-0045 Peter@VoteSolar.org

David Simpson VILLAGE POWER FINANCE 3221 PORTER DRIVE PALO ALTO CA 94304 (415) 570-1011 dsimpson@villagepower.com

Sheridan J. Pauker, Esq. Regulatory Counsel WILSON SONSINI GOODRICH & ROSATI ONE MARKET PLAZA, SPEAR TOWER, STE 3300 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 947-2136 SPauker@wsgr.com

(End of Service List)